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Operators are turning into broad providers of 
connectivity services, business solutions, media 
and entertainment, local content, and popular 
application bundles. In the meantime, internet 
businesses have created a wealth of services 
beyond existing operator domains. Operators 
are redefining their role in this new market. 

And so are we. 

TecnOTRee
Tecnotree is a global provider of a broad range of 
telecom IT solutions focused on charging, billing, 
customer care, messaging and content services. 
Tecnotree empowers communication service providers 
to create and monetize a broad marketplace of digital 
services, and augment value across the customer 
lifecycle. Acknowledged for agility and commitment, 
Tecnotree has more than 800 employees serving over 
100 operators globally. Tecnotree is listed on the main 
list of nASDAQ OMX Helsinki Ltd with the trading 
code TeM1V. 
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Expanding  
towards a broad  
telecom IT supplier

Tecnotree is ideally 
positioned to take a 
broad role in solving 
tomorrow’s business 
needs.

We are not only a 
product supplier, but 
we become a strategic 
partner, also making 
our own business more 
lasting and predictable.

tecnotree 2010 ceo'S review

Positive development throughout 2010
in 2010, we clearly started to see the benefits of our new, 
unified company in terms of operational and strategic im-
provements. our emphasis moved towards delivering 
broader telecom business it solutions, whereas before the 
acquisition, tecnomen and lifetree were more focused on 
stand-alone charging, billing, and messaging product areas. 

our financial situation has developed well during the 
year. we have improved both in terms of revenue and 
profitability, and we have further gained ground in latin 
america, africa and the Middle east. we made particu-
larly good progress with the two operator groups américa 
Móvil in latin america and the Mtn Group in africa and 
Middle east. 

this year has also been a year of several changes. the 
transition from a product focus into becoming a broad  
solutions provider involves new processes and ways of 
working. our global personnel has made a remarkable  
effort in broadening horizons, and i want to thank them 
for their flexibility, commitment, and customer service atti-
tude. owing to our personnel, we can realize our vision to 
become a broad telecom it supplier on a global scale.

Towards digital marketplaces
the role of the communication service provider is chang-
ing, and so are we. we have defined our strategy to re-
spond to the increasing demand for operator solutions 
enabling marketing agility, end-user service bundling and 
pricing flexibility, service personalization, and customer 
lifecycle value management. utilizing the assets of both 
tecnomen and lifetree, we are ideally positioned to take 
an extensive role in solving tomorrow’s business needs. 

we believe operators will become digital marketplaces 
with telecom, content, media, and entertainment services 
from a plethora of both local and global partners – not 
only telecom connectivity providers or bitpipes. with this 
evolution, operators need to unify and streamline their it 
and business systems and service platforms, and with our 
versatile solution offering and agile as well as responsive 
customer services, we have the opportunity to be among 
the first to recognize, embrace, and accelerate this trans-
formation. 

avenue is to provide flexible, even personalized service 
bundles and subscriptions, where people build an individ-
ual package not only consisting of voice and data services 
to their needs, but also including for instance their pre-
ferred news, music, and video services delivered and bun-
dled by the operator.  our development focus is to enable 
operators to build and monetize such marketplaces en-
abling new ways of customer analytics and promotion with 
extremely flexible tariffing and charging options.

Optimistic outlook at the onset of 2011
in line with our strategy of enabling flexible service bun-
dling, boosting customer lifecycle value management, and 
enabling and monetizing digital marketplaces, we will con-
tinue to strengthen our relationships with existing custom-
ers and penetrate into new markets. 

the concept of digital marketplaces has raised a lot of 
interest and traction and is something that operators want 
to invest in. coupled with the industry trend towards con-
vergent charging and billing as well as flexible service bun-
dling, this creates a favorable market outlook for us. 

we believe to have uncovered a substantial growth 
opportunity as a broad telecom it supplier. with our broad 
portfolio, agile processes, and devoted personnel, we are 
ready and excited to turn the page into 2011. 

Kaj Hagros
president and ceo

now, with critical revenue-generating solutions com-
pletely at the core of the operator’s business, we engage 
in much deeper customer relationships. we are not only a 
product supplier, but we become a strategic partner, also 
making our own business more lasting and predictable.

operators are increasingly focusing on maximizing cus-
tomer value rather than on acquiring new subscribers or 
striving to have the lowest plans. to accomplish this, a key 
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Key figures

tecnotree 2010 Year in BrieF

2010 2009 2008 2007 2006

net sales, MeUR 60.7 53.3 77.2 70.1 71.8
net sales, change % 14.0  -31.0   10.1  -2.4  4.1

Adjusted operating result**, MeUR -2.5 -8.8 8.0 3.7 1.2

as % of net sales -4.2 -16.6 10.4 5.2 1.7

Operating result, MeUR -8.1   -15.0*   11.5  8.9  4.9

as % of net sales -13.3 -28.1 14.9 12.7 6.8

Result before taxes, MeUR -9.4  -15.4*   13.5  10.0  5.2 

as % of net sales -15.5 -29.0 17.5 14.2 7.3

Result for the period, MeUR -11.0  -16.2*  10.2  8.7  3.2

earnings per share, basic, eUR -0.15  -0.24  0.17  0.15  0.06

earnings per share, diluted, eUR -0.15  -0.24  0.17  0.15  0.05

equity per share, eUR 0.98  1.05  1.41  1.32  1.27

net interest-bearing liablilities, MeUR 2.4  -8.3  -31.0  -17.5  -20.4

Personnel at the end of the period 858 779 354 355 374

*The figures for the comparative periods have changed due to adjustments to the purchase price calculation of Tecnotree India.
**Operating result before R & D capitalization, amortization of this and one-time costs. 

•	 February
tecnotree wins a new operator customer in latin america 
with solutions for enterprise rating and content delivery.

•	 March
tecnotree receives a managed services order from a 
customer in Middle east, worth eur 2.3 million.

•	 March	
tecnotree implements an integrated sales & customer 
service solution for a leading operator in the Middle east 
with over 25 million subscribers.

•	 April	
tecnotree completes the integration process and 
tecnomen lifetree becomes tecnotree corporation.

•	 April
tecnotree chosen to implement a convergent charging 
and billing solution and unified messaging platform with 
emtel, Mauritius. 

•	 June	
tecnotree receives expansion orders on its convergent 
charging, next Generation Messaging and vpn solutions 
in latin america worth uSD 4.0 million.

•	 July
tecnotree chosen to deliver a customer care and billing 
solution to Mtl, Malawi worth uSD 2.2 million, further 
strengthening the company’s footprint in africa.

•	 August 
tecnotree extends its partnership with celcom, Malaysia 
by implementing its next Generation Mail services.

•	 November	
Kaj Hagros started as president and ceo on  
november 1, 2010.

Year in Brief

net Sales by market area 2006–2010, Meur
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• Essential partner to communica-
tions service providers in Middle 
East and North Africa.

• Strong customer base and local 
presence in Latin America.

•	 Headquartered in Espoo, Finland, 
with a strong global presence.

• Expanding from messaging to  
business IT solutions in Asia Pacific.

• Fast business growth in the 
emerging African market.

tion service providers are looking to provide their best and 
most loyal customers a predictable, personalized service ex-
perience to ensure satisfaction and drive service usage. 

Furthermore, communication service providers are look-
ing to provide their customers with more products and ser-
vices to increase their potential lifetime value. our exten-
sive solution offering enables service providers to offer an 
exciting set of both operator branded and third party ser-
vices. this portfolio covers messaging and content services, 
as well as the provisioning, charging, billing, and customer 
care for basically any third party service on any network. 

our solutions also give the operators the possibility to 
generate and accumulate customer insight, to predict individ-
ual preferences and requirements, and subsequently to take 
relevant action based on these insights. these actions can, 
for instance, lead to more personalized customer care, to re-
taining customers, or to inducing cross-selling of services.

Emergence of digital marketplaces
our mission is to empower communication service pro-
viders to leverage the business opportunities described 
above to their full potential: to tcreate, distribute, and 
monetize a broad marketplace of digital services, and aug-
ment value across the customer lifecycle. we explore this 
new space together with our customers, and drive our 
r&D and marketing to develop and launch new, unique 
products and solutions.

we have uncovered a substantial growth opportu nity 
as a broad telecom it supplier. Bundling, provisioning, 

charging, and billing of third party services requires agility, 
flexibility and integration from the underlying business it 
system. this is not a characteristic for systems currently in 
use by communication service providers around the world, 
and therefore, we are constantly working on providing so-
lutions for these needs. we seek to penetrate the wider 
market of business critical telecom it systems in addition 
to focusing on our traditionally strong prepaid charging, 
messaging and value added service solutions.

we will market our solutions through three parallel 
approaches, combining the capabilities of the full suite of 
our products. in short, we will empower communication 
service providers to:

•	 promote convergent services with service bundles for 
every taste, 

•	 boost value across the customer lifecycle through 
adaptive customer care, cross-sales, and retention 
based on customer insight, and

•	 enable and monetize a marketplace of a wide range 
of digital services adapting to individual preferences.

all three approaches require communication service 
providers to renew and extend their charging, billing, cus-
tomer care, and service delivery platforms and applications 
currently in use. our solutions for these challenges form 
the core of our offerings, which are covered in more detail 
in the solutions section on pages 10–12.

Leveraging  
opportunities  
in a transforming  
cSP market

Communication service provider  
business under transformation
communication service providers throughout the world are 
going through a profound change. the emergence of web 
2.0 as well as the convergent triple and quad play business 
models combining mobile, fixed, broadband, and inter-
net tv services forces operators to reshape their business. 
Much of the new service innovation on a global scale takes 
place within the internet paradigm. However, for communi-
cation service providers significant business opportunities 
lie on the local level, where they can play on their strate-
gic assets, such as licensing to radio spectrum, nationwide 
voice and data networks, strong local brands, extensive 
distribution channels, and wide customer bases. 

the transformation of communication service providers 
from telecom-only to broad content and service supermar-
kets requires an extensive overhaul in the underlying busi-
ness support and customer care systems. the one-size-fits-
all paradigm dating back to early GSM adoption is gone 
forever. 

we believe that communication service providers are in 
an ideal position to extract significant value from providing 
rich bundles of services from an array of content partners. 
we intend to be among the first companies to explore and 
embrace the new market trends and support the commu-
nication service providers with innovative technology, busi-
ness solutions, and services.  

consumers deserve to be offered a totally new level of 
empowerment and freedom to choose which services they 
want to use, how they want to bundle them, how much, 
and through which channels. communication service pro-
viders need the capability to provide, charge, and bill ser-

vice bundles for every taste, and ultimately let customers 
self-provision the most fitting packages or subscriptions all 
by themselves.

Towards versatile service bundles  
and personal customer experiences
what does it mean for charging and billing systems if 
the customer wants not only 100 minutes and 1,000 text 
messages, but also a movie download, a ticket to a mu-
sic show, or a popular t-shirt? and how do customer care 
agents respond to customer inquiries about Skype settings 
or zero-rated mobile internet applications? what does it 
mean for service provisioning if the prepaid SiM includes 
also other services depending on the customer’s choice? 
we attempt to make it easier to answer these questions.   

today, mobile penetration rates are passing 100% in sev-
eral countries around the world. in line with this trend com-
munication service providers are starting to focus more on 
retaining existing customers instead of investing heavily into 
acquiring new customers at decreased returns. communica-

The one-size-fits-all 
paradigm dating back 
to early GSM adoption 
is gone forever.

tecnotree 2010 StrateGY tecnotree 2010 StrateGY
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Playing on  
product strengths  
to provide business 
critical solutions 

the profound transformation of the communication service 
business is inducing, if not outright forcing, communication 
service providers to invest significantly into upgrading their 
business, customer care, and service infrastructure.

Based on a market study carried out by tecnotree in 
2010, key themes driving operator investments include:

•	 process streamlining and reduction of operating 
expenses,

•	 improving and personalizing the customer experience,
•	 retaining existing customers and increasing their value 

through the lifecycle,
•	 ensuring financial sustainability and scalability of data 

services,
•	 embracing service, network, and charging convergence.

we tackle these critical business needs through further de-
veloping our existing products, providing completely new 
products and focusing especially on innovative business 
solutions combining capabilities across our whole product 
portfolio. we have decided to focus our offering to com-
munication service providers around three solution areas 
addressing the market trends described. we help our cus-
tomers to bundle services for every taste, boost customer 
lifetime value, and build digital marketplaces.

Bundling services for every taste
communication service providers need flexibility to serve 
different customer segments by creating a host of alter-
native service packages or subscription types, i.e. service 
bundles. one size definitely does not fit all, nor do three 
or even five different flavors. customer bases of millions of 

tecnotree 2010 SolutionS

people contain a multitude of sub-segments that an oper-
ator should address with relevant service bundles. 

our solutions enable operators to form such service 
bundles with ease. we cover all the aspects from pro-
visioning triple-play (fixed telephony, mobile, broad-
band) or quad-play services (including cable or internet 
tv), to charging, rating, and ultimately billing. customers 
can choose from prepaid, postpaid, and hybrid charging 
models for these services. the subscription bundles can 

contain services covering any network domain. Further-
more, the bundles can contain products and services from 
the operator as well as from a number of content and ap-
plication partners, including music, media, gaming, or en-
tertainment services. 

everyone’s idea of the perfect service bundle is dif-
ferent. one customer may choose a bundle of 400 text 
messages, unlimited smartphone browsing, 50 MB laptop 
broadband connection, antivirus, unlimited domestic calls 
on a fixed line, and push e-mail. the next customer, on the 

We enable operators  
to combine all of their 
products and services 
into a single repository 
and selection menu.

Strong footprint in  
emerging markets a key advantage
to a large extent, the innovation in mobile services in the 2G 
era took place in western europe, asia pacific, and north 
america. During the last ten years, the innovation drive and 
rapid market growth has moved to emerging markets. espe-
cially in the recent years emerging markets have constantly 
been able to find new innovate approaches to their business 
by building strong local offerings, complemented by global 
service and content brands, and generating healthy cash 
flows even with relatively low revenue per user. 

we take great pride in being an essential partner 
to communication service providers in emerging mar-
kets. we have an exceptionally strong market position in 
latin america and africa where we have provided busi-
ness critical solutions to market leading communication 
service providers, powering core business it and value 
added services platforms. the holistic solutions that we 
have developed for the needs of these markets represent 
best-in-class for any market in the world. 

we believe that our exceptionally strong position as 
a trusted partner to communication service providers in 
emerging markets coupled with our global footprint gives 
us a strategic advantage. the experience we have accu-
mulated in designing, building, and operating innova-
tive business solutions in complex environments gives 
us a stepping stone for further growth in the more ma-
ture markets. operator drive for increased flexibility and 
cost-efficiency will continue across the globe, and opera-
tors worldwide will have to adopt new technologies and 
thought patterns. when this gradually starts to happen in 
the developed economies as well, our track record as an 
agile partner in the emerging countries puts us ahead of 
our global competition and enables us to grab an increas-
ing market share across regions. 

Looking ahead with confidence
now, after the integration of tecnomen and lifetree has 
taken place, we continue to develop unified and har-
monized core processes and best practices. we are in a 
strong position to deliver on our strategy having imple-
mented global processes, including areas such as solution 
management, marketing, common architecture develop-
ment, and customer solution delivery. 

in our pursuit to push the boundaries of business and 
technology innovation at an ever increasing speed, we 
realize that our most important asset is our highly knowl-
edgeable and motivated personnel. we invest heavily into 
the well-being and competence development of our per-
sonnel. we intend to promote skills development especial-
ly in customer service operations and in understanding the 
business needs of the market to boost our service level to 
new heights and drive solution innovation across the orga-
nization. 

with an extensive solution offering, we tackle the criti-
cal business requirements and market trends that com-
munications service providers are experiencing across the 

world. we have a globally present, talented personnel to 
innovate and stay ahead of the pack. we are consistently 
recognized for our agility, flexibility, attitude, and commit-
ment to deliver. we are ready to jump on the wave of the 
most substantial value chain redefinition in the history of 
modern communications services. we have the building 
blocks to succeed.

We take great 
pride in being an 
essential partner to 
communication service 
providers in emerging 
markets.
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telephony and third party value added services, are served 
by different units. Having a centralized customer care func-
tion, yet with a multitude of underlying care applications 
each one with distinct user interfaces, is equally problemat-
ic. the costs of maintaining separate help desks quickly be-
come excessive, and building dedicated pools of customer 
care competences requires an excess overhead of service 
representatives. For the end-consumer, dealing with a num-
ber of different care desks takes up valuable time and may 
become a frustrating experience for both parties. 

our solutions allow operators to provide central and 
unified customer care. independent of network domain, 
service type, or customer segment, all care functions can 
be effectively and quickly managed from a unified service 
desk. we have developed a Service oriented architecture 

(Soa) and Business process Management (BpM) based so-
lution to integrate all customer care applications and por-
tals into one. customer service representatives no longer 
need to learn a number of different systems as one appli-
cation does it all. 

the customer care unit will thus have a 360 degree 
view of the customer, including all active network services 
and applications. this results in major cost savings in per-
sonnel training, contingency plans as well as shorter time 
required to serve each customer. operators have cut their 
customer issue resolution times by as much as 50% after 
deploying the unified, fully integrated tecnotree customer 
care solution. 

Building digital marketplaces
we offer a range of solutions covering the essential re-
quirements for creating and cultivating digital market-
places. these solutions can be implemented stand-alone 
or as readily integrated suites of business functionality. 

operators have realized that they need to extend 
their offering to third party products and services if 
they want to keep growing their business in the future. 
in-house deve loped operator services form the backbone 
of any service portfolio, yet on the longer term, these own 
services are not enough to provide long-term business 
growth. Service innovation in the internet service and me-
dia industries will help communication service providers 
to keep their digital storefronts stocked with exciting new 
products and services. 

operators command a position as trusted partners to 
their customer bases of millions. this puts operators in an 
excellent position to expand their offering to popular third 
party services and make the services available to their cus-
tomers through digital marketplaces.

an integrated, agile business infrastructure is the foun-
dation for a digital operator marketplace. this infrastructure 
should cover the whole operator business cycle: Service 
creation and management, provisioning, charging and rat-
ing, billing, and customer care. the marketplace needs to 
allow customer access through any network type and sup-
port all kinds of services. our solutions cover these require-
ments within an integrated business suite, thus forming the 
crucial business engine for a digital marketplace.

communication service providers will provision a pleth-
ora of third party applications, media, and content in a 
digital marketplace, and manage their revenue settlement. 
Furthermore, a variety of critical service enabler functions 
will be needed. operators wish to act as payment brokers 
for third party services, and a digital marketplace needs 
to provide access to customers through service discovery 
storefronts and channels. 

premium products require tools for promotion, includ-
ing auctioning of the scarcest and most valuable products. 
operators wish to provide alternative business models 
for innovative products and services, including ad-funded 
services and sponsored services. in addition, content and 
subscription management is required for operator and 
third party services alike and messaging, call completion, 
infotainment, gaming, and voting services require their 
own delivery and management solutions. Finally, digital 
marketplaces require advanced analytics to drive personal-
ized promotions, building on the extensive customer data 
accumulated over the years.

We offer a wide range 
of solutions covering 
the requirements 
for creating digital 
marketplaces.

other hand, may want a completely different setup with 
all-you-can-eat gaming and video, and a Spotify music 
subscription. customers need an easy means of packaging 
services into fully personalized bundles through either self-
care or assisted customer care facilities.

we enable operators to consolidate all of their prod-
ucts into a single service repository. we provide a cus-
tomer self-care view into these services for an individual 
shopping experience. we also furnish operator personnel 
with a customer care application for serving the custom-
ers who require assistance, either face-to-face or over the 
phone. the flexibility of serving every need does not end 
with selecting individual service bundles, but the bundles 
can be charged according to fully customized schemes, 
using prepaid, postpaid, combinations of the two, or spon-
sored, real-time, flat rate, or usage-based charging. any 
way the operator and their customers want to have it, we 
can accommodate it.  

an operator’s enterprise customers can experience 
the same agility as consumers do in service bundling and 
charging. For example, our solutions allow the operator to 
implement corporate numbering plans where internal calls 
are charged at discounted rates. Furthermore, employees 
may have different enterprise application packages avail-
able to them on specific rates. or, the employer may spec-
ify which services are included in the company’s plan and 
the rest will be paid by the employee.

we offer a host of solutions that are proven to deliver 
concrete business value and much needed agility to serve 
modern digital consumers and enterprise customers. we 
seek to drive innovation in convergent customer manage-
ment. it is no longer only about prepaid and postpaid, or 
voice and data, but convergence of access network lines, 
services, content, applications, and payment types. 

Boosting customer lifecycle value
we know that the cost of acquiring new customers 
typically outweighs the cost of holding on to existing cus-
tomers. with mobile and broadband penetration rates hit-
ting high double-digit numbers in most markets around 
the world, the spotlight is moving on to generating more 
value from the existing customer base. 

we provide solutions accumulating a wealth of infor-
mation about customers, analyzing this data and turning 
the insight into loyalty enhancing activities. these activities 
can, for instance, take the shape of personalized customer 
care. in addition, service usage analytics and automated 
enactment can be used for triggering personalized market-
ing offers.

another challenge that communication service 
providers are exposed to is the proliferation of separated 
islands of customer care. this can take the form of multi-
ple different care units serving different customer domains, 
where broadband and mobile customers, as well as fixed 

Powering the Digital Marketplace

Bundle
services for  
every taste

Boost
customer  
lifetime value

Create
digital  
marketplaces
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oscar Fernandez

New solutions  
contribute to  
area revenues 

Reinforcing our position as a telecom  
business IT solutions provider
During 2010 we have reinforced our presence in the area, 
becoming a broader it solutions provider. our operator 
customers recognize us as an agile supplier that is quick to 
deliver new solutions answering to their business needs. 
this has brought us new business in content charging and 
enterprise charging solutions. 

américa Móvil continues to be our largest customer in 
the area. today, the operator is the number one communi-
cation service provider in the americas, and ranks as one of 
the top 5 in the world with around 300 million subscribers.

New solutions to the market
in 2010, operators have been focusing on increasing rev-
enue from existing customers rather than acquiring new 
subscribers. we have taken steps to respond to this need 
by broadening our solutions portfolio.

During the year, we have launched several new busi-
ness it solutions, including enterprise rating, content 
charging, and online Data charging. we have also de-
ployed Mobile content Delivery, SMS Broadcasting, and 
ring Back tone solutions in value added Services. 

Outlook 
Going into 2011, we expect an increase in demand of new 
solutions helping operators to bundle flexible services and 
manage customer lifecycle value. operators combine net-
work services (fixed, mobile, broadband), end-user appli-
cations, and payment models in new ways, which requires 
more flexibility from the underlying business it infrastruc-
ture. in this process, we take the role of a flexible chal-
lenger, with modern technology aimed at replacing legacy 
systems. 

Value Added 
Services main 
revenue source

tecnotree 2010 cuStoMerS anD MarKetS

Quick box 

•	 47 (49) employees

•	 41.5% (43.4) of net sales

•	 New charging, content and messaging 
solutions delivered in 2010 have made 
us a more strategic partner to our  
operator customers.

•	 In 2011, we will take an active role in 
reshaping the operator infrastructure, 
enabling flexible and convergent service 
bundles. 

Quick box 

•	 134 (181) employees

•	 11.1% (9.8) of net sales

•	 During 2010 we expanded our messa-
ging solutions towards customer care 
applications, in particular through  
Interactive Voice Response solutions.

•	 In 2011 the modernization of voicemail 
and call completion infrastructure  
continues.

Kai Honetschläger

New business opportunities arising
next Generation Messaging service platforms, call com-
pletion, interactive voice response (ivr) systems and 
messaging solutions for the professional Mobile radio 
segment were the strongest contributors for our sales 
in europe. as solutions provider for professional Mobile 
radio operators, new business opportunities are arising in 
eastern europe.

Messaging consolidation continues
the activities of communication service providers to up-
grade and modernize their messaging platforms gained 
momentum during the year, and we expect the replace-
ments of legacy voicemail systems to continue in 2011. 
Main drivers are the reduction of operational expenses, 
introduction of new services, concentration to centralized 
systems, and support of the internet interfaces.

Further potential lies in the consolidation of interactive 
voice response services within our customers’ service plat-
form infrastructure. interactive voice response services are 
mainly used for providing a voice interface access to dif-
ferent kinds of information sources, and for handling pre-
paid top-ups as well as automated customer care requests 
or self-care options. consolidation and improvements in 
this area help our customers increase customer satisfaction 
while also reducing costs for customer care and it.

Outlook
in 2011, we will continue our efforts to increase our busi-
ness it sales: customer analytics, loyalty management, ser-
vice bundling, and convergent charging. the convergence 
of networks and services, the requirements of our cus-
tomers to serve multiple lines of businesses such as mo-
bile, fixed, and broadband services leads to an increasing 
demand for flexible charging and customer care solutions.

tHe aMericaS europe
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Increasing demand for business IT solutions
in 2010, the Gulf countries continued to show good mo-
mentum, while the progress in most other Mena regions 
was slower. our sales decreased due to cautiousness in 
operator investments in some parts of the region. 

operators however show an increasing interest towards 
our offerings, and see us as a valuable partner with a com-
plete product portfolio. Messaging and value added Ser-
vices continued to be a major part of our business, while 
charging, billing, customer care, and revenue management 
are growing in importance. 

we see 2011 as a year of making important progress in 
telecom business it in Mena, with expected sales growth. 
this outlook is supported by our broad solution offer-
ing, operators’ business it transformation programs, and 
require ments for greater end-user experience and market-
ing agility.

Increasing mobile penetration and new 
licenses drive growth
with our new regional headquarters in South africa and 
offices in nigeria, ivory coast, and uganda, we are set to 
explore a growing telecom market in africa. Further, we 
increased our footprint by establishing local presence in 
Senegal.

our relationship with operators like vodafone, netone 
and Mtl deepened. we also widened our footprint within 
Mtl to some new operation along with cross-selling to 
existing Mtn operations.

with mobile penetration levels currently averaging 
50%, the market is experiencing robust growth. new li-
censes and decreasing revenue per user have led to grow-
ing competition. operators have started focusing on solu-
tions such as customer relationship management, loyalty, 
and churn prevention. our broad product suite, local cus-
tomer relationships, continuous innovation, and delivery 
agility make us an ideal partner to support the operators' 
business needs.

APAc sets  
the pace for  
broadband data

tecnotree 2010 cuStoMerS anD MarKetS

Quick box 

•	 24 (23) employees

•	 39.0% (40.0) of net sales

•	 In 2010 we delivered new solutions for 
streamlining customer care operations, 
simplifying customer inquiry process and 
reducing handling time.

•	 In 2011, we expect to see operators 
focusing more on customer relationship 
management.

Quick box 

•	 644 (526) employees

•	 8.3% (6.8) of net sales

•	 In 2010 we added one new operator  
customer in APAC.

•	 We expect 2011 to be a year of  
broadband mobile data growth.

A valuable partner 
through a broad  
solutions portfolio

ramy Fares vinay anand

Jeevarathinam	Ravikumar

Call for innovative solutions
in 2010, we have succeeded in adding a new customer as 
well as upgrading an existing customer in value added 
Services. we have also made good progress in telecom it 
solutions. 

operators in apac are actively embracing mobile 
broadband data services. Flat-rate data plans create chal-
lenges in increasing the revenue per user, calling for new 
approaches in innovative tariffing options. operators also 
seek to improve customer experience, making services 
easier to use and improving the quality of customer care. 
we offer solutions to answer these needs.

APAC to be the fastest broadband data 
growth market 
with broadband data finally moving up the track after 
years of slow progress, operators are facing pressure to 
provide a network infrastructure that meets the demands 
of an increasing number of smartphone users. the under-
lying it infrastructure needs to cater for far greater service 
packaging, tariffing, and billing flexibility, which is a key 
theme for us going forward.

Outlook
entering into 2011, we will focus on growth markets such 
as Southeast asia, india, indochina, australia and oceania, 
as well as specific markets in north asia. 

we continue to re-position ourselves to provide solu-
tions and high quality services with a diverse business it, 
messaging and content applications offering. our solu-
tions encompass analyzing subscriber behavior, crea-
ting schemes for loyalty and retention, and enabling 
completely new business models.

MiDDle eaSt & nortH aFrica aSia paciFic

aFrica
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Our personnel at  
the core of  
the company 

Focus on  
first-rate quality  
and processes

Increased resourcing for broader scope 
delivery capability
in 2009, our number of personnel increased considerably 
as a result of the tecnomen and lifetree merger. in 2010, 
the number of employees increased in india, but staff 
level was reduced in the rest of the group. consequently, 
73% (65%) of the personnel works in india and 27% (35%) 
in other countries. our focus is on research and devel-
opment, customer operations, and managed services, in 
which the majority of our employees is working.

Global footprint
after tecnomen’s acquisition of lifetree, we have become 
a truly international company. we support our geographi-
cally dispersed workforce by providing best of breed tools 
and processes. our people are recognized for their flexibil-
ity, agility, commitment, and attitude to deliver.

even though we have increased in scale and now em-
ploy more than 800 people, we still operate in a very 
entre preneurial and customer committed mode. we strive 
to improve collaboration between our people to accel-
erate innovation and stay ahead of our competition. our 
global presence gives us insights in different markets, and 
enables our employees to exchange ideas and develop 
them further with our customers on a local level.

Unified tools
our common processes, facilitation of collaboration and 
support of a distributed workplace has resulted in a com-
mon quality vocabulary, common cloud-based tools, and 
the deployment of global quality auditing. we also man-
age a customer support help desk and service level agree-
ments with unified, globally shared tools and practices.

Visibility into quality and operations
we provide our customers with improved visibility and 
proactive engagement. we provision customer portals for 
project, product, and support data sharing. we offer our 
personnel periodic communication and quality feedback 
through internal audits and the publication of a quarterly 
global quality newsflash.

Global quality and IT organization
we offer common tools and processes for root cause 
analysis and improvement identification, provide collab-
orative tools for teaming, and sponsor cross-organizational 
projects. this has resulted in a cross-geographical quality 
and process organization, deploying the root cause tool 
across all sales regions and publishing quality standards 
comparisons. we also provide an integrated internal voice 
and messaging platform and deploy global information se-
curity management systems across core sites.

tecnotree 2010 QualitY anD proceSSeS

 Our quality and  
process mission is  
to create the most 
agile company in  
the business.

employees by company 2010

employees at the end of the year

New thinking
our actions towards improving product quality and reduc-
ing delivery time have resulted in new key performance 
indicators being deployed across all sales regions and 
solu tion centers. these indicators cover early detection of 
software defects, project delivery accuracy, and service lev-
el compliance. in addition, we have improvement projects 
in place across several areas of core development and de-
livery process development.

We strive to be the most agile company in the business by 
revolutionizing our management and process principles and 
continuously developing and communicating a corporation-
wide quality philosophy. 

employees by area 2010

apac 644 

europe 143 

Mea 24 

americas 47 
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tecnotree convergence  
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tecnotree corporation  
(Finland) 70

other 52

tecnotree ltd.  
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Board of Directors

tecnotree 2010 BoarD oF DirectorS

in order of appearance (left to right).

JohAN	hAMMARéN
b. 1969, ll.M, MSc (econ)
vice president of the Board 25 March 2010− 
Member of the Board, 2007−
Main duty: 
Founding partner, Manager, Fondia oy, 2006− 
tecnotree shares, 31 Dec 2010: 430,491 
tecnotree stock options, 31 Dec 2010: −

independent of tecnotree and its significant shareholders

atul cHopra
b. 1962, charterred accountancy, Bachelor of laws (ll.B.), 
Bachelor of commerce (Hons.) 
Member of the Board, 2009−
Main duty:  
Managing Director and ceo,  
tecnotree convergence limited 
tecnotree shares, 31 Dec 2010: direct holding 1,678,550, 
through aparna advisory 1,368,788
tecnotree stock options, 31 Dec 2010: 1,770,362

Dependent of tecnotree but independent of its significant 
shareholders.

Hannu turunen
b. 1957, MSc (tech), MBa 
chairman of the Board, 2009− 
Member of the Board, 2008− 
Main duty:  
Managing partner, Magnolia ventures oy, 2001− 
tecnotree shares, 31 Dec 2010:  
through Magnolia ventures oy 154,261 
tecnotree stock options, 31.12.2010: −

independent of tecnotree and its significant shareholders.

pentti HeiKKinen
b. 1960, MSc (econ)
Stanford Graduate School of Business (Stanford executive 
program 2001) 
Member of the Board, 2009−
Main duty: 
Founder and ceo, Gateway technolabs Finland oy, 2008− 
tecnotreen shares, 31 Dec 2010: 26,715 
tecnotree stock options, 31 Dec 2010: − 

independent of tecnotree and its significant shareholders.

DaviD K. wHite
b. 1950, BSc (eng) 
Member of the Board, 2009−
tecnotree shares,  31 Dec 2010: − 
tecnotree stock options, 31 Dec 2010: −

independent of tecnotree and its significant shareholders.

cHriSter SuMeliuS
b. 1946, MSc (econ) 
Member of the Board, 2001−  
Main duty:  
president, investsum oy ab, 1984− 
tecnotree shares, 31 Dec 2010: 819,442 and through 
investsum oy ab 947,500 
tecnotree stock options, 31.12.2010: − 

independent of tecnotree and its significant shareholders.

Harri Koponen
b. 1962, eMBa, phd. econ. H.c.  
Member of the Board, 2008− 
Main duty:  
president and ceo, tele2 aB, 2008−2010 
tecnotree shares, 31 Dec 2010: 13,859 
tecnotree stock options, 31 Dec 2010: − 

independent of tecnotree and its significant shareholders.

ilKKa raiSKinen
b. 1962, MSc. (tech.)  
Member of the Board 25 March 2010 – 
Main Duty:  
aletheia oy, executive Management consultant, 2009 
tecnotree shares, 31 Dec 2010: 33,807 
tecnotree stock options, 31 Dec 2010: − 

independent of tecnotree and its significant shareholders.

More detailed background information in the members of 
the Board of Directors is available at www.tecnotree.com 

the following person was member of the Board of  
Directors up to 25 March 2010:
CARL-JohAN	NUMELIN,	b.	1937,	M.Sc.	(Tech.)
vice chairman of the Board 2001–2010
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Management Board

tecnotree 2010 corporate Governance StateMent

in 2010, tecnotree abided by the Finnish corporate Gov-
ernance code for companies listed on the naSDaQ oMX 
Helsinki ltd. with one exception from recommendation 
9. this statement has been prepared separately from the 
report of the Board of Directors and in accordance with 
the Finnish corporate Governance code 2010. the Finn-
ish corporate code 2010 can be found at www.cgfinland.fi 
and this statement at www.tecnotree.com.

Description of the composition and opera-
tions of the meeting of shareholders, board 
and board committees and other  
controlling bodies

Meeting of Shareholders
tecnotree’s annual General Meeting of Shareholders is the 
company’s highest decision-making body. the responsi-
bilities of the annual General Meeting are defined in the 
Finnish companies act and the articles of association of 
the company. the most important responsibilities include 
amending the articles of association, approving the finan-
cial statements, deciding on the dividend to be paid, dis-
charging the Board members,  the president and the ceo 
from liability, appointing Board members and auditors and 
deciding on their fees. 

Board of Directors
the tasks and responsibilities of tecnotree’s Board of 
Directors are defined in the Finnish companies act and in 
other applicable legislation, according to which the Board 
of Directors is responsible for the appropriate organiza-
tion of business operations and corporate administration. 
the Board also ensures that the company’s accounting 
and finan cial administration is supervised appropriately. 
Further more, the Board is responsible for promoting the 
interests of the company and all its shareholders by pursu-
ing a business policy that in the long-term ensures the best 
possible return on capital invested in the company. 

tecnotree’s Board of Directors consists of a minimum of 
three and a maximum of eight members, as outlined in the 
articles of association. the annual General Meeting elects 
the Board and confirms the number of Board members. 
the Board of Directors elects the chairman and vice chair-
man among its members for a term of one year at a time. 

the term of office of Board members expires at the end of 
the first annual General Meeting following election. the 
Board of Directors appoints the president and the ceo of 
the company.

the members of tecnotree’s Board have no special 
duties related to being a member of the Board other than 
those designated by law. Some Board members are also 
members of Board committees and one Board member 
has also an operative responsibility at tecnotree.

to support its work, tecnotree’s Board of Directors has 
confirmed a charter that defines the Board’s duties and 
work methods, as well as meeting and decision-making 
procedures. 

in order to carry out its duties, the Board shall:

•	 decide upon the group strategy and approve the busi-
ness strategy 

•	 approve the values of the company and its subsidiaries 
•	 approve the annual business plan and investment plan 

and supervises their realization 
•	 decide upon the central organization structure and 

leadership system of the company 
•	 discuss and approve the accounts and interim reports 
•	 define the dividend policy of the company and make 

proposals to the annual General Meeting as to the 
amount of dividend paid 

•	 appoint the managing director of the company and 
the deputy managing director, decide upon their 
remuneration and conditions of employment 

•	 decide on the appointment of the members of the 
company’s management group and their remuneration

•	 approve the principles and methods for ensuring the reli-
ability, suitability and competence of the persons trusted 
with the direction of the company and its subsidiaries 

•	 decide on the remuneration systems of the company’s 
executives and the principles of the remuneration 
systems for other personnel 

•	 decide on strategically or economically important 
investments and the purchase and sale of companies 
or similar arrangements 

•	 approve annually the risk management strategy of the 
company and the significant principles of risk manage-
ment 

Corporate governance 
statement 2010in order of appearance (left to right).

atul cHopra
b. 1962, chartered accountancy, Bachelor of laws (ll.B.), 
Bachelor of commerce (Hons.)
Main duty:  
coo and president, operations, 2009−2/2011
tecnotree shares, 31 Dec 2010: direct holding 1,678,550, 
through aparna advisory 1,368,788 
tecnotree stock options, 31 Dec 2010: 1,770,362 

KAJ	hAgRoS
b. 1970, MSc. (eng.), MBa 
Main duty:  
president and ceo, 1 nov 2010− 
tecnotree shares, 31 Dec 2010: direct holding 2,307, 
through Hagros & Hagros oy 35,000. 
tecnotree stock options, 31 Dec 2010: −

tiMo laaKSonen
b. 1961, M.Sc. (econ.) 
Main duty:  
vice president, Strategy and Business  
Development, nov 2010− 
tecnotree shares, 31 Dec 2010: − 
tecnotree stock options, 31 Dec 2010: −

naiM a. Kazi
b. 1956, B.e., M.S. 
Main duty:  
chief technical officer, 2009− 
tecnotree shares, 31 Dec 2010:  155,391
tecnotree options, 31 Dec 2010: 200,000

tuoMaS weGeliuS
b. 1955, MSc (econ) 
Main duty:  
chief Financial officer, 2006− 
tecnotree shares, 31 Dec 2010: − 
tecnotree stock options, 31 Dec 2010: 123,333

More detailed background information on the Manage-
ment Board members is available at: www.tecnotree.com

the following person was member of the Management 
Board up to 30 november 2010:

eero Mertano, b 1965, Business it Graduate 
president and ceo 2009−2010
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•	 decide upon the capital structure of the company and 
approve annually the fund-raising plan of the company 

•	 approve the principles of internal control and internal 
audit and the audit plan 

•	 approve annually the continuity plan for essential ar-
eas of operation and the information technology plan, 
and be responsible for the other duties assigned to it 
under the Finnish companies act or other regulation. 

the charter of the Board of Directors can be found at 
www.tecnotree.com.

the annual General Meeting of 25 March 2010 con-
firmed that the Board of Directors will consist of eight (8) 
members, and the Board members were elected for a peri-
od of office expiring at the end of the first annual General 
Meeting following the election.

tecnotree’s Board of Directors has assessed the Board 
members’ independence of the company and sharehold-
ers in compliance with the Finnish corporate Governance 
code’s recommendations. Based on the assessment, one 
Board member is dependent on the company: atul cho-
pra also has an operative responsibility at tecnotree Group 
i.e. coo and president and Managing Director for the 
indian subsidiary, tecnotree convergence ltd.

tecnotree’s Board of Directors convened 13 times in 
2010. the average attendance of members at Board meet-
ings was approximately 95 per cent.

Composition of the Board

Hannu Turunen, b. 1957, MSc (tech), MBa
chairman of the Board, 2009–
Member of the Board, 2008–
Main duty: Magnolia ventures oy, Managing partner, 2001–

Johan Hammarén, b. 1969, ll.M, MSc (econ.)
vice chairman of the Board, 2010–
Member of the Board, 2007–
Main duty: Founding partner, Manager, Fondia oy, 2006–

Christer Sumelius, b. 1946, MSc. (econ.)
Member of the Board, 2001–
Main duty: president, investsum ab, 1984–

Harri Koponen, b. 1962, eMBa, phd. econ. H.c.
Member of the Board, 2008–
Main duty: president and ceo, tele2 aB, 2008–2010

Pentti Heikkinen, b. 1960, MSc (econ)
Member of the Board, 2009–
Main duty: Founder and ceo, Gateway technolabs Fin-
land oy, 2008–

Atul Chopra, b. 1962, chartered accountancy, Bachelor of 
laws (ll.B.), 
Bachelor of commerce (Hons.)
Member of the Board, 2009–
Main duty: Managing Director and ceo,  
tecnotree convergence limited

David K. White, b. 1950, BSc (eng.)
Member of the Board, 2009–

Ilkka Raiskinen, b. 1962, MSc (tech)
Member of the Board, 2010–
Main duty: aletheia oy, executive Management consul-
tant, 2009–

the following person was a member of the Board of Direc-
tors up to 25 March 2010:

Carl-Johan Numelin, b. 1937, M.Sc (tech)
vice chairman of the Board, 2001–2010

Board Committees
Audit Committee
the audit committee’s task is to assist the company’s 
Board of Directors in ensuring that the company has a 
sufficient internal control system encompassing all of its 
opera tions. in addition, the committee assists the Board of 
Directors in ensuring that the monitoring of the company’s 
accounting and asset management has been organized in 
an appropriate manner.

it is also the audit committee’s task to monitor that the 
operations and internal control of the company have been 
arranged in a manner required by legislation, valid regula-
tions and a good management and administration system, 
and to monitor the activities of internal auditing. the respon-
sibilities of the audit committee are defined in its charter. 

to execute its duties, the audit committee shall:

•	 monitor the reporting process of financial statements 
•	 supervise the financial reporting process 
•	 monitor the efficiency of the company’s internal control, 

internal audit, if applicable, and risk management systems 

•	 review the description of the main features of the in-
ternal control and risk management systems in relation 
to the financial reporting process, which is included in 
the company’s corporate Governance Statement 

•	 monitor the statutory audit of the financial statements 
and consolidated financial statements 

•	 evaluate the independence of the statutory audit-
ing or audit firm, particularly the provision of related 
services to the company 

•	 prepare the proposal for resolution on the election of 
the auditor 

•	 monitor the financial position of the company, and 
•	 contact with the auditor and revision of the reports 

that the auditor prepares for the audit committee. 

the charter of the audit committee can be found at 
www.tecnotree.com.

the audit committee comprises four members of the 
Board:	hannu	Turunen	(Chairman),	Johan	hammarén,	
David white and Harri Koponen. tecnotree’s president and 
ceo and cFo regularly participate in the audit commit-
tee’s meetings.

the audit committee had 4 meetings in 2010, and the 
average attendance of members at meetings was about 93 
per cent.

Remuneration and Nomination Committee
the remuneration and nomination committee helps the 
Board of Directors in the preparations relating to the elec-
tion of members of the Board of Directors, and in handling 
matters within its scope of responsibility that relate to the 
conditions of employment and remuneration of senior 
management, and to management’s and personnel’s remu-
neration and incentive schemes. the responsibilities of the 
remuneration and nomination committee are defined in 
its charter. 

the duties of the remuneration and nomination 
committee are as follows:

•	 the preparation of the proposal for the appointment 
of directors to be presented to the general meeting 

•	 the preparation of the proposal to the general meet-
ing on matters pertaining to the remuneration of the 
directors 

•	 the looking for prospective successors for the directors 
•	 the presentation of the proposal on the directors to 

the general meeting 

•	 the preparation of matters pertaining to the appoint-
ment of the president and ceo and the other execu-
tives as well as the identification of their possible 
successors 

•	 the preparation of matters pertaining to the remunera-
tion and other financial benefits of the president and 
ceo and the other executives 

•	 the preparation of matters pertaining to the remunera-
tion schemes of the company 

•	 the evaluation of the remuneration of the president 
and ceo and the other executives as well as seeing to 
it that the remuneration schemes are appropriate 

•	 answering questions related to the remuneration 
statement at the general meeting.

the charter of the remuneration and nomination 
committee can be found at www.tecnotree.com.

the remuneration and nomination committee com-
prises four members of the Board: christer Sumelius (chair-
man),	Johan	hammarén,	Ilkka	Raiskinen	and	hannu	Turunen.

the remuneration and nomination committee had 8 
meetings in 2010, and the average attendance of mem-
bers at meetings was about 93 per cent.

President and CEO
the president and chief executive officer is responsible for 
managing and developing the company's operations as de-
fined in the Finnish companies act and in the guidelines 
and instructions issued by the Board of Directors. the presi-
dent and ceo may undertake actions that are unusual or 
far-reaching in view of the scope and quality of the compa-
ny's operations only if authorized by the Board of Directors.

the president and ceo ensures that the company's 
accounting complies with legislation and that its assets 
are managed reliably. the president and ceo is also re-
sponsible for investor relations, corporate communication, 
long-term strategic and financial planning, as well as ma-
jor operative decisions and the supervision of their imple-
mentation. the president and ceo prepares matters to be 
handled at Board meetings and reports to the Board.

Eero Mertano, b. 1965, Business it Graduate
president and ceo, 2 october 2009–31 october 2010

Kaj Hagros, b. 1970, MSc. (eng.), MBa
president and ceo, 1 november 2010–

tecnotree 2010 corporate Governance StateMent
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Management Board
at the end of 2010, the tecnotree Group had a five-mem-
ber Management Board that comprised the president and 
ceo, chief Financial officer (cFo), chief operations of-
ficer (coo), chief technical officer (cto) and vice presi-
dent, Strategy and Business Development. the Manage-
ment Board is chaired by the president and ceo.

the Management Board assists the president and 
ceo, supervises and develops the company’s operations 
in accordance with the strategies and objectives set, cre-
ates group-level procedures, provides support to risk man-
agement processes, monitors the global human resourc-
es policy and remuneration systems as well as manages 
stakeholder relations. the Management Board convenes at 
least once a month.

Composition of the Management Board
Kaj Hagros, b. 1970, MSc. (eng.), MBa
Main duty: president and ceo, 1 november 2010–

Atul Chopra, b. 1962, chartered accountancy, Bachelor of 
laws (ll.B.), Bachelor of commerce (Hons.)/
Main duty: coo and president,  2009–2/2011

Tuomas Wegelius, b. 1955, MSc (econ)
Main duty: chief Financial officer, 2006–

Naim A. Kazi, b. 1956, B.e., M.S.
Main duty: chief technical officer, 2009–

Timo Laaksonen, b. 1961, M.Sc. (econ.)
Main duty: vice president, Strategy and Business Develop-
ment, 24 november 2010–

the following person was member of the Management 
Board up to 31 october 2010:

Eero Mertano, b. 1965, it graduate
president and ceo 2 october 2009–31 october 2010

Description of the main features of the 
internal control and risk management sys-
tems pertaining to the financial reporting 
process

Objectives for internal control and risk management
the objective of the internal control and reporting meth-
ods is to ensure that the company’s operations are effi-
cient and that information is reliable and that official regu-
lations and internal operating principles are followed. the 
Group’s financial management is responsible for perform-
ing and guiding the internal control as instructed by audit 
committee.

the task of risk management is to identify, manage and 
track the major risks in the Group’s business and business 
environment to enable the Group to achieve its strategic 
and financial goals in the best possible way. the Group’s 
management board is responsible for risk management.

Control activities
the main control activities include preparing up-to-date 
forecasts, analysing deviations in actual data versus fore-
cast and previous periods, performing transaction and pro-
cess level controls and internal audits. 

Based on the strategic plans yearly budgets and ac-
tion plans containing financial and other targets are pre-
pared. action plans are broken down into more detailed 
levels. Development discussions are used for setting and 
following targets for employees. the consolidated bud-
get is prepared and presented to the Board of Directors. 
an up dated forecast is presented to the Board of Directors 
in each meeting. Monthly reports contain actual and fore-
casted figures for past and future performance.

the Group’s financial management together with the 
relevant levels of management prevents, discovers and 
corrects deviations and possible errors in the monthly 
reporting. line organization is responsible for budgets and 
forecasts. the role of Group’s financial management is to 
collect these plans according to accepted timetables and 
to control their reliability. Substantial deviations and possi-
ble errors with corrective actions are reported to the Board 
of Directors. 

the Group’s financial department performs controls 
pertaining to the correctness of external and internal 
reporting. Due to the nature of business a lot of emphasis 
is put into controlling revenue recognition and receivables. 

Risk management
risk surveys are made yearly, defining the key risks, actions 
and responsible persons for preventing the realization of 
risks. the Group’s financial management is responsible 
for managing foreign exchange, interest rate and liquidity 
risks and for taking out insurance against operational risks. 

the Management Board handles risks and risk manage-
ment in its meetings on a regular basis and reports the 
overall risk assessment to the audit committee.

the methods in financial reporting and control at the 
group decrease the risks pertaining to the financial report-
ing: Majority of transactions at the parent company level, 
common chart of accounts and iFrS principles applied, 
common systems with comprehensive database, central-
ized treasury and financing, and an easy-to access archive 
for contracts and policies. 

Guidelines and Policies
corporate governance is implemented through docu-
mented policies. the main policies are policies for making 
sales agreements, credit policy, cash management policy, 
policy for hedging against currency risks, policy for mak-
ing purchase agreements and approval policy. the Board 
of Directors approves tecnotree’s Group level policies. 
the subsidiaries and foreign offices of the parent company 
have issued guidelines and policies for their own specific 
purposes that are in line with the Group level policies.

Internal audit
the internal audit plan is presented to the audit commit-
tee in connection with the yearly external audit plan. inter-
nal audits are performed by external consultants, external 
auditors or by tecnotree employees having experience, 
authority and independence over the audit in question.

External audit
the main task of the statutory audit is to confirm that the 
financial statements give a true and fair view of the com-
pany’s financial performance and position for the period 
ended. the auditor reports regularly to the audit commit-
tee and audits the correctness of external annual financial 
reports and, based on them, issues an auditor’s statement 
to shareholders.

tecnotree’s auditor in the financial year 2010 was 
KpMG oy ab, and the principal auditor was Sixten nyman, 
authorized public accountant.

Insider management 
tecnotree complies with the Guidelines for insiders issued 
by naSDaQ oMX Helsinki ltd. the company has also 
intro duced its own insider guidelines, which include in-
structions for both permanent and project-specific insiders. 
these guidelines have been distributed to all insiders, and 
they are available to all tecnotree employees. the compa-
ny keeps its insider register in the Sire system maintained 
by the euroclear Finland ltd.

Information and communication
non-financial and financial information is provided for 
the management in order to follow up the achievements 
of targets. an internal meeting about the same, to which 
all tecnotree employees are invited, is kept at least each 
quarter. employees are encouraged to give feedback and 
communicate suspected misconducts either during these 
internal meetings or in other, more discrete ways.

all external communication is carried out in accordance 
with the Group Disclosure policy, which can be found at 
www.tecnotree.com.

The deviation from the Corporate Governance  
recommendations
tecnotree corporation deviates from recommendation 9 
of the Finnish corporate Governance code 2010 in so far 
as only one gender is currently represented in the Board 
of Directors. the company considers it important that the 
members of the Board of Directors have strong knowledge 
of the industry. unfortunately, it was not possible to find 
a female member with suitable experience for the current 
Board. However, it is an imperative long-term goal of the 
company to have Board members representing both gen-
ders, and the company will continue to work to achieve 
this goal.

tecnotree 2010 corporate Governance StateMenttecnotree 2010 corporate Governance StateMent
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Tecnotree corporation's 
Disclosure Policy 
Purpose 
tecnotree corporation is listed on the main list of naS-
DaQ oMX Helsinki ltd. in its disclosure policy the com-
pany complies with Finnish and european union legislation 
and with the instructions and regulations of the stock ex-
change and the Finnish Financial Supervision authority.

The Central Principles
tecnotree upholds openness, integrity, consistency, and 
clarity in all its communication. it is the company’s objec-
tive to give all stakeholder groups correct and up-to-date 
information about the company’s operations, in a balanced 
and timely manner.

The Information Disclosed
Stock exchange releases report on matters and events that 
are significant in relation to the company’s size and scope 
of operations and that are deemed to have an essential in-
fluence on the stock price.

tecnotree reports on orders it has received and that are 
worth at least eur 1.7 million, if the customer authorizes 
this. tecnotree may report on two or more normal orders in 
the same release, if these deals are deemed important with 
regard to the development of the company. in such cases 
there may be a delay between the orders and the publica-
tion.

the company reports corporate acquisitions when a let-
ter of intent has been signed, if an agreement is regarded 
as probable. in other cases, the company will not publish a 
release until the final agreement has been signed.

the company releases information about appointments 
if they relate to changes in the Management Board of the 
Group or to the Board of Directors. a stock exchange re-
lease is published about significant changes in the struc-
ture or organization of the Group.

the company issues a profit warning if, in its estimation, 
the trend in its financial position, the earnings forecast, or 
its prospects have changed fundamentally from those pub-
lished previously. the company always publishes a stock 
exchange release if it issues a profit warning.

Comments on Market Information
tecnotree does not comment on unfinished business, mar-
ket rumors, stock price trends, the actions of its competi-
tors or customers, or analysts’ forecasts, unless doing so 
is necessary for correction of essential information. How-

ever, if a piece of information that has fundamental impact 
on tecnotree's stock price has leaked (i.e., become known 
prematurely), the company issues a stock exchange release 
addressing the matter.

Responsibilities and Commentators
Statements about the operations, development, and pub-
lished releases of tecnotree are issued by the president 
and ceo, unless otherwise stated in such a release. as far 
as financial information is concerned, the chief Financial 
officer also handles investor relations.

the chairman of the Board of Directors or the presi-
dent and ceo, or the person(s) appointed by them, is re-
sponsible for crisis communication.

Language and Channels
all essential information about tecnotree is published si-
multaneously in Finnish and english through the stock ex-
change, in major media, and on the company’s web site 
www.tecnotree.com, which also contains an archive of earli-
er releases. other means of communication used are meet-
ings and press conferences.

Closed Period
in its financial reports, tecnotree observes a three-week 
closed period before its result is published. During that 
time, tecnotree does not discuss its financial position or 
the development of its business operations with represen-
tatives of the capital markets or the media. the dates on 
which tecnotree publishes its result are available in the Fi-
nancial calendar section of the company's web site,  
www.tecnotree.com.

the tecnomen lifetree corporation Board of Directors has 
confirmed this disclosure policy as of 21 october 2008.

content of the  
Financial Statements
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Report of the Board of Directors 2010

unless otherwise stated, all figures presented below are 
for the accounting year 2010 and the figures for compari-
son are for the accounting year 2009. the figures for the 
accounting year 2009 include the figures for tecnotree in-
dia (formerly lifetree) for the period 6 May–31 December 
2009.

Main issues in 2010
During 2010, developments in sales were encouraging fol-
lowing the challenging year of 2009. the structural im-
provements carried out in 2009 resulted in improved prof-
itability, although the full year was still below break-even. 

in 2010 the company introduced new management and 
is formulating a new strategy. tecnotree will be reposition-
ing as a provider of broad-scale, business-critical it solu-
tions to operator service providers. 

During the year, net sales increased to eur 60.7 (53.3) 
million. new order intake was worth eur 63.3 million, the 
order backlog at the end of the year increased from eur 
11.7 million to eur 14.3 million. revenue from mainte-
nance services also improved to eur 26.2 (23.6) million. 

tecnotree has implemented synergies of the lifetree 
acquisition and delivered new it solutions to existing cus-
tomers especially in latin america, while maintaining a 
healthy business level in the Middle east and africa, where 
tecnotree has established itself as a strong it partner for 
operators.

Sales and net sales
tecnotree’s net sales in the review period increased 14.0 
per cent to eur 60.7 (53.3) million.

eur 23.6 million of sales in the review period have 
been recognized by stage of completion (iaS 11 construc-
tion contracts) and eur 37.1 million on delivery (iaS 18 
revenues).

Net sales by market area, MEUR 1–12/20101–12/2009
Americas (north, central and 
South America)

 
25.2

 
23.1

europe 6.7 5.2

MeA (Middle east and Africa) 23.7 21.3

APAc (Asia and Pacific) 5.1 3.6

Total 60.7 53.3

Consolidated order book, MEUR 31 Dec 2010 31 Dec 2009 
Americas (north, central and 
South America) 1.5 1.9
europe 2.6 1.2

MeA (Middle east and Africa) 9.3 6.9

APAc (Asia and Pacific) 0.9 1.7

Total 14.3 11.7

Maintenance and service sales totaled eur 26.2 (23.6) mil-
lion or 43.2 per cent (44.3%) of net sales.

Result analysis
tecnotree’s business operations are based on project sales. 
the income and costs recorded for these vary considerably 
from one quarter to another. For this reason it is important 
to base an examination of the profitability of the company 
on the result for more than one quarter.
 
Income statement, key figures, 
MEUR 1–12/2010 1–12/2009
net sales 60.7 53.3

Other operating income    0.0 0.3

Operating costs excluding product
development capitalization and
one-time costs 63.2 62.4

Adjusted operating result -2.5 -8.8
Product development capitalization 0.6 5.1

Product development amortization -6.1 -4.2

One-time costs 0.0 -7.0  *

Operating result -8.1 -15.0

Result before taxes -9.4 -15.4

* One-time costs in 2009 consist of 3.3 million euro due to person-
nel reductions and a provision of 3.7 million related to the cancella-
tion of a project and related revenue recognition of one customer.

the adjusted result showed an improvement of eur 6.3 
million from the previous year. this was due in particular to 
the increase in net sales of eur 7.4 million. 

capitalization of research and development costs and 
amortization of these had the net impact of weakening 
the result by eur 6.4 million compared to the correspond-
ing period in the previous year. capitalization was eur 4.5 
million less and amortization eur 1.9 million more than in 
the previous year. Significant decrease in capitalization of 
develop ment costs in 2010 is due to more customer spe-
cific development work than previously and these cus-
tomer specific development costs are recorded directly as 
costs when occurred.

the operating result in the review period was -13.3% 
(-28.1%) of net sales.

tecnotree convergence limited has been consolidat-
ed as from 6 May 2009. thus, the figures for 2009 do not 
include	the	figures	for	India	for	the	period	1	January	–	 
6 May 2009. these were: net sales eur 5.0 million, oper-
ating costs eur 4.9 million and operating profit eur 0.1 
million. net sales in the review period were eur 2.4 mil-
lion more than the corresponding 2009 figure when these 
omitted net sales of eur 5.0 million are included. costs 
adjusted by the net impact of r&D capitalization and by 
one-time items totaled eur 63.2 million in the period, 
compared with a total of eur 67.3 million in the previous 
year including tecnotree convergence limited’s costs in 
the first part of the year. thus, savings of eur 4.1 million 
have been achieved. the savings would have been eur 
3.1 million greater if the euro had not declined against the 
indian and Brazilian currencies in 2010.

taxes for the period totaled eur 1.6 (0.8) million, 
including the following items:

Taxes in income statement, MEUR 1–12/2010 1–12/2009
Withholding tax expenses in parent  
company -1.7 -1.5
Income taxes on the results of Group 
companies -1.5 -1.4
Deferred tax asset based on  
tax allowances in India 0.8 0.6
change in deferred tax liability based on:

  -R&D capitalization 1.1 2.2

  -dividend tax in India -0.8 -0.6

Other items 0.5 -0.0

Taxes in income statement, total -1.6 -0.8

earnings per share were eur -0.15 (-0.24). equity per 
share at the end of the period was eur 0.98 (eur 1.05).

Financing and investments
tecnotree’s liquid funds totaled eur 16.7 (25.7) million. 
the change in cash and cash equivalents for the review 
period was eur -9.8 million.

the balance sheet total on 31 December 2010 stood 
at eur 109.7 (118.4) million. interest-bearing liabilities 
were eur 19.7 (18.9) million. the net debt to equity ra-
tio (net gearing) was 3.3 per cent (-10.8%). the balance 
sheet structure remained strong and the equity ratio on 31 
Decem ber 2010 was 66.4 per cent (65.6%).

tecnotree’s gross capital expenditure during the review 
period, excluding the capitalization of development costs, 

was eur 1.2 (1.4) million or 2.1 per cent (2.7%) of net sales.
Financial income and expenses (net) during the review 

period totaled eur -1.4 (-0.4) million. the change from the 
comparative period is due mainly to the reduction in ex-
change rate gains and the increase in exchange rate losses 
due to unfavorable developments in the exchange rates for 
the Group’s main currencies during the first half of the year.

Financial income and expenses, MEUR 1–12/2010 1–12/2009
Interest income 0.2 0.3

exchange rate gains 0.4 0.4

Other financial income 0.5 0.6

Financial income, total 1.1 1.3

Interest expenses -0.8 -0.4

exchange rate losses -1.7 -0.8

Other financial expenses 0.0 -0.6

Financial expenses, total -2.4 -1.8

Change in working capital, MEUR 
(increase - / decrease +) 1–12/2010 1–12/2009
change in trade receivables 2.1 1.5

change in other short-term receivables -6.5 10.9

change in inventories 0.3 -0.1

change in trade payables 3.9 -1.5
change in other current liabilities -7.6 3.3

Change in working capital, total -7.7 14.1

the change in current liabilities had a negative impact of 
eur 7.6 million on the cash flow for the review period. this 
item includes payments made in 2010 from provisions for 
one-time costs made in the 2009 closing.

in the Mea region, there have been delays in the pay-
ments from one government owned customer. Due to 
the situation, an impairment of eur 0.9 million has been 
booked in the financial statements in respect of trade 
receiva bles which totaled eur 5.9 million.

Segment information
as from the beginning of 2010, the operating segments 
under the iFrS 8 standard reported by tecnotree are the 
geographical areas, which are the americas (north, cen-
tral and South america), europe, Mea (Middle east and 
africa), and apac (asia pacific). this is because their results 
are monitored separately in the company’s internal financial 
reporting. tecnotree’s chief operating decision maker, as 
referred to in the iFrS 8 standard, is the Group’s manage-
ment board.
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net sales and the result for the operating segments are 
presented based on the location of customers. the result 
for the operating segments includes the costs that can be 
allocated to the segments on a reasonable basis. common 
costs for the whole Group as well as taxes and financial 
items are not allocated.

Geographical areas
tecnotree Group operates in the following geographical 
areas: the americas (north, central and South america), eu-
rope, Mea (Middle east and africa) and apac (asia pacific).

The Americas (North, Central and South America)
Sales and the order book grew encouragingly in latin 
america, and tecnotree obtained major new customers 
and expansion projects in the region. income recognition 
made encouraging progress for the expansion projects 
and the new products developed in india. Mobile phone 
opera tors in the region have significantly increased their 
level of investment from the previous year.

Europe
the completion degree of delivery projects in progress 
rose as planned. european operators seem to be making 
slightly bigger investments than in the previous year, espe-
cially in eastern europe.

MEA (Middle East and Africa)
in the Middle east and africa, sales and the order book 
grew. particularly sales of billing, customer management, 
and managed services solutions increased. operators 
in the region continue to have heavy investment needs, 
which are boosted by the growth in subscriber numbers.

APAC (Asia Pacific)
also sales in the apac region grew from the previous year. 
the willingness of operators to make investments varies 
greatly from one country to another, but the overall situa-
tion seems to be better than in 2009.

Research and development
research and development costs during the review period 
totaled eur 13.1 (14.5) million, corresponding to 21.7 per 
cent (27.2%) of net sales. eur 0.6 (5.1) million of develop-
ment costs were capitalized. once projects are completed, 
their capitalized costs are amortized over 3–5 years from 
the start of commercial use. r&D costs of eur 6.1 (4.2)  
million were amortized during the review period.

Personnel
at the end of December 2010 tecnotree employed 858 
(779) persons, of whom 70 (83) worked in Finland and 788 
(696) elsewhere. the company employed on average 797 
(665) people during the review period. personnel by coun-
try was as follows:

2010 2009 2008

Personnel, at end of period 858 779 354

Finland 70 83 89

Ireland 64 87 139

Brazil 47 49 65
India 625 507 -

Other countries 52 53 61

Personnel, average 797 665 358

Personnel expenses before 
R&D capitalization (MeUR) 29.3 32.3 27.4

Tecnotree shares and share capital
at the end of 2010 the shareholders’ equity of tecnotree 
corporation stood at eur 72.1 (77.1) million and the share 
capital was eur 4.7 million. the total number of shares was 
73,630,977. the company held 134,800 of these shares, 
which represents 0.18 per cent of the company’s total num-
ber of shares and votes. equity per share was eur 0.98 (1.05).

a total of 16,629,837 tecnotree shares (eur 
13,216,479) were traded on the Helsinki exchanges during 
the	period	2	January	–	31	December	2010,	representing	
22.6 per cent of the total number of shares.

the highest share price quoted in the period was eur 
1.00 and the lowest eur 0.58. the average quoted price 
was eur 0.79 and the closing price on 31 December 2010 
was eur 0.60. the market capitalization of the share stock 
at the end of the period was eur 44,178,586.

other key financial indicators and key ratios per share 
are disclosed under the Key financial indicators caption in 
the financial statements. information on shareholders is dis-
closed under the Shares and shareholders caption in the 
finan cial statements.

Current authorizations
the annual General Meeting held on 25 March 2010 
autho rized the Board of Directors to decide on the ac-
quisition of a maximum of 7,360,000 of the company’s 
own shares. own shares may be acquired with unrestrict-
ed shareholders’ equity otherwise than in proportion to 
the holdings of the shareholders through public trading of 
the securities on naSDaQ oMX Helsinki oy at the mar-
ket price of the shares in public trading at the time of the 
acqui sition. own shares may be acquired for the purpose 
of developing the capital structure of the company, carry-
ing out corporate acquisitions or other business arrange-
ments to develop the business of the company, financing 
capital expenditure, to be used as part of the company’s 
incentive schemes, or to be otherwise retained in the pos-
session of the company, disposed of or nullified in the ex-
tent and manner decided by the Board of Directors. the 
authorization is valid for one year from the decision of the 
annual General Meeting. the Board of Directors has not 
exercised this authorization during the review period.

Furthermore, the annual General Meeting authorized 
the Board of Directors to decide to issue and/or convey a 
maximum of 17,800,000 new shares and/or the company’s 
own shares either against payment or for free. new shares 
may be issued and the company’s own shares may be 
conveyed to the company’s shareholders in proportion to 
their current shareholdings in the company or waiving the 
shareholder’s pre-emption right, through a directed share 
issue if the company has a weighty financial reason to do 
so. the Board of Directors may also decide on a free share 
issue to the company itself. the Board of Directors is, with-
in the authorization, authorized to grant the special rights 
referred to in chapter 10, Section 1 of the companies act. 
the authorization is valid for one year from the decision of 
the annual General Meeting. the Board of Directors has 
not exercised this authorization during the review period.

Stock option programs
During the review period the company had the 2006 and 
2009 stock option programs in force. the exercise period 
for the 2006a options ended on 30 april 2010.

the state of the options on 31 December 2010 was as 
follows:

Option series

Maximum 
number of 

options

Number 
of options 

granted 

 
Exercise 

period

 
Exercise 

price

2006B 173,000 173,000
1.4.2008–
30.4.2011 1.32

2006c 667,000
1.4.2009–
30.4.2012 0.98

Total 840,000 173,000

2009A 1,026,005 686,171
1.4.2009–
31.3.2011 0.86

2009B 2,394,013 1,096,207
1.4.2010–
31.3.2012 0.86

2009c 3,420,018 1,555,181
1.4.2011–
31.3.2013 0.86

Total 6,840,036 3,337,559

2006 and 2009 
total 7,680,036 3,510,559

Some of the 2009B and 2009c stock options be-
come available to key personnel based on a performance 
apprais al. the stock options are part of the incentive and 
commitment scheme for key personnel.

altogether 7,680,036 stock options remained on 31 
December 2010 of all the company’s stock options in circu-
lation. the shares that could be subscribed on the basis of 
these stock options accounted for a maximum of 9.45% of 
the company’s shares and the votes carried by the shares 
after any increase in share capital. on 31 December 2010 
the company still held 4,169,477 of all the current stock 
options. the issued stock options had a maximum diluting 
effect on 31 December 2010 of 4.55%.

the company’s Board of Directors may issue stock op-
tions such that their maximum dilution shall not exceed 
8.50%.
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Risks and uncertainty factors
the greatest risks in tecnotree’s operations are related to 
major customer and partner relationships, to agreements 
made with these, and to the correct timing of product de-
velopment decisions.

tecnotree’s largest customers are much bigger busi-
nesses than the company itself and the five largest custom-
ers account for more than half of tecnotree’s net sales. the 
relationship between the company and its major customers 
is one of interdependence, which poses a potential risk but 
also offers significant new business opportunities.

certain commitments are associated with the project 
and maintenance agreements made by the company, and 
unforeseen costs may arise in the future from these agree-
ments. the company aims to limit these liabilities with limi-
tation of liability clauses in customer contracts. in addi-
tion, the company has a current global liability insurance to 
cover any liabilities that may materialize in connection with 
customer projects.

project deliveries result in large accounts receivable. 
Most of tecnotree’s net sales come from developing coun-
tries and some of these contain political and economic chal-
lenges. there is the risk of a considerable delay in the pay-
ment of invoices in these countries and that tecnotree will 
have to record credit losses. the payment record of cus-
tomers and the situation concerning trade receivables are 
actively monitored and credit rating checks are made on 
new customers before confirming an offer. an impairment 
of eur 0.9 million has been booked into the financial state-
ments in respect of receivables totaling eur 5.9 million.

changes in exchange rates create risks especially in 
sales activities. a significant part of the company’s net sales 
is in uS dollars. the company hedges its currency denomi-
nated net position for a maximum period of 12 months, 
using currency forward contracts and currency options. liq-
uid funds are invested, avoiding credit and liquidity risks, in 
money-market deposits and short-term interest funds with 
a good credit rating.

carrying out projects creates risks. these risks are con-
tained for example in projects that require new product 
development, where creating new product features may 
prove more difficult than anticipated. another problem 
with project sales arises from variations in net sales and 
profit during the different quarters of the year. Forecasting 
these variations is often difficult. 

tecnotree operates in a rapidly changing sector. when 
making r&D decisions, there is the risk that the choice 
made may not bring the expected returns.

the acquisition of tecnotree convergence limited 
opened up many new opportunities for tecnotree. taking 
advantage of these requires various changes in sales and 
r&D activities and in the organization, and there are risks re-
lating to the success of these changes. the amount paid for 
the acquisition and the resulting goodwill also involve risks.

 tecnotree’s risks and uncertainties in the near future 
relate to major projects that are under negotiation and to 
their timing.

Tecnotree’s management, auditors, 
and corporate governance
tecnotree’s Board of Directors comprised of the following 
persons in 2010:

Hannu turunen, chairman of the Board
Johan	hammarén,	Member	of	the	Board	1	Jan–25	Mar	2010,	
vice chairman of the Board 25 Mar 2010–
atul chopra
pentti Heikkinen
Harri Koponen
christer Sumelius
David white
ilkka raiskinen

Carl-Johan	Numelin	was	Vice	Chairman	of	the	Board	until	
25 March, 2010.

eero Mertano was president and ceo of the company 
until 31 october 2010. tecnotree’s Board of Directors ap-
pointed Kaj Hagros as president and ceo as of 1 novem-
ber 2010. Before joining tecnotree, Kaj Hagros held posi-
tions as Managing Director and chief operating officer 
within Fox Mobile Group, a subsidiary of news corpora-
tion (naSDaQ: nwS).

in 2010 the company’s Management Board com-
prised eero Mertano (until 31 october 2010), Kaj Hagros 
(from 1 november 2010 onwards), atul chopra, naim Kazi, 
tuomas wegelius and timo laaksonen (from 24 november 
2010 onwards).

tecnotree’s auditor in the financial year 2010 was 
KpMG oy ab, and the principal auditor was Sixten nyman, 
authorized public accountant.

the Board of Directors has approved the corporate 
Governance Statement of the company for the year 2010. 
it has been published on tecnotree’s internet site.

Events after the end of period
the composition of the Management Board changed on 1 
February 2011. atul chopra does not continue in the role 
as chief operating officer and member of the Manage-
ment Board of tecnotree. He shall continue to serve on 
the Board of Directors of tecnotree corporation and as 
the Managing Director and ceo of the indian subsidiary 
tecno tree convergence limited with special focus on key 
customers and new business opportunities.

Prospects 2011
the prospects for year 2011 will be informed later on.

variations between quarterly figures are expected to 
continue to be considerable.

Proposal concerning the result
the Board of Directors proposes to the annual General 
Meeting to be held on 23 March 2011 that no dividend 
be paid for the financial year ended 31 December 2010, 
and that the parent company’s loss for the financial year, 
eur 10,389,877.77 be covered by non-restricted equity re-
serves. 

tecnotree corporation

Board of Directors
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consolidated income statement

EUR 1,000 Note 1 Jan–31 Dec 2010 1 Jan–31 Dec 2009

Net sales 1, 3 60,693 53,253

Other operating income 4 40 293

Materials and services 5 -10,135 -10,681

employee benefit expenses 6 -29,116 -29,165

Depreciation, amortization, and impairment losses 7 -8,747 -6,855*

Other operating expenses 8 -20,800 -21,804
Operating profit -8,064 -14,958*

Financial income 10 1,087 1,290

Financial expenses 10 -2,439 -1,770
Result before taxes -9,416 -15,438*

Income taxes 11 -1,559 -766*
Result for the period -10,975 -16,205*

Result for the period attributable to:
equity holders of the parent company -10,957 -16,240*

To non-controlling interest -18 35

earnings per share calculated on profit attributable to equity holders of 
the parent company: 12

Basic earnings per share, eUR -0.15 -0.24

Diluted earnings per share, eUR -0.15 -0.24

number of shares on average, 1,000s of shares

-basic 73,496 68,039

-diluted 73,587 68,231

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

consolidated balance sheet

EUR 1,000 Note 31 Dec 2010 31 Dec 2009

Assets

Non-current assets
Goodwill 2, 13 21,608 19,591*

Other intangible assets 13 17,959 23,953*

Property, plant and equipment 14 6,849 7,310

Deferred tax assets 15 2,495 1,522

Other non-current trade and other receivables 16 741 906
Total non-current assets 49,651 53,283*

Current assets
Inventories 17 1,023 1,331

Trade and other receivables 18 41,637 36,582

Investments 19 630 1,577

cash and cash equivalents 19 16,737 25,674

Total current assets 60,027 65,164

Total assets 109,678 118,446*

Shareholders' equity and liabilities

Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent
Share capital 4,720 4,720

Share premium fund 847 847

Own shares -122 -122

Translation differences 6,076 371*
Invested unrestricted equity reserve 12,634 12,634

Other reserves 29,433 52,090

Retained earnings 18,462 6,448*
Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent 20 72,050 76,988*

non-controlling interest 56 72
Total shareholders' equity 72,106 77,060*

Non-current liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities 15 3,330 4,022*

Long-term interest-bearing liabilities 23 14,507 16,664

Other non-current liabilities 24 416 307

Total non-current liabilities 18,253 20,993*

Current liabilities
current interest-bearing liabilities 23 5,243 2,226

Trade payables and other liabilities 25 14,075 18,127
Total current liabilities 19,318 20,393*

Total equity and liabilities 109,678 118,446*

* The figures for the comparative period have changed due to adjustments to the purchase price calculation for Tecnotree India.

EUR 1,000 Note 1 Jan–31 Dec 2010 1 Jan–31 Dec 2009

Result for the period -10,975 -16,205*

Other comprehensive income:

Translation differences from foreign operations, before tax 5,788 425*

Tax relating to components of other comprehensive income -83
Other comprehensive income, net of tax 5,705 425*

Total comprehensive income for the period -5,270 -15,780*

Comprehensive income for the period attributable to:
equity holders of the parent company -5,252 -15,815*

To non-controlling interest -18 35

* The figures for the comparative period have changed due to adjustments to the purchase price calculation for Tecnotree India.
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Statement of changes in shareholders' equity consolidated cash flow statement

1 000 € Note 1 Jan–31 Dec  2010 1 Jan–31 Dec  2009

Cash flow from operating activities
Result for the period -10,975 -16,205 *

Adjustments for:

Depreciation, amortization, and impairment losses 8,784 6,855 *

Option expenses and employee benefits 473 134

Unrealized exchange gains and losses -273 214

Impairment of trade receivables 909

Unrealized gains and losses  
from assets at fair value through income statement 255 -188

Other financial income and expenses -191 241

Income taxes 1,559 766

Other adjustments 1 34

changes in working capital:

change in trade and other receivables -4,342 12,346

change in inventories 308 -101

change in trade payables and other liabilities -3,697 1,829

Interest paid -335 -1,155
Interest received 543 415

Income taxes paid -3,212 -3,216
Net cash flow from operating activities -10,192 1,970

Cash flow from investments
Acquisitions of subsidiaries less cash and cash equivalents at acq. date 2 -13,990

Transactions with minority 2 -671

Investments in intangible assets -829 -5,303

Investments in property, plant and equipment -852 -1,191

Investments in other securities -781

Proceeds from disposal of other securities 948 273

Interest received from investments 34 72

Dividends received from investments 298 132
Net cash flow from investments -402 -21,459

Cash flow from financing activities
Proceeds from borrowings 3,000

Repayments of borrowings -2,166 -1,369

Payments of finance lease liabilities -14 -18

Dividend distribution -5,097

Net cash flow from financing activities 820 -6,484

Change in cash and cash equivalents -9,774 -25,973
cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 25,674 51,017

change in foreign exchange rates 1,093 449

change in fair value of investments -255 181

cash and cash equivalents at end of period 19 16,737 25,674

* The figures for the comparative period have changed due to adjustments to the purchase price calculation for Tecnotree India.

EUR 1,000

 

Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent

Non-
cont-

rolling 
interest

Total 
share-

holders' 
equity

 
Share 

capital

Share 
premium 

fund

 
Own 

shares

Transla-
tion diffe-

rences

Invested 
unrestricted 

equity reserve

 
Other 

reserves

 
Retained 
earnings

 
 

Total

Shareholders' equity  
1 Jan 2009

 
4,720

 
847

 
-122

 
-55

 
290

 
50,551

 
27,275

 
83,506

 
83,506

Directed share issue 12,344 1,997 14,342 14,342

Business combinations 625 625

Transactions with minority -94 -94 -588 -682

Dividend distribution -458 -4,639 -5,097 -5,097

Share-based payments 161 161 161

Other changes -15 -15 -15

Total comprehensive 
income for the period

 
425

 
-16,240

 
-15,814 35

 
-15,779

Total shareholders' equity 
31 Dec 2009

 
4,720 847

 
-122

 
371

 
12,634

 
52,090

 
6,448

 
76,988 72

 
77,060

Shareholders' equity  
1 Jan 2010

 
4,720

 
847

 
-122

 
371

 
12,634

 
52,090

 
6,448

 
76,988

 
72

 
77,060

Directed share issue -22,657 22,657

Share-based payments 303 303 303

Other changes 12 12 2 14

Total comprehensive 
income for the period 5,705 -10,957 -5,252 -18 -5,270

Total shareholders' equity 
31 Dec 2010 4,720 847 -122 6,076 12,634 29,433 18,462 72,050 56 72,106
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Corporate information
tecnotree develops and supplies messaging and charging 
solutions for telecom operators and service providers. the 
Group has operations in Finland and in 17 other locations 
in 17 countries.

the Group’s parent company is tecnotree corporation, 
which is domiciled in espoo, Finland. its registered address 
is Finnoonniitynkuja 4, 02770 espoo. a copy of the consoli-
dated financial statements can be obtained online at  
www.tecnotree.com or from the head office of the Group’s 
parent company at Finnoonniitynkuja 4.

Accounting principles

Basis for Preparing Consolidated 
Financial Statements
tecnotree’s consolidated financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with the international financial re-
porting standards (iFrS) adopted by the eu, applying the 
iaS and iFrS standards and Sic and iFric interpretations 
in force on 31 December 2010. international Financial re-
porting Standards, referred to in the Finnish accounting 
act and in ordinances issued based on the provisions of 
the act, refer to the standards and to their interpretations 
adopted in accordance with the procedure laid down in 
regulation (ec) no 1606/2002 of the european parliament 
and of the council. the notes to the consolidated finan-
cial statements also conform to Finnish accounting and 
corporate legislation. 

the consolidated financial statements are prepared on 
the historical cost basis, apart from the exceptions men-
tioned later in these accounting principles. the financial 
statement information is presented in thousands of euro.

tecnotree Group has adopted the following amended stan-
dards	and	new	interpretations	starting	from	1	January	2010:

iFrS 3 Business Combinations (revised) (effective for 
annual	periods	beginning	on	or	after	1	July	2009).	The	
scope for the revised standard is broader than before. the 
amendment impacts the amount of goodwill to be recog-
nized for an acquisition as well as the proceeds from busi-
nesses. the revised standard also impacts the items to be 
recognized in the income statement both in the period of 
acquisition and in those periods when additional purchase 
consideration is paid or additional acquisitions are made. 
according to the transitional provisions, business combina-
tions with transaction dates before the required implemen-
tation of the revised standard are not adjusted. the Group 

estimates that the standard has not had an impact on the 
consolidated financial statements. 

iaS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements 
(revised) (effective for annual periods beginning on or af-
ter	1	July	2009).	The	amendment	requires	the	effects	of	
changes in ownership interests to be recorded in equity if 
there is no change in control. if the control of a subsidiary 
is lost, any remaining interest in the entity is re-measured 
to fair value and a gain or loss is recognized in the income 
statement. as an impact of the revised standard, losses of 
a subsidiary can be attributed to the minority, even if they 
exceed the amount of the minority investment. the Group 
estimates that the standard has not had an impact on the 
consolidated financial statements.

iaS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measure-
ment (Eligible Hedged Items) (effective for annual periods 
beginning	on	or	after	1	July	2009).	The	amendment	of	the	
standard does not have an impact on the consolidated fi-
nancial statements, since the Group does not apply hedge 
accounting. the Group estimates that the standard has not 
had an impact on the consolidated financial statements.

iFric 17 Distributions of Non-Cash Assets to Owners 
(effective	for	annual	periods	beginning	on	or	after	1	July	
2009). the interpretation clarifies how an entity should rec-
ognize the distribution of non-cash assets from the perspec-
tive of the distributing entity. the Group estimates that the 
interpretation has not had an impact on the consolidated fi-
nancial statements. 

iFric 18 Transfers of assets from customers (effective for 
financial	year	beginning	on	or	after	1	July	2009).	The	inter-
pretation clarifies the requirements for agreements in which 
an entity receives from a customer an item of property, 
plant, and equipment or cash that must be used to acquire 
that item of property, plant and equipment and the entity 
must then use the item to either connect the customer to a 
network or to provide the customer with ongoing access to 
a supply of goods or services, or both. the Group estimates 
that the interpretation has not had an impact on the consoli-
dated financial statements. 

amendments related to improvements to iFrSs (annual 
improvements, april 2009) (mainly effective for annual peri-
ods	beginning	on	or	after	1	January	2010).	Through	the	an-
nual improvements project are amendments to altogether 
12 standards implemented, with varying impact on different 
standards. the Group estimates that the amendments will 
not have a significant impact on the consolidated financial 
statements.  

Accounting principles for the consolidated 
financial statements

amendment to iFrS 2 Share-based payment (effective 
for	annual	periods	beginning	on	or	after	1	January	2010).	
the changes clarify that a company receiving goods or ser-
vices from suppliers or service providers must apply iFrS 
2 even if it would not have the obligation to settle the re-
quired share-based cash payments. the Group estimates 
that the amendment will not have an impact on the consoli-
dated financial statements. 

Use of estimates 
the preparation of the financial statements in accordance 
with iFrS requires management to make certain estimates 
and assumptions concerning the future. actual results may 
differ from these estimates. in addition, management has 
to make judgments in applying the accounting principles. 
information about the judgments made by management 
in the application of the accounting principles followed by 
the Group and which have the most significant impact on 
the financial statements is given in the section account-
ing principles requiring management judgments and key 
sources of estimation uncertainty.

Accounting principles for the consolidated 
financial statements

Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are companies controlled by the Group. con-
trol exists when the Group holds over half of the voting 
rights or it otherwise has control. control means the right 
to govern the financial and operating policies of a compa-
ny so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

intra-group holdings are eliminated using the purchase 
method. the financial statements of subsidiaries are includ-
ed in the consolidated financial statements from the date 
that the Group has obtained control and divested subsid-
iaries until the date that control ceases. intra-group trans-
actions, unrealized margins, receivables and liabilities, and 
profit distribution have been eliminated in preparing the 
consolidated financial statements.

total comprehensive income for the period attributable 
to the owners of the parent and any non-controlling interests  
is presented in the income statement and in the statement 
of comprehensive income. non-controlling interests are pre-
sented as a separate item in the balance sheet within equity 
of the owners of the parent. non-controlling interests of ac-
crued losses are recognised in the consolidated financial 
statements up to the maximum amount of their investment.

Foreign currency items
transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the func-
tional currency at the rates of exchange prevailing on the 
transaction dates or at the rate close to that on the trans-
action date. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currency are retranslated to the functional currency 
using the rate of exchange on the closing date. exchange 
rate gains and losses arising from the translation of foreign 
currency transactions and of monetary assets and liabilities 
are recognized in the income statement. exchange gains 
and losses relating to business operations are treated as ad-
justments to net sales or to purchasing and manufacturing. 
exchange rate gains and losses related to financing opera-
tions are recognized under financial income and expenses. 

the consolidated financial statements are presented in 
euro, which is the functional and presentation currency of 
the parent company. the income statements of those for-
eign Group companies whose functional currency is not the 
euro are translated into euro using the average exchange 
rate for the period, and balance sheet items, apart from the 
result for the period, at the exchange rate on the balance 
sheet date. translation differences arising from eliminating 
the acquisition cost of foreign subsidiaries, the translation 
of the foreign subsidiaries’ accumulated equity subsequent 
to acquisition, of the income statements and the balance 
sheets are recognized in translation reserve in equity.

those translation differences accumulated by the 
date	of	transition	to	IFRSs,	1	January	2004	were	recorded	
against retained earnings. translation differences arising 
after the transition date are shown in translation reserve in 
equity. they are recognized in the income statement as part 
of the gain or loss on sale when a foreign entity is sold.

Property, plant and equipment
property, plant, and equipment are measured at historical 
cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment 
losses.

certain parts of items of property, plant, and equip-
ment are accounted for as separate items. when such a 
part is replaced, the costs relating to the new part are capi-
talized. other subsequent expenses are capitalized only if 
it is probable that they will increase the economic bene-
fits that will flow to the company. all other costs, such as 
normal repair and maintenance costs, are expensed as in-
curred. 
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property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a 
straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives. land is 
not depreciated. the estimated useful lives are as follows:

•	 Buildings and structures 25 years
•	 Machinery and equipment and furniture 3–5 years
•	 computing hardware and equipment 3–5 years 

the residual value of these assets and their useful lives are 
reassessed annually when the financial statements are pre-
pared, and if necessary are adjusted accordingly to reflect any 
changes in the expectation of economic benefits expected.

Gains or losses on sale or disposal of property, plant 
and equipment are recognized in the income statement.

Depreciation on an item of property, plant and equip-
ment ceases when the item is classified as an asset held for 
sale, in accordance with iFrS 5 Non-current Assets Held for 
Sale and Discontinued Operations.

Intangible assets

Goodwill
After	1	January	2004	goodwill	represents	the	amount	of	
the acquisition cost that exceeds the Group’s share in the 
net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and con-
tingent liabilities of acquiree on the date of acquisition.

in respect of business combinations occurred prior to 1 
January	2004	goodwill	represents	the	book	value	recorded	
under the previous financial statement standards, and this 
has been used as the deemed cost under iFrS.

Goodwill is not amortized but it is tested annually for 
impairment. For this purpose goodwill is allocated to the 
cash-generating units. Goodwill is measured at cost less 
any impairment losses.

Other intangible assets
intangible assets that have finite useful lives are recorded in 
the balance sheet and amortization is recognized in the in-
come statement on a straight-line basis over the useful lives 
as follows:

•	 intangible rights 3–10 years
•	 capitalized development expenditure 3–5 years

Research and development costs
research costs are charged to the income statement as in-
curred. Development costs for new products are capitalized 

when they meet the requirements of iaS 38 Intangible as-
sets. they are amortized over the useful lives of the related 
products. at tecnotree development costs are monitored on 
a project-by-project basis and management decides on the 
capitalization separately for each project. in order to quali-
fy for capitalization the following criteria are to be met: the 
results of a project are of use to several customers, the con-
tents, objectives and timetable of a project are document-
ed and a profitability calculation is prepared. capitalization 
of product development costs that fulfil iFrS criteria starts 
when following requirements are met: a product’s function-
al requirements and the plans for product industrialization, 
testing and project are complete and have been approved 
as well as future economic benefits are expected from the 
product. the useful life of capitalized development expen-
diture is 3–5 years depending on the expected commercial 
life cycle, and they are amortized on a straight-line basis over 
this period from the start of commercial use.

Inventories
inventories are stated at the lower of acquisition cost and 
net realisable value. the cost is based on the FiFo princi-
ple. the cost of manufactured products and work in prog-
ress includes the cost of raw materials, direct labour costs, 
other direct costs as well as an appropriate share of vari-
able and fixed production overheads based on normal 
operating capacity. net realizable value is the estimated 
selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the 
esti mated costs of completion and selling.

Leases
leases are classified in accordance with the principles of 
iaS 17 as either finance leases or operating leases. a fi-
nance lease is defined as a lease in which the benefits and 
risks of ownership are substantially transferred to the les-
see. a finance lease is recognized in the balance sheet at 
the lower of the fair value of the leased asset and the pres-
ent value of the minimum lease payments at inception 
of the lease. assets acquired under a finance lease, less 
accumu lated depreciation, are recorded in property, plant 
and equipment and related obligations in interest-bearing 
liabilities, respectively. lease payments are apportioned 
between the finance expense and the reduction of the out-
standing liability. Depreciation on the assets acquired un-
der a finance lease is recognized over the shorter of the 
depreciation period applied by the Group to comparable 
owned assets and the lease term. 

leases in which the lessor retains the risks and bene-
fits of ownership are treated as operating leases. payments 
made under operating leases are recognized as other op-
erating expenses in the income statement on a straight-line 
basis over the lease term.

Impairment
the carrying amounts of the Group’s assets are reviewed at 
each balance sheet date to determine whether there is any 
indication of impairment. if any such indication exists, the 
asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. the recoverable 
amount is also annually estimated for the following assets, 
irrespective of whether there is any indication of impair-
ment or not: goodwill and intangible assets not yet avail-
able for use.

the recoverable amount is determined as the higher of 
fair value less costs to sell and value in use. at tecnotree 
impairment tests are carried out based on the value in use 
at the cash-generating unit level. 

the cash-generating units are the geographical areas, 
which are the americas (north, central, and South ame rica), 
europe, Mea (Middle east and africa) and apac (asia pacific). 

the value in use is the present value of the future net 
cash flows expected to be derived from the asset. 

an impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount 
of an asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds the recovera-
ble amount. the impairment loss is recognized in the 
income statement. 

an impairment loss is reversed if there are indications 
that the impairment loss may no longer exist and when 
conditions have changed and the recoverable amount has 
changed after the impairment loss was recognized. an im-
pairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s 
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that 
would have been determined if no impairment loss had 
been recognized. an impairment loss in respect of good-
will is never reversed.

Employee benefits

Pension benefits
the Group’s pension plans conform to the regulations and 
practices in force in the countries where the Group oper-
ates. Statutory and any voluntary pension plans are man-
aged by pension insurance companies.

pension plans are classified either as defined benefit or 
defined contribution plans.

in defined contribution plans the Group pays fixed con-
tributions to a separate entity. the Group has not obliga-
tion to pay any additional contributions if the insurer is not 
able to pay the future employee benefits. 

Defined contribution plan expenses are recognized in 
the income statement on the accrual basis. the obliga-
tion for defined benefit pension plans is calculated using 
the projected unit credit method. the pension obligation 
is discounted to determine its present value using inter-
est rates for government bonds that have maturity dates 
approximating to the terms of the Group’s pension obli-
gation. the pension liability or asset in the balance sheet 
is formed by the difference between the present value of 
the defined benefit pension obligation less the fair value of 
plan assets together with unrecognized actuarial gains and 
losses and unrecognized past service costs.

At	the	date	of	transition	to	IFRS	on	1	January	2004	all	
actuarial gains and losses were recognized against the 
opening iFrS balance sheet equity. actuarial gains and 
losses subsequent to the transition date are recognized in 
the income statement over the expected average remain-
ing working lives of the employees participating in the plan 
to the extent that they exceed 10 per cent of the greater 
of the present value of the pension obligation and the fair 
value of plan assets.

Share-based payments
the fair value of the option rights is measured on grant 
date and is recognized as an expense on a straight-line ba-
sis over the vesting period according to iFrS 2 Share-based 
Payment. the cost determined at the grant date is based 
on the Group’s estimate of the number of the options which 
are expected to vest by the end of the vesting period. the 
fair value is measured based on the Black-Scholes formula. 
changes in the estimates for the final number of options 
are recognized in the income statement.

when the option rights granted prior to the effective 
date of the new limited liability companies act (1 Sep-
tember 2006) are exercised, payments for share subscrip-
tions are allocated so that the amount equivalent to the 
nominal value of a share, adjusted by any transaction costs, 
is recorded in share capital and any excess in the share 
premium fund. payments for share subscriptions made 
with options after 1 September 2006 are recorded in the 
reserve for invested unrestricted equity, adjusted by any 
transaction costs.
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Provisions
a provision is recognized in the balance sheet when the 
Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a 
result of a past event, it is probable that the obligation will 
have to be settled, and the amount of the obligation can 
be reliably estimated. if it is possible to obtain compensa-
tion for some of the obligation from a third party, the com-
pensation is recognized as a separate asset, but only when 
it is virtually certain that the compensation will be received.

a provision for restructuring is recognized when the 
Group has drawn up a detailed and formal restructuring 
plan and the restructuring has either commenced or the 
plan has been announced publicly. a plan for restructuring 
shall contain at least the following information: the busi-
ness concerned, the principal locations affected, the loca-
tion, function and approximate number of employees who 
will be compensated for having their services terminated, 
the type of expenditure that will be incurred, and when the 
plan will be implemented.

Income tax
the income tax expense in the income statement consists 
of current tax, based on the taxable profit for the period 
and deferred tax. current tax is calculated on the taxable 
profit using the tax rate in force in each country. the result-
ing tax is adjusted by any tax relating to previous years. 

Deferred tax is calculated using the balance sheet liabil-
ity method, providing for temporary differences between 
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for finan-
cial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation 
purposes. Deferred tax is not recognized for the goodwill 
which is permanently non-deductible or for the undistribut-
ed earnings of foreign subsidiaries to the extent it is prob-
able that the difference will not reverse in the foreseeable 
future. the principal temporary differences arise from capi-
talized development expenditure and from investments 
measured at fair value.

Deferred tax is measured using the tax rates enacted by 
the balance sheet date. Deferred tax liabilities are recog-
nized in full, but deferred tax assets are only recognized to 
the extent that it is probable that future taxable income will 
be available against which they can be utilized.

Revenue recognition
at tecnotree, net sales comprise revenue recognized from 
project deliveries and goods and service deliveries from 
which indirect taxes, discounts and exchange rate differ-
ences have been deducted. 

revenue from project deliveries is recognized in accor-
dance with iaS 11 Construction Contracts. project reve-
nue and expenses are recognized in the income statement 
in proportion to the stage of completion on the balance 
sheet date, once the outcome of the project can be es-
timated reliably. the outcome can be estimated reliably 
when the anticipated revenue and costs of the contract 
and the progress of the project can be estimated reliably 
and when it is probable that the economic benefits associ-
ated with the project will flow to the Group. 

the stage of completion of a project is determined for 
each contract by the proportion of the estimated total con-
tract costs accounted for by the costs incurred for work 
performed to date (cost-to-cost method). the revenue 
recog nition for a project will start when the outcome of the 
project can be estimated reliably. typically this happens 
when the management has approved the project and the 
first delivery to the customer has been made.

the stage of completion method of revenue recogni-
tion is based on estimates of the expected revenue and 
expenses associated with the contract and on estimating 
the progress of the project. the cost estimates for the proj-
ects are monitored quarterly in the management’s revenue 
review and the revenue and expenses recognized in the 
income statement are revised if the estimates of the out-
come of the project change. the accumulated effect due 
to the change in the estimates is recognized in the period 
when the change is known for the first time and its amount 
can be estimated. if the outcome of a project cannot be 
estimated reliably, revenue is only recognized to the ex-
tent of project costs incurred. this method of recognition is 
typically applied in first delivery projects for new products 
or when a delivery project contains a significant amount of 
customization for individual customers. the margin on the 
project is recognized on final acceptance.

a project is considered onerous if its costs exceed total 
project revenue. the expected loss is then recognized as 
an expense immediately.

revenue from the sale of goods and services is recog-
nized in accordance with iaS 18 Revenue. revenue from 
the sale of goods is recognized when the significant risks 
and benefits of ownership have been transferred to the 
buyer and when the amount of the revenue can be mea-
sured reliably and it is probable that the related economic 
benefits will flow to the company. revenue from services is 
recognized when the service has been rendered. Supple-
mentary deliveries that are often sold separately such as 
maintenance, licences, training, documentation, and spare 

parts are examples of goods and service deliveries. reve-
nue from fixed-term maintenance contracts is normally rec-
ognized over the contract period on a straight-line basis. 

Definition of operating profit
iaS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements does not define 
the term ‘operating profit’. tecnotree Group has defined 
it as follows: operating profit is the net sum obtained after 
adding other operating income to net sales and then de-
ducting purchasing costs adjusted by the change in stocks 
of finished products and work in progress, employee benef-
it expenses, depreciation, amortization and any impairment 
losses, and other operating expenses. changes in the fair 
values of derivative financial instruments entered into for 
hedging purposes are included in the operating profit.

all other income statement items are presented be-
low the operating profit. exchange rate differences are in-
cluded in operating profit if they arise from items related 
to business operations otherwise they are recognized in 
finance items. 

Non-current assets held for sale and  
discontinued operations
a non-current asset held for sale is classified as held for 
sale if its carrying amount will be recovered mainly through 
a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. non-
current assets held for sale as well as assets classified as 
held for sale that relate to a discontinued operation are 
measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair 
value less costs to sell. Depreciation on these assets ceases 
on classification as held for sale.

Financial assets and liabilities

Financial assets
Financial assets are classified in accordance with iaS 39 in 
either of the following two categories: financial assets at 
fair value through profit or loss held for trading as well as 
loans and receivables. Financial assets are classified when 
originally acquired based on their purpose of use. all pur-
chases and sales of financial assets are recognized on the 
transaction date.

the financial assets at fair value through profit and 
loss comprise assets held for trading that in the tecnotree 
Group include liquid and highly liquid mutual fund invest-
ments. also foreign currency derivatives with positive fair 
values are classified as financial assets at fair value through 
profit and loss.

loans and receivables include trade receivables and other 
receivables measured at amortized cost less any impairment. 
Bank deposits are also classified as loans and receivables.

cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand and 
at banks and other short-term bank deposits with maturi-
ties less than three months, and highly liquid mutual fund 
investments.

recognition of financial assets takes place when the 
Group has lost the contractual right to cash flows or when 
it has substantially transferred the risks and rewards outside 
the Group.

Construction work in progress
construction work in progress is stated at the aggregate 
amount of revenue recognized less the invoiced amount. 
costs include all costs directly related to the Group’s con-
struction contracts and the allocation of fixed and production 
overheads. allocation is based on normal operating capacity.

Financial liabilities
Foreign currency derivatives with negative fair values are 
classified as financial liabilities at fair value through profit 
and loss.

other financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair 
value equivalent to the consideration received, adjusted 
with any transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recogni-
tion, these liabilities are stated at amortized cost calculated 
using the effective interest method. the financial liabilities 
are classified as current, unless the Group has an uncon-
ditional right to postpone the repayments more than 12 
months from the reporting date. 

Borrowing costs are recorded as an expense in the 
period in which they incur.

Derivative financial instruments 
the derivative contracts entered into by the tecnotree 
Group are currency forward contracts and options.

the Group does not apply hedge accounting as defined 
under iaS 39 although the derivatives are used to hedge 
trade receivables denominated in foreign currencies.

Derivative instruments are classified as financial assets 
or liabilities held for trading. Derivatives are fair valued. 
the fair value of the derivative contracts is determined by 
using market rates of the counterparty for instruments with 
similar maturity. Gains and losses arising from changes in 
the fair values are recognized in the income statement.
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Accounting principles requiring management  
judgments and key sources of estimation uncertainty 
to prepare the consolidated financial statements in accor-
dance with iFrSs management has to make estimates and 
assumptions concerning the future. actual results may dif-
fer from these estimates and assumptions. in addition man-
agement has to make judgments in the application of the 
accounting principles. 

these estimates mainly affect recognition of revenue 
and expenses, the measurement of assets, the capitaliza-
tion of development costs and the recognition of deferred 
tax assets and their utilization against future taxable in-
come.

the projects delivered and services rendered by the 
Group are often large, complicated and financially signifi-
cant. Management has to make judgments concerning the 
circumstances and conditions related to customer proj-
ects that may affect the timing of recognitions of project 
revenue and profitability of the project in its entirety. Such 
factors include assignment of sufficient number of skilful 
employees to each project or for example factors in the 
functioning of international and especially emerging mar-
kets that may partly lie out of control of the company or 
the customers. the completion of projects often requires 
new technical solutions that may cause unpredictable prob-
lems, delays and additional costs.

the Group tests goodwill annually for impairment and 
evaluates indications of impairment as stated in the account-
ing principles above. the recoverable amount from the 
cash-generating units is determined using calculations that 
are based on value in use and require the use of estimates.

in tecnotree development costs are monitored on a 
project-by-project basis and management always decides 
on the capitalization separately for each project. in order 
to qualify for capitalization the following criteria are to be 
met: the results of a project are of use to several custom-
ers, the product is technically feasible, it can be utilized 
commercially, its development costs can be monitored reli-
ably and the contents, objectives and timetable of a proj-
ect are documented and a profitability calculation is pre-
pared. amortization of development costs commences 
once the resulting product is ready for sale and its com-
mercial use has begun.

the amortization period is defined based on the useful 
life of assets and is generally 3-5 years. Management esti-
mates the depreciation period project-by-project basis taking 
into consideration assets’ foreseeable demand on the market.

Management monitors the feasibility and life cycle 
esti mates for development projects. if these estimates 
give indi cation of possible impairment of the capitalized 
develop ment costs, an impairment test is made based on 
value in use.

Application of new and amended IFRSs
iaSB has issued the following new or revised standards and 
interpretations not yet effective and which the Group has 
not yet applied. the Group will adopt them as from their 
effective dates if the effective date is the same as the be-
ginning of the financial year, or if the effective date is dif-
ferent, they will be adopted as from the beginning of the 
following financial year.

improvements to iFrSs, april 2010 (effective for annual 
periods	beginning	on	or	after	July	2010).	Minor	and	less	
urgent amendments to the standards are collected and 
imple mented once a year through the annual improve-
ments procedure. the Group estimates that the interpreta-
tions will not have an impact on the consolidated financial 
statements. the amendments have not yet been adopted 
by the eu.

amendment to iaS 32 Financial instruments: Presen-
tation (Classification on Rights Issues) (effective for an-
nual periods beginning on or after 1 February 2010). the 
change concerns the accounting treatment of shares, op-
tions and exercise rights in other currencies than the func-
tional currency of the issuer. the Group estimates that the 
amendment will not have an impact on the consolidated 
financial statements.

iFric 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity 
Instruments (effective for annual periods beginning on or 
after	1	July	2010).	The	interpretation	gives	instructions	on	
the accounting treatment of equity instruments which are 
issued to creditors extinguishing the liability entirely or 
partly. the Group estimates that the interpretation will not 
have an impact on the consolidated financial statements. 

revised iaS 24 Related Party Disclosures (effective for 
annual	periods	beginning	on	or	after	1	January	2011).	The	
changes simplify the disclosure requirements for companies 
under public control and clarify the definition of a related 
party. the Group estimates that the revised standard will not 
have an impact on the consolidated financial statements.

iFrS 9 Financial Instruments (effective for annual pe-
riods	beginning	on	or	after	1	January	2013).	IFRS	9	is	a	
part of the iaSB project aiming at a replacement of iaS 39 
Finan cial instruments: recognition and Measurement. the 

new standard deals with measurement of financial assets 
from the classification perspective. other iaS 39 instruc-
tions concerning impairment of financial assets and hedge 
accounting are still valid. iFrS 9 has not yet been adopted 
by the eu.

iFric 14 Prepayments of a Minimum Funding Require-
ment	(effective	for	annual	periods	beginning	or	after	1	Janu-
ary 2011). the aim of the amendments is to remove an un-
intended consequence of iFric 14 iaS 19 in cases where an 
entity subject to a minimum funding requirement makes an 
early payment of contributions where under certain circum-
stances the entity making such a prepayment would be re-
quired to recognize an expense. in the case where a defined 
benefit plan is subject to a minimum funding requirement 
the amendment to iDric 14 prescribes to treat this prepay-
ment, like any prepayment, as an asset. the Group esti-
mates an impact on the consolidated financial statements.

amendments to iFrS 7 Financial instruments (effec-
tive	for	annual	periods	beginning	on	or	after	1	July	2011).	
the amendments will allow users of financial statements to 
improve their understanding of transfer transactions of fi-
nancial assets (for example, securitizations), including un-
derstanding the possible effects of any risks of any require 
additional disclosures if a disproportionate amount of trans-
fer transactions are undertaken around the end of a report-
ing period. the Group estimates that the revised standard 
will not have an impact on the consolidated financial state-
ments. this amendment has not yet been adopted by eu.

amendments to iaS 12 Deferred Tax: recovery of 
Under lying Asset (effecting for annual periods beginning or 
after	1	January	2011).	The	amendment	does	provide	an	ex-
ception to the measurement of deferred tax liabilities and 
deferred tax assets should reflect the tax consequences that 
would follow from the manner in which the entity expects to 
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabi-
lities. the Group estimates that the revised standard will not 
have an impact on the consolidated financial statements. 
thin amendment has not yet been adopted by eu. 
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notes to the consolidated income statement

1. Segment reporting

As from the beginning of 2010, the operating segments under 
IFRS 8 reported by Tecnotree are the geographical areas, which 
are the Americas (north, central and South America), europe, 
MeA (Middle east and Africa), and APAc (Asia Pacific). This is be-
cause their results are monitored separately in the company’s inter-
nal financial reporting. Tecnotree’s chief operating decision maker, 
as referred to in IFRS 8, is the Group’s management board.

The result of the operating segment is the net of sum ob-
tained after adding other operating income to the net sales and 

then deduc ting purchasing costs adjusted by the change in stocks 
of finished products and work in progress, and other operating 
expenses that can be allocated to the segments on a reasonable 
basis. Other segments include costs of product development and 
administration as well as other operating expenses that can not be 
directly allocated to the operating segments according to the IFRS 
8 standard.

The new operating segments are reported from 1 January 2010 
onwards. The segment results of year 2009 are not presented in 
accor dance with the new segment structure, since the information 
is not available and the cost to develop it would be excessive.

Operating segments 2010

Americas Europe MEA APAC
Other 

segments Group totalEUR 1,000

net sales (external) 25,217 6,736 23,689 5,051 60,693

Segment result 8,928 2,966 16,087 1,856 29,837

non-allocated items -32,361 -32,361

Operating result before R&D capitaliza-
tion & amortization and one-time costs -2,524

Product development capitalization 592 592
Product development amortization -6,132 -6,132

Operating result -8,064

Net sales by geographical areas

EUR 1,000 2010 2009

net sales (external)

Americas

ecuador 5,692 9,583

Brazil 3,461 5,611

Argentina 3,450 2,260

Other countries 12,614 25,217 5,641 23,095

europe

Finland 2,225 2,133

Other countries 3,011 6,736 3,103 5,236

MeA 23,689 21,282

APAc 5,051 3,641

Group total 60,693 53,253

Information about major customers

EUR 1,000 2010         2009

 
 

Net sales

% of the 
Group's  

net sales

 
 

Net sales

% of the 
Group´s  

net sales
customer 1, operating segment: Americas 6,715 11% 9,788 18%

customer 2, operating segment: europe 1,388

APAc 478

MeA 4,398 6,264 12%

customer 3, operating segment: MeA 5,419 10%

the synergy benefits are expected to arise, and the other balance 
sheet items according to the approved allocation principles.

Tecnotree does not allocate its assets to the operating segments for 
the reporting purposes. For the purpose of impairment testing, the 
goodwill is allocated to the cash generating units according to how 

2. Acquisitions

2010
There were no acquisitions of subsidiaries or businesses during 
2010.

The purchase price calculation of Tecnotree India presented in 
the financial statements 2009 was preliminary. In the final purcha-
se price calculation, the fair value of customer contracts and the 
related customer relationships was assessed at eUR 482 thousand 
and the fair value of the order book at eUR 165 thousand. These 
values were included in goodwill in the preliminary calculation.
The amortization period for customer relationships is 5 years and 
for the order book 5 months, beginning on the date of acqui sition 
6 May 2009. The figures for the comparative period have been 
adjusted accordingly. The adjustments affecting the result in the 
comparative period are in amortizations of other intangible assets 
and deferred taxes relating to these.

2009
In December 2008 Tecnomen (currently Tecnotree) signed an 
agreement to acquire the Indian company Lifetree convergence 
Ltd. The acquisition was closed on 6 May 2009 after the receipt of 
regulatory and statutory approvals. Lifetree supplies convergent 
billing, customer care, rating, and messaging platforms.

In consequence of the acquisition, the holding company 
Life tree cyberworks Ltd became a fully owned subsidiary of 
Tecnomen, and Lifetree convergence Ltd (currently Tecnotree 
convergence Ltd), which is owned to 61.02 per cent by Lifetree 
cyberworks Ltd and has business operations, became a 96.51 per 
cent owned subsidiary of the Tecnotree Group. The acquisition 
also included the fully-owned subsidiaries of Lifetree convergence 
Ltd: Quill Publishers Private Ltd (India), Lifetree convergence Pty 
Ltd (South Africa) and Lifetree UK Ltd (UK), as well as the 95 per 
cent owned subsidiary Lifetree convergence nigeria Ltd (nigeria).

Tecnomen paid the shareholders of the companies conside-
ration of altogether eUR 21,286 thousand in cash. In addition, 

altogether 13,676,658 new Tecnomen corporation shares were 
issued to those selling the companies, for which the fair value was 
determined to be eUR 14,087 thousand. The basis for the fair value 
was the share price for Tecnomen shares on the acquisition date of 
6 May 2009. The acquisition cost also includes transaction costs of 
eUR 1,108 thousand.

The goodwill of eUR 18,491* thousand arising from the ac-
quisition is considered to be attributable to the synergy benefits 
expected and to the know-how of the personnel transferred in 
the acquisition. The acquisition also expands Tecnomen’s product 
portfolio and boosts cost efficiency.

Tecnotree’s net result for the period 1 January–31 December 
2009 includes a profit of eUR 3,595 thousand recorded by the ac-
quired company Tecnotree India. If the acquisition had taken place 
on 1 January 2009, Tecnotree’s net sales for the period 1 January 
–31 December 2009 would have been some eUR 58,212 thousand 
and the result about eUR -15,956* thousand.

Since Tecnotree did not apply the revised IFRS 3 standard 
before the effective date 1 July 2009, the IFRS 3 standard effective 
on the acquisition date 6 May 2009 is applied to the Lifetree acqui-
sition (in force as from 31 March 2004). The acquisition has been 
recognized on a preliminary basis as permitted by IFRS 3, since 
determination of the fair value of the company’s assets is partly 
incom plete at the time the financial statements are published.

Transaction with minority holders after the date of acquisition.
After the date of acquisition, Tecnotree acquired in stages a 
further 3.30 per cent of the shares of Tecnotree India from minority 
holders. A consideration of altogether eUR 671 thousand was paid 
in cash. In addition, altogether 677,241 new Tecnomen Lifetree 
corporation shares were issued to the minority. The fair value of 
the new shares was determined to be eUR 630 thousand. This 
increased Tecnotree’s ownership from 96.51 to 99.81 per cent and 
goodwill by eUR 647 thousand. 
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EUR 1,000

Fair value recognized 
on acquisition  

6 May 2009

 
Carrying value  

before 6 May 2009

Intangible assets:

Software products 3,273 319

customer contracts and the related customer relationships 482 *

Fair value of order book 165 *

Other intangible assets 732 732

Property, plant, and equipment 571 571

Deferred tax assets 788 788

non-current receivables 284 284

Inventories 139 139

Trade and other receivables 9,781 9,781

Investments 1,069 1,069

cash and cash equivalents 8,404 8,404

Total assets 25,688 * 22,087

Deferred tax liabilities 1,224

non-current liabilities 274 274

current liabilities 5,549 5,549

Total liabilities 7,047 5,823

Net assets 18,641 16,264

Share of net assets based on holding acquired 17,989 * 15,619

Acquisition cost:

consideration paid, settled in cash 21,286

consideration paid, settled through directed share issue 14,087
Transactions costs 1,108

Total acquisition cost 36,481

Goodwill on acquisition 18,492 *

Impact of acquisition on cash flow:

Purchase consideration settled in cash and transaction costs 22,394
cash and cash equivalents in subsidiaries acquired 8,404

Net cash outflow 13,990

* The figures for the comparative period have changed due to adjustments to the purchase price calculation for Tecnotree India.

3. Construction contracts

EUR 1,000 2010 2009

Revenue from contract work recognized by stage of completion 23,616 22,706

Revenue from maintenance and support 26,234 23,600

Revenue from goods and services 10,843 6,947

net sales total 60,693 53,253

Order book for contract work 8,183 8,557

Order book for maintenance and support, goods, and services 6,092 3,159

Order book total 14,275 11,716

Projects in progress:

cumulative revenue recognized for projects in progress 18,439 13,836

cumulative invoicing for projects in progress recognized by stage of completion 9,191 10,306

Accrued income related to construction contracts, work in progress 9,248 3,530

Aggregate amount of costs incurred for projects in progress 6,812 4,692

On the reporting date, the Group has no retentions held by customers. The Group has not received any advances related to projects in 
progress. 

4. Other operating income 

EUR 1,000 2010 2009

Gains on sale of non-current assets 1 17

commissions from partners 233

Other operating income 40 43

Other operating income total 40 293

5. Materials and services 

EUR 1,000 2010 2009

Purchases during the period -8,505 -9,469
Increase/decrease in inventories -863 94

Materials and supplies -9,368 -9,375

external services -767 -1,305

Materials and services total -10,135 -10,681
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6. Employee benefit expenses 

EUR 1,000 2010 2009

Wages and salaries -23,239 -22,927

Pension expenses, defined contribution plans -1,607 -2,246

Pension expenses, defined benefit plans -456 -137

Pension expenses total -2,063 -2,383

Share options granted -303 -161

Other employee benefits -3,511 -3,694

Other employee benefits total -3,814 -3,855

employee benefit expenses total -29,116 -29,165

Information about management board compensation is presented in note 30 and granted share options in note 21.

Average number of employees

Finland 72 89

Ireland 67 135

Other europe 9 11

India 559 327

Other east and Southeast Asia 20 21

Middle east 23 23

Brazil 47 59

Total 797 665

7. Depreciations and amortizations 

EUR 1,000 2010 2009

Depreciations by class of asset

Other intangible assets

capitalized development costs -6,178 -4,243

Other intangible assets -1,111 -1,020 *

Total -7,288 -5,263 *

Property, plant and equipment

Buildings -279 -279

Machinery and equipment -1,180 -1,313

Total -1,458 -1,591

Depreciation, amortization and impairment losses total -8,747 -6,855 *

* The figures for the comparative period have changed due to adjustments to the purchase price calculation for Tecnotree India.

8. Other operating expenses 

EUR 1,000 2010 2009

Subcontracting -2,828 -5,079

Office management costs -4,763 -3,958

Travel expenses -4,776 -4,076

Agent fees -3,707 -4,678

Rents -1,727 -1,550

Professional services -2,274 -1,572

Marketing -208 -415
Other expenses -516 -476

Other operating expenses total -20,800 -21,804

The subcontracting item in the operating expenses consists largely of amounts paid to Acccenture Services Oy for software development 
and maintenance for the voice messaging systems.

Auditors' fees
Audit -79 -99

Tax consulting -33 -46
Other services -40 -49

Auditors' fees total -152 -195

9. Research and development expenditure 

EUR 1,000 2010 2009

Research and development expenses incurred during the year, 
before capitalization of development costs -13,144

 
-14,506

capitalization of development costs 592 5,089
Amortization of capitalized development costs -6,132 -4,245

Research and development expenses recognized in income statement total -18,684 -13,663

The capitalization of the product developments expenses has decreased remarkable because the product development has focused more 
on the certain customers. These expenses has been booked as cost.
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10. Financial income and expenses 

EUR 1,000 2010 2009

Financial income
Financial income from financial assets at fair value through income statement 298 162

Financial income from loans and receivables 189 458

Other financial income 208 92

Foreign exchange gains on loans and receivables 392 352

Foreign exchange gains on financial liabilities at amortized cost 16
Unrealized gains from financial assets at fair value through income statement 210

Financial income total 1,087 1,290

Financial expenses
Financial expense from financial liabilities at amortized cost -258 -266

Other financial expenses -511 -687

Foreign exchange losses on loans and receivables -231 -346

Foreign exchange losses on financial liabilities at amortized cost -7

Other foreign exchange losses -1,392 -443
Unrealized losses from financial assets at fair value through income statement -48 -22

Financial expenses total -2,439 -1,770

Financial income and expenses total -1,352 -480

Items above the operating result include foreign exchange rate gains (net) eUR 99 thousand (eUR 276 thousand exchange gain losses  
(net) in 2009).

11. Income taxes 

EUR 1,000 2010 2009

current taxes -1,391 -1,433

Withholding taxes paid abroad -1,735 -1,542

Taxes for previous accounting periods -102 -95
change in deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets 1,670 2,034 *

Income taxes total -1,559 -766 *

Reconciliation of effective tax rate
Income tax reconciliation between tax expense computed at statutory rates in Finland (2010/2009: 26 per cent) and income tax expense.

EUR 1,000 2010 2009

Profit before taxes -9,416 -15,569

Income tax using Finnish tax rates 2,448 4,048 *

effect of different tax rates applied to foreign subsidiaries -558 -414

non-deductible expenses and tax-free income 1,494 -475 *

Forfeited withholding taxes -1,735 -1,542

Taxes of prior periods -102 -95

Utilization of previously unrecognized tax losses 413 233

Unrecognized deferred tax assets on tax losses 12 -1,625

Unrecognized deferred tax assets on research and development costs 
capitalized in the taxation -3,417 -919

Deferred tax liabilities on undistributed profits of a foreign subsidiary -881 572

Other capital allowances 768 -595

Taxes in income statement -1,559 -766 *

* The figures for the comparative period have changed due to adjustments to the purchase price calculation for Tecnotree India.

12. Earnings per share 

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attibutable to the eq-
uity holders of the parent company and the weighted average number of ordinary 
shares outstanding during the year.

EUR 1,000 2010 2009

Profit attributable to equity holders ( eUR 1,000) -10,953 -16,240

Weighted average number of shares during the year (1,000 shares) 73,496 68,039

Basic earnings per share, eUR -0.15 -0.24

Profit attributable to equity holders of the parent company  
for calculating diluted earnings per share (eUR 1,000) -10,953

 
-16,240 *

Weighted average number of shares during period (1,000 shares) 73,496 68,039

effect of share options (1,000 shares) 20 193

Weighted average number of shares  
for calculating diluted earnings per share (1,000 shares) 73,516

 
68,231

Diluted earnings per share, eUR -0.15 -0.24

* The figures for the comparative period have changed due to adjustments to the purchase price calculation for Tecnotree India.

The calculate diluted earnings per share, the weighted average 
number of shares taken into account the dilutive effect of con-
verting all potential ordinary shares into shares. The Group has 
share options that have a dilutive effect on the number of ordinary 
shares. Share options have a dilutive effect when the exercise price 
is lower that the fair value of the share. The amount of the dilution 

is the number of shares that can be considered as issued for no 
consideration since the company could not issue the same number 
of shares at fair value with the funds received from the share sub-
scribtion. The fair value of the shares is based on the average price 
of the share during the financial year.
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notes to the consolidated balance sheet

13. Intangible assets  

Intangible assets 2010
EUR 1,000

 
Goodwill

Product  
development costs

Other 
intangible assets

 
Total

Acquisition cost 1 Jan 19,591 31,493 8,818 59,903
exchange differences 2,014 -8 585 2,591
Increase 2 592 248 842

Acquisition cost 31 Dec 21,608 32,077 9,651 63,336
 

Accumulated amortizations and  
impairment losses 1 Jan

 
-11,588

 
-4,769

 
-16,358

exchange differences -12 -96 -108
Amortization during period -6,178 -1,124 -7,303

Accumulated amortizations and  
impairment losses 31 Dec

 
-17,779

 
-5,990

 
-23,769

Book value 31 Dec 2010 21,608 14,298 3,661 39,567

Intangible assets 2009
EUR 1,000

 
Goodwill

Product, 
development costs

Other 
intangible assets

 
Total

Acquisition cost 1 Jan 682 26,017 4,416 31,115
exchange differences -220 -6 -54 -280 *

Business combinations 18,492 393 4,259 23,143 *

Increase 638 5,089 215 5,941 *
Decrease -18 -18

Acquisition cost 31 Dec 19,591 31,493 8,818 59,903 *
 

Accumulated amortizations and impairment losses 1 Jan -7,343 -3,746 -11,090

exchange differences -2 -21 -23

Accumulated amortization for decreases and reclassifications 18 18
Amortization during period -4,243 -1,020 -5,263

Accumulated amortizations and impairment 
losses 31 Dec

 
-11,588

 
-4,769

 
-16,358 *

Book value 31 Dec 2009 19,591 19,904 4,049 43,545 *

* The figures for the comparative period have changed due to adjustments to the purchase price calculation for Tecnotree India.

Goodwill and impairment testing
The major part of the goodwill arose on the acquisition of Lifetree, which is disclosed in note 2. For the purpose of impairment testing, 
goodwill has been allocated to the operating segments europe, Middle-east and Africa, Asia Pasific and the Americas, which constitute 
cash generating units. The carrying value of goodwill is allocated as follows:

 
Europe

Middle-East  
and Africa

 
Asia and Pasific

 
Americas

 
Total

Goodwill 31 Dec 2010                                                                    
EUR 1,000 432 15 126 648 5 402 21 608

 
Europe

Middle-East  
and Africa

 
Asia Pasific

 
Americas

The change of (WAcc), in percentage points 1.1% 3.1% 1.5% 0.5%

change of estimated growth rate in calculating residual 
value, in percentage points

 
-1.3%

 
-5.0%

 
-2.0%

 
-0.7%

14. Property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment 2010
EUR 1,000

Land and 
water areas

 
Buildings

Machinery and 
equipment

Investments in 
progress

 
Total

Acquisition cost 1 Jan 2,069 7,534 32,023 22 41,648

Translation differences 405 405

Increase 856 175 1,031

Decrease -11 -180 -191

Acquisition cost 31 Dec 2,069 7,534 33,272 17 42,893

 

Accumulated depreciations and  
impairment losses 1 Jan -4,770 -29,574 -34,343

Translation differences -236 -236

Accumulated depreciation for decreases and 
reclassifications

8 8

Depreciation during period -279 -1,194 -1,473

Accumulated depreciations and impairment 
losses 31 Dec -5,048 -30,996 -36,044

Book value 31 Dec 2010 2,069 2,485 2,277 17 6,849

The recoverable amounts of goodwill are determined based on 
value in used calculations. The cash flow forecasts rely on fore-
casts approved by the Managements Board. The forecasts cover 
a five-year period. The key variables in defining cash flows are the 
company's level of operating result, discount rate and the cash 
flows subsequent to the forecast period (residual value). The level 
of operating result is based on budget and forecasts. The level 
of operating result during the forecast period is estimated to 
improve. The pre-tax discount rate applied is 9.7 (10.1) per cent, 
determined by using the weighted average cost of capital (WAcc). 
The decrease in the discount rate compared to the previous year is 
mainly due to decrease in the expected risk-free interest rate and 
calculatory risk premium related to liabilities. The growth rate used 

in calculating the cash flows of the residual value is 2.5 per cent 
(3.0). The management estimates the development of these fac-
tors based on internal and external views of the history and future 
of the industrial sector.

In the goodwill impairment test, the sensitivity of the outcome 
is estimated through changes in key variables. The segment-wise 
sensitivity analysis is presented in the table below. In the analy-
sis, it is presented how many percentage points the used pre-tax 
discounting rate and the growth rate in calculating residual value 
should change, other variables remaining constant, that the esti-
mated cash flow would match with the carrying amount of the test-
ed assets on 31 December 2010.

Product development costs and impairment testing
capitalized product development costs include eUR 824 (9,226) 
thousand such products in progress that are not yet in commercial 
use, and are therefore not amortized. These intangibles in pro-
gress are tested for impairment annually, and they are allocated 

to cash generating units as follows: VAS eUR 824 (4,481) thousand 
and BSS/OSS 0 (4,745) thousand. Based on the impairment tests 
performed, there is no need to recognize an impairment loss on 
intangibles in progress. Research and development costs recorded 
in the income statement are presented in note 9.
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Property, plant and equipment 2009
EUR 1,000

Land and 
water areas

 
Buildings

Machinery and 
equipment

Investments in 
progress

 
Total

Acquisition cost 1 Jan 2,069 7,539 29,888 22 39,518

Translation differences 396 396

Increase 1,214 1,214

Business combinations 571 571

Decrease -45 -45

Reclassifications between items -6 6

Acquisition cost 31 Dec 2,069 7,534 32,029 22 41,653

Accumulated depreciations and  
impairment losses 1 Jan -4,491 -27,988 -32,479
Translation differences -296 -296
Accumulated depreciation for  
decreases and reclassifications

23 23

Depreciation during period -279 -1,313 -1,591
Accumulated depreciations and  
impairment losses 31 Dec -4,770 -29,574 -34,343

Book value 31 Dec 2009 2,069 2,764 2,455 22 7,310

Deferred taxes 2009 
EUR 1,000

 
1 Jan 2009

Translation 
differences

Recognized in 
income statement

Business 
combination

 
31 Dec 2009

Deferred tax assets
capital allowances in the Ireland subsidiary 137 6 143

capital allowances in India 572 816 1 389

Other items 1 17 -28 -11
Total 137 1 595 788 1 522

Deferred tax liabilities

capitalized development costs at group level and in 
taxation of the parent company 4,263 -2,204 2,059

Undistributed profits of foreign subsidiaries 572 572

Allocations of goodwill on business combination -22 -204 1,224 997 *

net asset in pension plan 31 25 56

change in fair value of investments 15 53 68

Accumulated depreciation difference 220 34 254

Other items 1 15 15
Total 4,529 -22 -1,709 1,224 4,022 *

* The figures for the comparative period have changed due to adjustments to the purchase price calculation for Tecnotree India.

15. Deferred tax assets and liabilities 

Deferred taxes 2010
EUR 1,000

 
1 Jan 2010

Translation 
differences

Recognized in 
income statement

Business 
combination

 
31 Dec 2010

Deferred tax assets
capital allowances in the Ireland subsidiary 143 12 155

capital allowances in the India subsidiary 1,389 169 775 2,333

Other items -11 7 -3
Total 1,522 169 794 2,485

 

Deferred tax liabilities

capitalized development costs at group level and in 
taxation of the parent company 2,059 -1,267 792

Undistributed profits of foreign subsidiaries 572 881 1,453

Allocations of goodwill on business combination 997 122 -258 861

net asset in pension plan 56 -44 12

change in fair value of investments 68 -68

Accumulated depreciation difference 254 -29 225

Other items 15 -28 -13
Total 4,022 122 -814 3,330

Tecnomen Lifetree corporation has not deducted research and 
development costs amounting to eUR 30,646  (17,580) thousand 
in its taxation. The amount can be deducted over an indefinite 
period with amounts that the company may freely decide. On 
these capitalizations, the company has recognized a deferred tax 
asset of eUR 2,275 thousand, corresponding to 29 per cent of the 
capitalized research and development costs. Deferred tax assets 
have been recognized to the extent that it is probable that future 
taxable profits will be available.

Part of these research and development costs have been 
capitalized in the consolidated balance sheet, and therefore the 
deductible temporary difference for which the Group has not 
recog nized a deferred tax asset is eUR 5,887 (5,997) thousand. In 
addition, the Group has tax losses in Finland of eUR 4,515 (6,248) 
thousand, tax losses in Brazil of eUR 4,914 (4,904) thousand and 
other deductible temporary differences of eUR 961 (837) thousand, 
for which deferred tax assets have not been recognized because 
of the uncertainty about utilizing them.

Undistributed profits of foreign subsidiaries, for which no de-
ferred tax liabilities have been recognized since the funds are in-
vested permanently in the counties in questions, amount to eUR 
16,129 (14,185) thousand.
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16. Non-current trade and other receivables 

EUR 1,000 2010 2009

net asset in pension plan (note 22) 45 215
Other non-current receivables 696 691

non-current trade and other receivables total 741 906

17. Inventories

EUR 1,000 2010 2009

Materials and consumables 795 929

Work in progress 135 180
Finished products/goods 93 222

Inventories total 1,023 1,331

During the period the write-down of inventories to net realizable value amounted to eUR 114 (43) thousand.

18. Trade and other current receivables

EUR 1,000 2010 2009

Trade receivables related to construction contracts 5,736 10,906

Other trade receivables 11,659 8,434

Work in progress related to construction contracts 9,248 3,530

Finished work related to construction contracts 8,301 5,597

Other receivables based on delivery agreements 4,296 5,611

current prepaid expenses and accrued income 2,336 2,391

Other current receivables 63 113

Trade and other receivables total 41,637 36,582

Fair values of receivables are stated in note 27. The retention amount from work in progress related to construction contracts at the end of 
the year is stated in note 3. In the MeA region, there have been delays in the payments from one government owned customer. Due to the 
situation, an impairment of eUR 0.9 million has been booked in respect of trade receivables which totalled eUR 5.9 million.

Major items included in current prepaid expenses and accrued income
Valuation of currency derivatives 336 211

Prepaid taxes 63 262

Other prepaid expenses and accrued income 1,937 1,917

Total 2,336 2,391

19. Cash and cash equivalents

EUR 1,000 2010 2009

Bank deposits with maturities of more than 3 months 630 1,577
Investments total 630 1,577

cash in hand and at bank 9,810 8,946

Bank deposits with maturities of less than 3 months 415
Mutual fund investments, highly liquid 6,928 16,313

cash and cash equivalents total 16,737 25,674

20. Notes to the shareholders' equity 

 
 
EUR 1,000

Number of  
outstanding shares  

(1,000 shares)

 
 

Share capital

 
Share premium 

fund

 
 

Own shares

Invested  
unrestricted  

equity reserve

 
 

Total
1 Jan 2010 73,496 4,720 847 -122 12,634 18,080

31 Dec 2010 73,496 4,720 847 -122 12,634 18,080
 
Tecnotree corporation has one share series. The maximum number of shares is 100,272 (100,272) thousand.  
All the issued shares are fully paid.

Descriptions of funds in shareholders' equity

 
Share premium fund
In those cases where rights were granted during the period when 
the old companies Act (29 Sept 1978/734) was in force, the pay-
ments received for option-based share subscriptions, less transac-
tion costs, have been made recorded in the share capital and share 
premium fund in accordance with the terms of the arrangement.

Own shares
Own shares includes the aquisition cost of company shares held by 
the Group. On the reporting date, the number of company shares 
held by the Group was 134,800 (134,800 in 2009). Own shares have 
been deducted from the number of shares when calculating per 
share ratios.

Reserve for invested unrestricted equity
The reserve for incested unrestricted equity includes other invest-
ments of equity nature and subscription prices for shares to the 
extent that it is specifically decided not to be credited to the share 
capital. The payments received for share subscriptions based on 
the options granted after the entry into force (1 Sept 2006) of the 
new Limited Liability companies Act (21 July 2006/624) are fully 
recognized in the reserve for invested unrestricted equity.

Other reserves
Other reserves contains the reserve of the parent company, 
where funds were transferred when reducing funds from the share 
premium fund, as well as the difference between fair value and 
exercise price of the shares issued in 2009.

Translation differences
Translation differences include exchange gains and losses arising 
from the translation of the financial statements of foreign subsidiaries.

Dividend and capital repayment
After the reporting date the Board of Directors has proposed that 
no dividend be paid for the financial year ended 31 December 
2010. In 2010 no dividend was paid for the financial year that 
ended on 31 December 2009.
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The table below shows the basic terms of share-based payments programs 

2010 Share options 2006 Share options 2009

2006A 2006B 2006C 2009A 2009B 2009C
Basic information
Date of the Annual General Meeting 15.3.2006 15.3.2006 15.3.2006 19.3.2009 19.3.2009 19.3.2009

Grant dates 21.4.2006 20.11.2007 7.5.2009 7.5.2009 7.5.2009

Maximum number of share options 667,000 667,000 667,000 1,026,005 2,394,013 3,420,018

number of granted options 304,000 667,000 686,171 1,096,207 1,566,011

number of exercisable shares per option 1 1 1 1 1 1

Original exercise price 2.73 € 1.56 € 1.12 € 0.86 € 0.86 € 0.86 €

Dividend adjustment Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes

exercise price 31 Dec 2006 2.71 €

exercise price 31 Dec 2007 2.61 € 1.46 €

exercise price 31 Dec 2008 * expired 1.39 € 1.05 €

exercise price 31 Dec 2009 ** expired 1.32 € 0.98 € 0.86 € 0.86 € 0.86 €

exercise period starts *** 1.4.2007 1.4.2008 1.4.2009 1.4.2009 1.4.2010 1.4.2011

exercise period ends 30.4.2010 30.4.2011 30.4.2012 31.3.2011 31.3.2012 31.3.2013

Term to maturity, years expired 0.33 1.33 0.25 1.25 2.25

* A dividend of eUR 0.07 per share was distributed for the accounting period 2007.
** A dividend of eUR 0.07 per share was distributed for the accounting period 2008.
*** The start of the exercise period of the maximum of two thirds of the option rights 2009B and 2009c is conditional upon the revenue 
and profitability targets determined by the company's Board of Directors.

The changes in options during the period and the weighted average exercise prices are as follows:

2010 Share options 2006 Share options 2009

2006A 2006B 2006C 2009A 2009B 2009C
Number of options at the beginning of the period

Outstanding options 1 Jan 304,000 667,000 265,554 619,627 885,181

Changes during the period
Granted options 354,750 476,580 680,830

Returned options -494,000 65,867 -10,830

exercised options

Number of options at the end of the period
Outstanding options 31 Dec 0 173,000 686,171 1,096,207 1,555,181

exercisable 31 Dec 0 173,000 686,171 1,096,207

The trade-weighted average price during the  
exercise period, eUR * 0.74 0.74 0.74

* The trade-weighted average price of Tecnotree corporation's share for the whole year 2010.      

2009 Share options 2006 Share options 2009

2006A 2006B 2006C 2009A 2009B 2009C
Number of options at the beginning of the period

Outstanding options 1 Jan 304,000 667,000

Changes during the period
Returned options 265,554 619,627 885,181

exercised options

expired options 

Number of options at the end of the period
Outstanding options 31 Dec 304,000 667,000 265,554 619,627 885,181

exercisable 31 Dec 304,000 667,000 265,554

The trade-weighted average price during the  
exercise period, eUR * 1.02 1.02 1.04 1.04

* The trade-weighted average price of Tecnotree corporation's share for the whole year 2009 (2006A and B), and April–December 2009 
(2006c and 2009A). 

21. Share-based payments

In 2010, Tecnotree Group had two effective option programs that 
are part of the system to motivate and retain the key personnel. 
The option programs were approved by the Annual General Mee-
ting in 2006 and 2009. The subtypes of the option programs are 
valid from two to five years from their issue and the exercise period 
is two or three years. Option rights are issued to the key personnel 
of Tecno tree Group or to the subsidiary in Tecnotree Group by the 
decision of the Board of Directors in accordance with the terms of 
the option programs. The subsidiary can give the options further 
to the target group by the decision of the Board of Directors. The 
options are equity-settled.

If the employment of the share option holder ceases be-
fore the options are exercible for some other reason than the 
employee's death or reaching statutory retirement age in ac-
cordance with the terms of employment or if the company has 
otherwise specified retirement, then the employee shall imme-
diately offer the company or a person designated by the company 
without consideration any share options for which the subscription 
period has not begun on the date when employment ceased. In 

addition to the condition of remaining in employment, the start 
of the exercise period of the maximum of two thirds of the option 
rights 2009B and 2009c is conditional upon the revenue and pro-
fitability targets determined by the company's Board of Directors. 
Once options subscription period has started they can be freely 
transferred, and the employee may sell or subscribe the share 
options to a third party. 

The fair value of the options granted is valued using the Black-
Scholes formula at their grant date and those will be recorded as 
an expense in the income statement during the vesting period. 
The share subscription price for the option includes a dividend 
adjustment, and it is thus not necessary to calculate or take into 
account future Tecnotree dividends when calculating the fair value.



63 64tecnotree 2010 conSoliDateD Financial StateMentS tecnotree 2010  conSoliDateD Financial StateMentS

22. Pension obligations

The Group has defined benefit pension plans in Finland and India. The pension plans are administered by insurance companies.  
The amount of the plan benefit is based on final salary and number of years in service. The defined benefit plan in Finland is a voluntary 
pension insurance plan for the management. The defined benefit plans in India constitute the obligatory pension and termination benefits 
for the employees.

EUR 1,000 2010 2009

Defined benefit asset in the balance sheet:
Present value of funded obligations 1,554 873

Present value of unfunded obligations 388 266
Fair value of plan assets (-) -950 -738

Surplus (-) / Deficit 992 400
Unrecognized actuarial gains (+) / losses (-) -621 -309

net liability (+) / asset (-) 371 91

Pension obligations (note 24) 415 306
Pension assets (note 16) -45 -215

net liability (+) / asset (-) 371 91

Defined benefit expense in the income statement:
current service cost 328 135

Interest cost 61 23

expected return on plan assets -43 -22
Recognized net actuarial gains (-) / losses (+) 110 1

Pension expense recognized in income statement 456 137

Change in the defined benefit obligation:
Defined benefit obligation in the beginning of the year 1,138 309

Business combination 420

Translation differences 61 -4

current service cost 328 135

Interest cost 61 23
Actuarial gains (-) / losses (+) 323 256

Defined benefit obligation at the end of the year 1,912 1,138

Change in plan assets:
Plan assets beginning of the year 738 379

Business combination 162

Translation differences 11 -2

expected return on plan assets 44 22

Actuarial gains (+) / losses (-) -36 -7
contributions paid into the plans 199 184

Plan assets end of the year 957 738

The changes in options during  
the period and the weighted average 
exercise prices Share options 2009              

2010
Share options 2009              

2009
Share options 2006              

2010
Share options 2006              

2009
No. of 

options
Exercise 

price
No. of 

options
Exercise 

price
No. of 

options
Exercise 

price
No. of 

options
Exercise 

price

Granted 1 Jan 1,770,362 971,000 1.68 € 971,000 1.75 €

exercisable at 1 Jan 265,554 0.86 € 971,000 1.68 € 971,000 1.75 €

Granted during the period 1,578,027 1,770,362 0.86 €

Returned during the period
 

-10,830
 

-494,000
exercised during the period

expired during the period -304,000

Granted options 31 Dec 3,337,559 0.86 € 1,770,362 0.86 € 173,000 1.68 € 971,000 1.68 €

exercisable 31 Dec 1,782,378 0.86 € 265,554 0.86 € 173,000 1.68 € 971,000 1.68 €

The main assumptions in the Black-Scholes formula

2009A 2009B 2009C

number of granted options 420,617 476,580 680,830

Share price 0.97 € 0.97 € 0.97 €

exercise price, eUR 0.86 € 0.86 € 0.86 €

Risk-free interest rate 1.2% 1.3% 1.8%

expected term of validity, years 1.2 2.2 3.2

Volatility * 32.6% 32.4% 32.5%

Options to be forfeited 0.0% 42.1% 42.1%

Fair value total, eUR 1,000 70 68 104

* The future volatility of Tecnotree corporation's share is estimated based on the historical share price volatility using monthly observations 
for a period similar to the maturity of the option. The Black-Scholes formula assumes that option exercises occur at the end of the option's 
contractual term, which for 2009A options is 31 March 2011, for 2009B options 31 March 2012, and for 2009c options 31 March 2013.

in 2009 and 2010, no options were exercised. eur 303 (161) thou-
sand were recorded as an expense in the income statement. Dur-
ing the financial year, 1,578,027 (1,770,362) new options were 
granted.

tecnotree has issued the share-based instruments in stages, 
so the program has many grant dates as defined in iFrS 2. the 

grant date, in other words the date for measuring fair value, is ei-
ther the final day in the period for defining the share subscription 
price or the grant date set by the Board for the option series in 
question, if this date is after the period for setting the subscription 
price. the prevailing share price on the grant date is based on the 
closing prices on the grant dates.

Recognized gains on plan assets were eUR 15 (15) thousand. experience adjustments arising on plan assets were eUR -14 (-7) thousand 
and on plan obligations eUR 199 (153) thousand. There is no information available on plan assets. contributions to be paid in year 2011 is 
expected to be eUR 262 thousand.
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24. Other non-current liabilities

EUR 1,000 2010 2009

Pensions obligations (note 22) 415 306
non-current tax liabilities 1 1

Other non-current liabilities total 416 307

25. Trade payables and other liabilities

EUR 1,000 2010 2009

Advances received 1,005 971

Trade payables 5,932 2,263

Accrued liabilities and deferred income 5,333 7,993

Other liabilities 1,069 2,199
current provisions * 736 4,700

Trade payables and other liabilities total 14,075 18,127

Accrued liabilities and deferred income
Accrued personnel expenses 2,040 3,410

Accrued agent fees 1,211 1,583

Accrued project costs 652 1,314

Accrued taxes 377 60

Valuation of currency derivatives 255 131

Valuation of interest rate swap 335 95
Other accrued liabilities and deferred income 461 1,399

Total 5,333 7,993

* current provisions include the following items: In the europe segment, a provision of eUR 700 (eUR 3,679) thousand was directed for the 
costs rising from a customer project. Of the provision, eUR 2,979 thousand has been used during the year 2010, and the rest will be used 
in 2011. 

Restructuring provisions of eUR 1,021 thousand due to personnel reductions during 2009 in Finland and Ireland. The provision has 
been used during 2010.

EUR 1,000 2010 2009

Actuarial assumptions at reporting date % %

Finland: 
Discount rate 4.30 5.10

expected return on plan assets 4.50 4.50

Future salary increases 3.50 3.50

India:
Discount rate 8.00 7.60

expected return on plan assets 7.00 6.00

Future salary increases 10.00 7.45

23. Interest-bearing liabilities 

EUR 1,000 2010 2009

non-current loans from financial institutions 14,434 16,650
non-current finance lease liabilities 73 14

Total 14,507 16,664

current loans from financial institutions 5,216 2,223
current finance lease liabilities 27 44

Total 5,243 2,266

Interest-bearing liabilities total 19,751 18,931

The loans from financial institutions consist of one loan eUR 16,650 thousand which is raised for financing the acquisition of Lifetree  
convergence Ltd and loan eUR 3,000 thousand from the available credit limit. The loan is denominated in euro with a floating interest rate.

Maturity analysis of finance lease liabilities

Minimum lease payments, less than one year 28 47

Minimum lease payments, 1–5 years 77 17

Total 105 64

Present value of minimum lease payments, less than one year 27 44
Present value of minimum lease payments, 1–5 years 73 14
Total 100 58

Future financial charges 10 7
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quate operative hedging and therefore hedging instruments are 
not usually used. The Group does not hedge the other currency 
positions, since they are not significant.

All decisions about hedging are made in the Group’s finance 
department, which assesses the hedging needs on a monthly 
basis. The hedging actions and hedging position are reported to 
the Audit committee on a quarterly basis. 

The Group is hedging the US dollar currency denominated 
cash flow position for a maximum period of 12 months for 50–100 
per cent of the net position. Hedging is carried into effect with 
foreign exchange forwards and options. On the reporting date, 63 
per cent (74%) of the open currency position was hedged. 

US dollar denominated cash inflow is mainly converted into 
euros and in India into rupees. Some cash reserves are held in 
US dollar in order to manage forthcoming US dollar payments. If 
such US dollar cash position occurs, it is accounted for as part of 
total currency exposure, which is hedged against currency risk as 
described above.

Sensitivity analysis for market risks
The functional currency of the parent company is euro. Finan cial 
assets and liabilities nominated in US dollars are presented in 
the table below. Figures are translated to euros at the year-end 
exchange rate.

31 Dec 
2010

31 Dec 
2009

EUR 1,000 Note USD USD

Current assets
Trade and other receivables 18 11,596 3,682
Other receivables related to  
construction contracts

 
18 11,727 8,608

cash and cash equivalents 19 2 424
currency derivatives 18 336 211

Total current assets  23,661 12,925

Current liabilities
Trade payables and other liabilities 25 406 673
currency derivatives 25 255 131

Total current liabilities  661 804

In the sensitivity analysis below, the effect of strengthening and 
weakening of the USD exchange rate against eUR is presented 
with all other factors remaining unchanged. Analysis is perfor-
med only for the assets and liabilities denominated in USD as the 
transaction risk inherent to financial assets and liabilities in other 
currencies is insignificant. The analyzed change in the exchange 
rate represents a possible volatility of the currency during a twelve 

month period. The resulted effect in the analysis stems largely 
from the USD denominated trade receivables and from cash and 
cash equivalents. Fluctuation in exchange rates has no direct effect 
on equity as the Group does not apply hedge accounting.

2010 2009
EUR 1,000 USD USD USD USD

change in percentage -10% +10% -10% +10%
effect on the result after 
taxes -1,527 2,568

 
-1,010

 
1,259

 
Translation risk
Tecnotree India and its subsidiaries are consolidated into Tecnot-
ree Group as from 6 May 2009, and the Group is therefore expo-
sed to the risks incurred when the net investments denominated 
in InR are translated into euro, the functional currency of the 
parent company. On the reporting date, the open translation risk 
for the Indian subgroup was eUR 44,491 (39,658) thousand. This 
net investment is not hedged, mainly because of local currency 
restrictions and high cost of hedging. The sensitivity for translation 
risk was analyzed by determining the effects of 10 per cent strengt-
hening and weakening of the InR exchange rate against eUR, all 
other factors remaining unchanged.

2010 2009
EUR 1,000 InR InR InR InR

change in percentage -10% +10% -10% +10%

effect on the result 
after taxes -439 536 -316 387

effect on equity -4,044 4,943 -3,605 4,406

 

The exposure for translation risk related to net investments in 
other foreign subsidiaries is not significant and is therefore neither 
hedged nor analysed for sensitivity. On the reporting date, the 
open translation risk position for the Brazilian subsidiary was eUR 
6,514 (4,603) thousand and for the Malaysian subsidiary eUR 2,781 
(2,360). The change in translation difference in equity caused by 
fluctuations in exchange rates for these two subsidiaries was eUR 
1,160 (797) thousand. 

Interest rate risk
The Group’s interest rate risk management focuses on the optimal 
management of liquid funds in sense of profitability and safety and 
interest rate risk management of bank loans. The majority of liquid 
funds are invested in short-term bank deposits and short-term 
interest funds in which the maturity is not more than three months. 

On the reporting date, the Group held such investments amoun-
ting to eUR 7,557 (18,305) thousand.

On the reporting date, bank loans totaled eUR 19,650 (18 889) 
thousand consisting of eUR 16,650 thousand bank loan and eUR 
3,000 thousand credit facility in use. On the reporting date, bank 
loans, except for the credit line, were hedged against currency risk. 
The interest rate risk of the hedged portion is limited to the fair 
value adjustments of the hedging instruments.

Interest rate sensitivity was analyzed by determining the 
effects of one percentage unit’s change in the interest rates on the 
Group’s interest-bearing financial instruments on an annual level. 
The analysis included all the significant interest-bearing financial 
instruments of the Group totaling eUR 8,705 (8,320) thousand. 

On the reporting date, an increase / a decrease of one percen-
tage unit in the interest rates would have increased / decreased 
the net income after tax by eUR 140 / -140 (182 / -154) thousand, 
considering that interest rates cannot turn negative. changes in 
interest rates would not have had a direct effect on equity. The ef-
fect of an increase and a decrease in the interest rates is presented 
with all other factors remaining unchanged.

Price risk
Tecnotree Group does not own any equity or other financial 
instruments with values tied to other market prices than interest or 
currency rates. 

Liquidity risk
The Group seeks to constantly assess and monitor the amount 
of liquid funds to ensure the sufficient amount of funding nee-
ded in daily business. Liquid funds are invested, avoiding credit 
and liquidity risks, in objects with a good credit rating, making 
sure of sufficient liquidity for capital expenditure and purchases. 
According to the Group’s cash management policy, investments 
are made in fixed-term bank deposits with maturities less than 3 
months, mutual interest funds or debt instruments of the state of 
Finland or of legal entities owned over 50% by the state. equity 
instruments are not used.

On the reporting date, the Group’s cash in hand and at bank 
were eUR 11,897 (8,946) thousand and cash equivalents eUR 7,557 
(16,728). Tecnotree has a committed credit facility of eUR 10 milli-
on of which eUR 3 million was utilized on year end.

Maturity analysis of financial liabilities is presented in the table 
below. The figures are presented in gross amounts. The bank loan 
agreement includes a financial covenant. A breach of the cove-
nant will give the bank the right to demand the entire loan to be 
repaid. The covenant is based on interest-bearing net liabilities 
in proportion to adjusted operating result before depreciations 
and amortizations (eBITDA). On the reporting date, the covenant 
requirements were met with a 6 per cent margin.

26. Financial risk management

Risk management principles
the task of risk management is to identify, manage, and track the 
major risks in the Group’s business and business environment to 
enable the Group to achieve its strategic and financial goals in the 
best possible way. the responsibilities of the audit committee in-
clude ensuring that the company has adequate internal monitor-
ing system in place. the Group’s policy for hedging against risks is 
approved by the Board of Directors and the Group’s financial di-
rector is responsible for implementing it in practice. 

the objective of the Group’s financial risk management is to 
minimize the effects of volatility for recognized major market risks 
on the Group’s result and balance sheet. tecno tree Group does 
not apply hedge accounting as defined under iaS 39.

Risk management organization
the risk management process is supported by the Manage ment 
Board. the Management Board reports the major risks to the au-
dit committee.

the Group’s financial management is responsible for manag-
ing foreign exchange, interest rate and liquidity risks, and for tak-
ing out insurance against operational risks.

Market risks

Currency risk
the financial risk to which the Group is exposed in its operations is 
mainly currency risk. tecnotree Group uses derivatives in order to 
eliminate the financial uncertainty caused by the fluctuations of the 
exchange rates. changes in exchange rates create risks especially 
in receivables and order backlog. tecnotree Group’s reporting and 
presentation currency is euro, but a significant part of Group’s rev-
enue is in uS dollars. the Group’s open translation risk comes from 
the investments in three foreign subsidiaries, india (rupees, inr), 
Brazil (real, Brl) and Malaysia (ringgit, MYr).

Transaction risk
the Group’s open currency position comprises foreign currency 
denominated, sales related balance sheet items, cash and cash 
equivalents balance, currency denominated order backlog and 
binding currency denominated purchase and sales contracts. on 
the reporting date, the open uS dollar position was eur 30,623 
(16,999) thousand. 

In the policy for approval of sales contracts, it is required that 
only the euro or the US dollar can be used as the sales currency. 
There shall not be any clauses tying the payments into any other 
currencies. Sales offices, when selling within their own country, 
use their own local currency. If any other currencies than euro, US 
dollar or sales offices’ local currency are used in sales contracts, it 
requires a prior written approval from the group cFO. 

In 2010, 23 per cent of invoicing was in euro, 70 per cent in US 
dollars, 4 per cent in BRL, and 3 per cent in other currencies. The 
Group is hedging the open US dollar currency position. The Group 
does not hedge the open InR and BRL currency position, partly 
because of local currency restrictions and high cost of hedging. 
Sales in InR and BRL and purchases related to them form ade-
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27. Carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities by measurement categories 

2010 
EUR 1,000 Note

Financial assets/liabilities 
at fair value through  

income statement
Loans and 

receivables

Financial liabilities 
measured at 

amortized cost

Carrying amounts 
by balance  
sheet item Fair value

Current financial assets
Trade and other receivables 18 336 17,395 17,731 17,731

Investments 19 630 630 630
cash and cash equivalents 19 6,928 9,810 16,737 16,737

carrying amount by category 7,264 27,834 35,097 35,097

Non-current financial liabilities

non-current interest-bearing 
liabilities 23 14,434 14,434 14,434

carrying amount by category 14,434 14,434 14,434

Current financial liabilities

current interest-bearing  
liabilities 23 5,216 5,216 5,216

Trade and other payables 25 590 5,932 6,523 6,523

carrying amount by category 590 11,148 11,739 11,739

2009 
EUR 1,000 € Note

Financial assets/liabilities 
at fair value through  

income statement
Loans and 

receivables

Financial liabilities 
measured at 

amortized cost

Carrying amounts 
by balance  
sheet item Fair value

Current financial assets
Trade and other receivables 18 211 19,340 19,552 19,552

Investments 19 1,577 1,577 1,577
cash and cash equivalents 19 16,313 9,361 25,674 25,674

carrying amount by category 16,524 30,278 46,803 46,803

Non-current financial liabilities

non-current interest-bearing 
liabilities 23 16,650 16,650 16,650

carrying amount by category 16,650 16,650 16,650

Current financial liabilities

current interest-bearing  
liabilities 23 2,223 2,223 2,223

Trade and other payables 25 226 2,263 2,490 2,490

carrying amount by category 226 4,486 4,712 4,712

Credit risk
credit risk arises from the potential failure of counterparty to meet 
its contractual payment obligations. The amount of risk depends on 
the creditworthiness of the counter party. The total amount of credit 
risk inherent to financial instruments, i.e. the total carrying amount 
of financial assets on the reporting date, was eUR 35,097 (46,803) 
thousand. The financial assets are specified in note 27. The most 
significant separate item of credit risk is the trade recei vables. 

Responsibility for sales-related credit risks lies primarily with 
the local sales company. The credit quality of customers is regu-
larly monitored by the finance department together with sales 
management, using data on payment history and reports from 
external sources. credit rating checks are made on new customers 
before confirming an offer. 

The procedure for granting of credit for new customers or 
customers from countries with high risk rating always requires the 
acceptance of the Group cFO. Tecnotree has not arranged financing 
for customers with third parties. The amount of credit losses recogni-
zed in the income statement during the past few years has not been 
substantial. However, the acquisition of Tecnotree India in May 2009 
has increased the amount of overdue trade receivables in the Group.

Tecnotree’s largest customers are much bigger businesses than 
the Group itself. The relationship between the Group and its major 
customers is one of interdependence, which poses a potential risk 
but also offers significant new business opportunities. Information 
about major customers is disclosed in note 1.

The credit quality of financial institutions is monitored by the 
finance department. The parent company’s counterparties are rest-
ricted to financial institutions with legal entities in Finland specified 
in the Group’s cash management policy. The subsidiary in India has 
its own finance function and their counterparties are also restricted 
in the Group’s cash management policy. The amount of cash reser-
ves in other subsidiaries is minimized.

Analysis of trade receivables by age
EUR 1,000 2010 2009

Undue trade receivables 5,671 4,595
Trade receivables 1–60 days overdue 2,426 5,964

Trade receivables 61–90 days overdue 1,301 361

Trade receivables more than 90 days 
overdue

 
7,913

 
8,400

Total 17,311 19,340

Project deliveries result in large accounts receivable. Most of 
Tecnotree’s net sales comes from developing countries and some 
of these contain political and economic challenges. There is the 
risk of a considerable delay in the payment of invoices in these 
countries and that Tecnotree will have to record credit losses. The 
payment record of customers and the situation concerning trade 
receivables are actively monitored and credit rating checks are 
made on new customers before confirming an offer. In the MeA 
region, there have been delays in the payments from one govern-
ment owned customer. Due to the situation, an impairment of eUR 
0.9 million has been booked in the finan cial statements in respect 
of trade receivables which totaled eUR 5.9 million.

Capital management
Tecnotree’s objective for capital management is to support 
Group’s target for growth and ensure the capability for divi dend 
distribution. Additionally, with capital management the Group is 
ensuring the operational precondition in capital markets during all 
conditions irrespective of industry’s market volatility. The Board of 
Directors monitors and assesses the Group’s capital structure on 
a regular basis. The key ratio in monitoring the development of 
Group’s capital structure is net gearing, which is calculated by divi-
ding net interest-bearing liabilities with total shareholders’ equity. 
net liabilities include interest-bearing liabilities less interest-bea-
ring assets and cash and cash equivalents.

Components of gearing ratio 31 Dec 
2010

31 Dec 
20091 000 €

Interest-bearing financial liabilities 19,751 18,931
Interest-bearing financial assets -630 -1,577
cash and cash equivalents -16,737 -25,674

net interest-bearing liabilities 2,384 -8,320

Total shareholders’ equity 72,106 77,060

Gearing ratio 3.3% -10.8%

31 Dec 2010 Balance sheet value Cash flow Less than 1 year 1–3 years 3–5 years Over 5 years

Loans from financial institutions 19,751 19,767 5,243 4,473 10,051

Trade and other payables 5,932 5,932 5,932

Derivatives 590 590 590

31 Dec 2009 Balance sheet value Cash flow Less than 1 year 1–3 years 3–5 years Over 5 years

Loans from financial institutions 18,873 18,889 2,222 4,444 12,222

Trade and other payables 2,263 2,263 2,263

Derivatives 226 226 226
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30. Related party transactions

The relationships between the Group's parent company and subsidiaries are as follows:

Domicile
Group's  

ownership %
Group's share  

of voting rights %

Tecnotree Oyj (parent) Finland

Tecnotree Ltd Ireland 100 100

Tecnotree GmbH Germany 100 100

Tecnotree Spain SL Spain 100 100

Tecnotree Sistemas de Telecommunicacao Ltda Brazil 100 100

Tecnotree (M) Sdn Bhd Malaysia 100 100

Tecnotree Services Oy Finland 100 100

Lifetree cyberworks Pvt. Ltd India 100 100

Tecnotree convergence Ltd India 99.82 99.82

Quill Publishers Pvt. Ltd India 99.82 99.82

Lifetree convergence Pty Ltd South Africa 99.82 99.82
Lifetree convergence (nigeria) Ltd nigeria 94.82 94.82
Lifetree UK Ltd Great Britain 99.82 99.82

The parent company has branch offices in the netherlands and in 
Taiwan. In addition, the parent company has offices in Argentina, 
Austria, ecuador, Mexico, Iran, and the United Arab emirates. 

except for ordinary intra-group transactions the Group has not 
entered any significant transactions with, granted any loans to, or 
made any other comparable arrangements with related parties  

39 per cent of the fees to the Board of Directors has beed settled in 
shares of Tecnotree Oyj.

The President is entitled to retire at the age of 60 years.
In 2009, Atul chopra, member of Management Board and 

Board of Directors, has been granted 1,770,362 share options, of 
which 265,554 options were exercisable. The other members of 

during the year 2010. The Group's related parties include the sub-
sidiaries, the members of the Board of Directors and the Manage-
ment Board, the ceO and the close family members of the pre-
ceding persons, as well as those entities in which these people has 
control.   

the Management Board or Board of Directors were not granted 
any share options during 2010 nor during 2009. On the report-
ing date, other members of Management Board held a total of 
323,333 (160,000) options, of which all were exercisable. The other 
members of the Board of Directors did not hold any options on 31 
December 2010 nor on 31 December 2009.   
 

EUR 1,000 2010 2009

Compensation to related parties
Salaries and other short-term employee benefits -1,406 -1,409
Share-based payment -161
compensation to related parties total -1,406 -1,570

Salaries and fees

  Jarmo niemi, President and ceO of the company until 2 Oct 2009 -269
  eero Mertano, President and ceO of the company until 31 Oct 2010 -221 -52
  Kaj Hagros, President and ceO of the company as of 1 nov 2010 -48

Members of the Board of Directors
  Hannu Turunen, chairman of the Board -74 -63
  Johan Hammarén, Vice chairman of the Board as of 25 Mar 2010 -37 -32
  carl-Johan numelin, Vice chairman of the Board until 25 Mar 2010 -10 -42
  Harri Koponen -34 -32
  christer Sumelius -33 -35
  Pentti Heikkinen -32 -22
  Atul chopra -28 -22
  David K. White -29 -22
  Ilkka Raiskinen -27
  Lauri Ratia, former member and chairman of the Board -16
  Timo Toivila, former member of the Board -8

29. Contingent liabilities

EUR 1,000 2010 2009

On own behalf

Pledged deposits 77 41

Guarantees 979 605

Total 1,056 646

Other contingent liabilities

Restriction related to real estate in Ireland 387 387

Total 387 387

28. Operating leases 

EUR 1,000 2010 2009

Group as lessee

Minimum lease payments of the non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

Operating leases
Less than one year 641 729
Between one and five years 454 534

Total 1,095 1,263

The Group has leased office equipment, office facilities, and 
company cars. The leases typically run for one to three years and 
normally include an option to continue the lease agreement after 
the original ending date. The index, terms of renewal, and other 

conditions in different agreements may vary. eUR 1,727 (1,550) 
thousand was recognized as an expense in the income statement 
in respect of operating leases.  

Basis for fair value measurement 
The fair value of the currency derivatives is determined by us-
ing market rates of the counterparty for instruments with similar 
maturity. The fair value of the short term investments is determined 
based on the price quotation of the counterparty. The carrtying 
amounts of the other financial assets and liabilities correspond to 
their fair value, since the impact of discounting being not material 
considering their maturity.    

Fair value hierarchy 
The items measured at fair value are classified using a fair value 
hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs used in making 

the measurements. The fair value hierarchy includes the levels 1–3. 
Level 1: Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or 
liabilities. Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within 
level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or 
indirectly. Level 3: Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based 
on observable market data.

All items measured at fair value are categorized into hierarchy 
level 2, except for the currency options amounting to eUR -43 (188) 
thousand that are categorized into hierarchy level 3. The fair values 
of the currency options are based on the valuations prepared by 
the counterparty. During the reporting period, there were no sig-
nificant transfers between the hierarchy levels.   
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Key financial indicators

2010 2009 2008 2007 2006

Consolidated income statement
net sales, eUR million 60.7 53.3 77.2 70.1 71.8

change % 14.0 -31.0 10.1 -2.4 4.1

 Adjusted operating result, eUR million -2.5 -8.8 8.0 3.7 1.2

% of net sales -4.2 -16.6 10.4 5.2 1.7

Operating profit, eUR million -8.1 -15.0 11.5 8.9 4.9

% of net sales -13.3 -28.1 14.9 12.7 6.8

Profit before taxes, eUR million -9.4 -15.4 13.5 10.0 5.2

% of net sales -15.5 -29.0 17.5 14.2 7.3

Consolidated balance sheet
non-current assets, eUR million 49.7 53.3 27.7 24.8 20.6

current assets

Inventories, eUR million 1.0 1.3 1.1 2.4 1.9

Financial assets, eUR million 59.0 63.8 90.0 68.0 66.3

Shareholders' equity, eUR million 72.1 77.1 83.5 78 74.6

Liabilities

non-current liabilities, eUR million 14.9 17.0 0.0 0 0.1

current liabilities, eUR million 19.3 20.4 30.8 13.8 11.5

Deferred tax liabilities, eUR million 3.3 4.0 4.5 3.4 2.6

Balance sheet total, eUR million 109.7 118.4 118.9 95.2 88.8

Financial indicators
Return on equity (ROe), % -14.7 -20.2 12.6 11.4 4.3

Return on investment (ROI), % -7.4 -13.7 16.0 13.6 9.1

equity ratio, % 66.4 65.6 70.3 83.7 84.3

Debt/equity (net gearing) ratio, % 3.3 -10.8 -37.2 -22.4 -27.4

Investments, eUR million 1.8 1.4 1.3 1.2 2.4

% of net sales 3.0 2.7 1.7 1.8 3.4

Research and development, eUR million 13.1 14.5 15.5 16.1 13.2

% of net sales 21.7 27.2 20 22.9 18.4

Order book,  eUR million 14.3 11.7 9.7 17.5 15.0

Personnel, average 797 665 358 354.4 387

Personnel, at the end of the year 858 779 354 355 374

Key ratios per share
earnings per share, eUR (basic) -0.15 -0.24 0.17 0.15 0.06

earnings per share, eUR (diluted) -0.15 -0.24 0.17 0.15 0.05

equity per share, eUR 0.98 1.05 1.41 1.32 1.27

number of shares at the end of the period, 1,000 shares 73,496 73,496 59,142 59,117 58,871

Average number of shares, 1,000 shares 73,496 68,039 59,134 58,965 58,673

number of own shares on 1 Jan, 1,000 shares 135 135 135 135 135

number of disposed own shares, 1,000 shares 0 0 0 0 0

number of own shares on 31 Dec, 1,000 shares 135 135 135 135 135

2010 2009 2008 2007 2006

Share price, eUR

Average price 0.79 1.00 1.00 1.4 2.01

Lowest price 0.58 0.78 0.75 1.15 1.38

Highest price 1.00 1.21 1.27 1.83 3.06

Share price at the end of the period, eUR 0.60 0.94 0.84 1.24 1.68

Market value at the end of the period, eUR million 44.2 69.2 49.8 73.3 99.1

Share turnover, million shares 16.6 22.6 23.2 38.7 59.8

Share turnover, % of total number 22.6 30.7 39.2 65.4 101.4

Share turnover, eUR million 13.2 23.2 23.2 53.9 122.1

Dividend per share, eUR * 0.07 0.07

Dividend/result, % 40.7 47.50

effective dividend yield, % 8.3 5.6

P/e ratio, % -4.00 -3.97 4.88 8.43 27.97

*) The Board has proposed that no dividend be paid for the financial year ended 31 December 2010. In 2010 no dividend was paid for the 
financial year that ended on 31 December 2009. In 2007 and 2006, repayments of capital of eUR 0.10 per share were made. 
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calculation of key indicators Parent company's income statement

Adjusted operating result = Operating result before R & D capitalization, amortization of this and one-time costs

Return on equity (ROe), % =
Result for the period

 × 100
Shareholders’ equity (average)

Return on investments (ROI), % =
Result before taxes + financial expenses

 × 100
Shareholders’ equity + interest-bearing financial liabilities (average)

equity ratio, % = Shareholders’ equity  × 100
Balance sheet total - advances received

earnings per share (ePS) = Profit attributable to equity holders of the parent company
Basic average number of shares

Dividend per share = Dividend
Basic number of shares on the reporting date

Dividend/Result, % = Dividend per share × 100
earnings per share (ePS)

equity/Share = equity attributable to equity holders of the parent company
Basic number of shares on the reporting date

Debt/equity ratio, % 
(net gearing)

= Interest-bearing liabilities - cash and cash equivalents - interest-bearing assets  × 100
Shareholders’ equity

Market capitalization = Basic number of shares on the reporting date  ×
share price on the reporting date

P/e ratio, % = Share price on the reporting date
earnings per share  (ePS)

effective dividend yield, % = Dividend per share
Share price on the reporting date

EUR 1,000 Note 1 Jan–31 Dec 2010 1 Jan–31 Dec 2009

Net sales 1 39,903 35,447

Other operating income 2 0 237

Materials and services 3 -8,863 -8,106

Personnel expenses 4 -9,623 -10,546

Depreciation, amortization, and impairment losses 5 -850 -952

Other operating expenses 6 -28,193 -38,091

Operating result -7,625 -22,012

Financial income and expenses 7 -1,029 -1,095

Result before extraordinary items -8,654 -23,107

Result before appropriations and taxes -8,654 -23,107

Appropriations 8 113 -130

Direct taxes 9 -1,849 581

Result for the financial year -10,390 -22,657
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Parent company's balance sheet

EUR 1,000 Note 31 Dec 2010 31 Dec 2009

Assets

Non-current assets
Intangible assets 10 484 597

Tangible assets 11 4,052 4,545

Shares in Group companies 12 36,614 36,609

Receivables from Group companies 12 299 299

Total non-current assets 41,450 42,050

Current assets
Inventories 13 945 1,137

non-current receivables 14 2,287 2,306

current receivables 15 31,186 27,900

cash and cash equivalents 16 5,309 16,003

Total current assets 39,727 47,346

Total assets 81,177 89,396

Equity and liabilities

Shareholders' equity 17

Share capital 4,720 4,720

Share premium fund 847 847

Own shares -122 -122

Invested unrestricted equity reserve 12,634 12,634

Other reserves 27,154 49,811

Retained earnings 122 122

Result for the financial year -10,390 -22,657

Total shareholders' equity 34,966 45,355

Accumulated appropriations 18 863 975

Provisions 19 700 3,679

Liabilities
non-current liabilities 20 14,445 16,667

current liabilities 20 30,203 22,720

Total liabilities 44,649 39,386

Total equity and liabilities 81,177 89,396

EUR 1,000 1 Jan–31 Dec 2010 1 Jan–31 Dec 2009

Cash flow from operating activities
Result before extraordinary items -8,654 -23,107

Adjustments for:

Planned depreciation 850 952

Unrealized exchange rate gains and losses -546 -229

Financial income and expenses 333 746

changes in working capital:

current receivables, increase (-) /decrease (+) -3,134 15,043

Inventories, increase (-) /decrease (+) 192 -94

current liabilities, increase (+) /decrease (-) 1,402 7,242

Interest paid -255 -893

Interest received 347 263

Income taxes paid -1,757 -2,153

Net cash flow from operating activities -11,222 -2,230

Cash flow from investments
Investments in intangible assets -68 -199

Investments in tangible assets -177 -405

Investments in subsidiaries' shares -5 -23,065

Cash flow from investments -249 -23,669

Cash flow from financing activities
Proceeds from short-term borrowings 3,000

Repayments of long-term borrowings -2,222 -1,111

Dividend distribution -5,097

Cash flow from financing activities 778 -6,208

Change in cash and cash equivalents -10,694 -32,107

cash and cash equivalents on 1 Jan 16,003 48,110

Cash and cash equivalents on 31 Dec 5,309 16,003

Parent company's cash flow statement
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Parent company accounting principles
The financial statements of Tecnotree corporation are prepared 
in accordance with the Finnish Accounting Act (1997/1336) and 
Ordinance (1997/1339) and with other legislation and regulations 
concerning financial statements. 

Items denominated in foreign currencies
Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at the rates of 
exchange prevailing on the transaction dates. Foreign currency 
receivables and liabilities in the financial statements, including 
those hedged with derivative contracts, are translated into euros at 
the average exchange rate quoted by the european central Bank 
on the closing date.

exchange rate gains and losses relating to business operations 
are treated as adjustments to net sales or purchasing and manufac-
turing. exchange rate gains and losses relating to financing opera-
tions are entered under financing income and expenses. exchange 
rate gains and losses arising from the translation of balance sheet 
items are charged to the income statement.

Derivatives entered into by the company comprise currency 
forward contracts to hedge against changes in the cash flows from 
purchase and sales agreements denominated in foreign currencies. 
The company policy is to hedge the net foreign currency expo-
sure over the following 12 months at a maximum. Those derivatives 
entered into for hedging purposes are initially recognized at cost 
equivalent to their fair value. Subsequently derivatives are meas-
ured at fair value based on the forward rates quoted at the bal-
ance sheet date. exchange rate differences on derivative contracts 
made for hedging purposes are charged to the income statement 
under other operating income and expenses. 

Net sales
At Tecnotree, net sales comprise revenue recognized from project 
deliveries and goods and service deliveries from which indirect 
taxes, discounts and exchange rate differences have been de-
ducted. Revenue from project deliveries is mainly recognized ac-
cording to the stage of completion. Project revenue and expenses 
are recognized in the income statement in proportion to the stage 
of completion on the balance sheet date, once the outcome of the 
project can be estimated reliably. The outcome of a project can be 
reliably estimated when the anticipated revenue and costs from the 
contract and the progress of the project can be estimated reliably 
and when it is probable that the economic benefits associated with 
the project will flow to the company. 

The stage of completion of a project is determined for each 
contract by the proportion of the estimated total contract costs ac-
counted for by the costs incurred for work performed to date (cost-
to-cost method). The revenue recognition for the project will start 
when the outcome of the project can be estimated reliably. Typi-
cally this happens when the management has approved the project 
and the first delivery to the customer has been made.

The stage of completion method of revenue recognition is 
based on estimates of the expected revenue and expenses associ-
ated with the contract and on estimating the progress of the pro-
ject. The cost estimates for the projects are monitored quarterly in 
the management’s revenue review and the revenue and expenses 
recognized in the income statement are revised in the estimates of 
the outcome of the project change. The accumulated effect due to 
the change in the estimates is recognized in the period when the 
change is known for the first time and its amount can be estimated. 

If the outcome of the project cannot be estimated reliably, rev-
enue is only recognized to the extent of project costs incurred. This 
method of recognition is typically applied in first delivery projects 

for new products or when a delivery project contains a significant 
amount of customization for individual customers. The margin on 
the project is recognized on final acceptance.

A project is considered onerous if its costs exceed total project 
revenue. The expected loss is recognized as an expense immediately.

Revenue from the sale of products and services is recognized 
when the significant risks and benefits of ownership have been 
transferred to the buyer and when the amount of the revenue can 
be measured reliably and it is probable that the economic benefits 
will flow to the enterprise. The revenue from services is recognized 
when the service has been rendered. Supplementary deliveries 
such as maintenance, licences, training, documentation, and spare 
parts are examples of goods and service deliveries. Revenue from 
fixed-term maintenance contracts is normally recognized over the 
contract period on a straight-line basis.

Pension plans
Statutory pension and supplementary pension obligations in Fin-
land are covered through payments to pension insurance organiza-
tions. expenses related to pension arrangements are recognized in 
the income statement in the period on the accrual basis. 

Leasing
Leasing payments have been entered as rentals. Unpaid leasing 
fees are presented in the financial statements under contingent 
liabilities.

Research and development expenses
Research and development expenses are expensed as incurred, 
apart from machinery purchases, which are depreciated over three 
years on a straight-line basis. 

Valuation of inventories
Inventories are valued using the FIFO principle at the lowest of 
acquisition cost, repurchase price and probable selling price. 

Valuation of non-current assets
non-current assets have been capitalized at the acquisition cost. 
Planned depreciation and amortization is calculated on a straight-
line basis over the useful life of the fixed assets.

The periods for planned depreciation and  
amortization are as follows:

•	 intangible rights 3–10 years
•	 other long-term expenditure 5 years
•	 Buildings and structures 25 years
•	 Machinery and equipment 3–5 years
•	 computing hardware and software 3–5 years
•	 company goodwill 5 years

Purchase and disposal of company’s own shares
The total purchase cost for the shares is recorded so that it reduces 
unrestricted shareholders’ equity. 

Derivative financial instruments
The derivative contracts entered into by the company are currency 
forward contracts and options. The derivative contracts are fair 
valued. The fair value is determined by using market rates of the 
counterparty for instruments with similar maturity. Gains and losses 
arising from changes in the fair values are recognized in the income 
statement in the period in which they arise.

EUR 1,000 2010 2009

net sales by market area

europe, Middle east and Africa 14,743 14,396

Asia Pacific 2,236 1,752

Americas 22,924 19,299

net sales total 39,903 35,447

net sales by type of income

Revenue from contract work recognized by stage of completion 14,457 15,050

Revenue from maintenance and support 13,079 14,531

Revenue from goods and services, external sales 10,237 5,418

Revenue from goods and services, intra-group sales 2,129 448

net sales total 39,903 35,447

Order book for contract work 812 3,398

Order book for maintenance and support, goods, and services 4,769 2,469

Order book total 5,581 5,867

Projects in progress:

cumulative revenue recognized for projects in progress 10,920 7,704

cumulative invoicing for projects in progress recognized by stage of completion 5,153 5,825

Accrued income related to construction contracts, work in progress 5,767 1,879

Aggregate amount of costs incurred for projects in progress 5,217 2,704

2. Other income from operations

EUR 1,000 2010 2009

commissions from partners 233

Other operating income 0 4

Other income from operations total 0 237

notes to the parent company's  
income statement

On the reporting date, the company has no retentions held by customers. The Group has not received any advances related to projects in 
progress.  

1. Net sales
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EUR 1,000 2010 2009

Purchases during financial year -7,374 -6,980

changes in inventories -723 94

Total -8,097 -6,886

external services -766 -1,220

Materials and services total -8,863 -8,106

4. Personnel expenses

EUR 1,000 2010 2009

Wages and salaries -8,009 -8,517

Pension expenses -1,041 -1,402

Other personnel expenses -573 -627

Personnel expenses total -9,623 -10,546

Average number of employees 72 89

Salaries, fees, and remunerations to the management
  Jarmo niemi, President and ceO of parent company until  2 Oct 2009 -269

  eero Mertano, President and ceO until 31 Oct 2010 -221 -52

  Kaj Hagros, President and ceO of parent company from 1 nov 2010 -48

Board members:

  Hannu Turunen, chairman of the Board -74 -63

  Johan Hammarén, Vice President of the Board  from 25.3.2010 -37 -32

  carl-Johan numelin, Vice President of the Board until 25.3.2010 -10 -42

  Harri Koponen -34 -32

  christer Sumelius -33 -35

  Pentti Heikkinen -32 -22

  Atul chopra -28 -22

  David K. White -29 -22

  Ilkka Raiskinen -27

  Lauri Ratia, former member and chairman of the Board -16

  Timo Toivila, former member of the Board -8

Total -572 -614

EUR 1,000 2010 2009

Depreciations and amortizations according to plan

Intangible assets

  Intangible rights -171 -219

  Other long-term expenditure -9 -9

Tangible assets

  Buildings -220 -220

  Machinery and equipment -449 -505

Depreciations and amortizations according to plan total -850 -952

6. Other operating expenses

EUR 1,000 2010 2009

Subcontracting -2,941 -4,978

Office management costs -2,045 -1,975

Travel expenses -1,211 -1,117

Agent fees -2,138 -4,184

Rents -660 -786

Professional services -1,064 -888

Marketing -159 -348

Other operataing expenses to Group companaies -17,941 -23,731

Other expenses -35 -85

Other operating expenses total -28,193 -38,091

Auditors' fees
Audit -35 -36

Tax consulting -26 -38

Other services -33 -49

Auditors' fees total -95 -123

3. Materials and services 5. Depreciations and amortizations

39 per cent of the fees to the Board of Directors has beed settled in shares of Tecnotree corporation.
There is a voluntary pension insurance plan for the President. The amount of voluntary pension is based on final salary. The final  

retirement benefit is computed in accordance with the terms of the pension arrangement based on the plan assets accumulated by  
the beginning of the pension entitlement period. The retirement age is 60 years.
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10. Intangible assets 

Intangible assets 2010
EUR  1,000 Intangible rights Other long-term expenditure Total
Acquisition cost 1 Jan 4,013 1,065 5,078
Increase 68 68

Acquisition cost 31 Dec 4,067 1,065 5,132

 

Accumulated amortization 1 Jan -3,417 -1,065 -4,482

Amortization during the period -180 -1 -180

Accumulated amortization 31 Dec -3,597 -1,065 -4,662

Book value 31 Dec 2010 484 484

Intangible assets  2009
EUR  1,000 Intangible rights Other long-term expenditure Total
Acquisition cost 1 Jan 3,814 1,065 4,879
Increase 199 199

Acquisition cost 31 Dec 4,013 1,065 5,078

 

Accumulated amortization 1 Jan -3,199 -1,056 -4,255

Amortization during the period -219 -9 -227

Accumulated amortization 31 Dec -3,417 -1,065 -4,482

Book value 31 Dec 2009 596 1 597

11. Tangible assets

Tangible assets 2010
EUR 1,000 Land areas Buildings

Machinery and 
equipment

Investments in 
progress Total

Acquisition cost 1 Jan 1,666 6,045 17,943 22 25,676

Increase 199 199

Decrease -3 -22 -25

Acquisition cost 31 Dec 1,666 6,045 18,139 25,850

Accumulated depreciation 1 Jan -3,949 -17,182 -21,131
Accumulated depreciation for decreases 
and reclassifications 3 3
Depreciation during the period -220 -449 -669

Accumulated depreciation 31 Dec -4,170 -17,628 -21,797

Book value 31 Dec 2010 1,666 1,875 511 4,052

7. Financial income and expenses

EUR 1,000 2010 2009

Financial income
Interest income from Group companies 4 10

Interest income from others 8 205

Other financial income from others 499 409

Interest and financial income total 511 624

Financial expenses
Interest expenses to others -425 -634

Other financial expenses to Group companies -576 -360

Financial expenses to others -538 -725

Interest and financial expenses total -1,540 -1,719

Financial income and expenses total -1,029 -1,095

Other financial income and expenses including

Foreign exchange gains 165 361

Foreign exchange losses -857 -710

Foreign exchange gains and losses total -692 -349

8. Appropriations

EUR 1,000 2010 2009

Difference between depreciation according to plan and  
depreciation made in taxation 113 -130

Appropriations total 113 -130

9. Income taxes

EUR 1,000 2010 2009

Income taxes from business operations -22

Taxes for previous accounting periods -104 -162

Withholding taxes paid abroad -1,713 -1,542

change in deferred tax assets -10 2,285

Income taxes total -1,849 581

notes to the parent company's balance sheet
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Tangible assets 2009
EUR 1 000 Land areas Buildings

Machinery and 
equipment

Investments in 
progress Total

Acquisition cost 1 Jan 1,666 6,045 17,542 22 25,275

Increase 406 406

Decrease -5 -5

Acquisition cost 31 Dec 1,666 6,045 17,943 22 25,676

Accumulated depreciation 1 Jan -3,729 -16,681 -20,410
Accumulated depreciation for decreases and 
reclassifications 4 4
Depreciation during the period -220 -505 -725

Accumulated depreciation 31 Dec -3,949 -17,182 -21,131

Book value 31 Dec 2009 1,666 2,096 761 22 4,545

12. Investments

Investments 2010
EUR 1,000

Shares in Group  
companies

Other investments in 
group companies Total

Acquisition cost 1 Jan 36,609 299 36,909

Increase 5 5

Decrease

Reclassifications between items

Acquisition cost 31 Dec 36,614 299 36,914

Book value 31 Dec 2010 36,614 299 36,914

Investments 2009
EUR 1,000

Shares in Group  
companies

Other investments in 
group companies Total

Acquisition cost 1 Jan 1,200 299 1,499

Increase 35,409 35,409

Decrease

Reclassifications between items

Acquisition cost 31 Dec 36,609 299 36,909

Book value 31 Dec 2009 36,609 299 36,909

Shares in subsidiaries held by the parent company
 

Domicile
 Parent company  

ownership %
Carrying value 

EUR 1,000

Tecnotree Ltd. county clare, Ireland 100 124

Tecnotree GmbH Dreieich, Germany 100 92

Tecnotree Spain SL Madrid, Spain 100 31

Tecnotree Sistemas de Telecommunicacao Ltda Sao Paulo, Brazil 100 902

Tecnotree (M) Sdn Bhd Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia 100 42

Tecnotree Services Oy espoo, Finland 100 8

Lifetree cyberworks Pvt. Ltd Gurgaon, India 100 1 189

Tecnotree convergence Ltd Gurgaon, India 38.80 34,225

Total 36,614

13. Inventories

EUR 1,000 2010 2009

Materials and consumables 795 735

Work in progress 135 180

Finished products/goods 14 222

Inventories total 945 1 137

14. Non-current receivables

EUR 1,000 2010 2009

Deferred tax asset 2,275 2,285

non-current other receivables 12 21

non-current receivables total 2,287 2,306

15. Current receivables

EUR 1,000 2010 2009

Trade receivables related to construction contracts 2,339 4,457

Other trade receivables 3,595 4,991

Work in progress related to construction contracts 5,767 1,879

Finished work related to construction contracts 4,487 3,993

Other receivables based on delivery agreements 6,557 4,807

current prepaid expenses and accrued income 886 904

Other current receivables 38 32

current receivables total 23,670 21,063

Receivables from the Group companies
Trade receivables 7,516 6,340

Other receivables 497

Total 7,516 6,836

current receivables total 31,186 27,900

Major items included in prepaid expenses and accrued income
Valuation of currency derivatives 336 211

Prepaid taxes 78

Other prepaid expenses and accrued income 550 615

Total 886 904

The company has not deducted research and development costs amounting to eUR 30,646 (17,580) thousand in its taxation. The amount can 
be deducted over an indefinite period with amounts that the company may freely decide. On these capitalizations, the company has recog-
nized a deferred tax asset of eUR -10 thousand in the period (2,285), corresponding to 29 per cent of the capitalized research and develop-
ment costs. Deferred tax assets have been recognized to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available.

The company has the following unused tax losses or tax credits, or deductible temporary differences for which deferred tax assets have not 
been recognized because of the uncertainty about utilizing them: research and development costs capitalized in the taxation of eUR 21,895 
(8,790) thousand, tax losses of 4,515 (6,248) thousand and other deductible temporary differences of eUR 961 thousand (837).  
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17. Shareholders' equity

EUR 1,000 2010 2009

Restricted equity

Share capital 1 Jan 4,720 4,720

Share capital 31 Dec 4,720 4,720

Share premium fund 1 Jan 847 847

Share premium fund 31 Dec 847 847

Restricted equity total 5,567 5,567

Unrestricted equity

Own shares 1 Jan -122 -122

Own shares 31 Dec -122 -122

Invested unrestricted equity reserve 1 Jan 12,634 290

Share issue 12,344

Options exercised

Invested unrestricted equity reserve 31 Dec 12,634 12,634

Other reserves 1 Jan 49,811 50,269

Dividend distribution -458

Other reserves 31 Dec 49,811 49,811

Retained earnings 1 Jan -22,535 4,761

Dividend distribution -4,639

Retained earnings 31 Dec -22,535 122

Result for the period -10,390 -22,657

Unrestricted equity total 29,398 39,788

Total shareholders' equity 34,966 45,355

Calculation of distributable equity
Retained earnings 31 Dec -32,925 -22,535

Own shares -122 -122

Invested unrestricted equity reserve 12,634 12,634

Other reserves 49,811 49,811

Total 29,398 39,788

16. Cash and cash equivalents

EUR 1,000 2010 2009

cash in hand and at bank 5,309 5,339

cash equivalents 10,663

cash and cash equivalents total 5,309 16,003

18. Accumulated appropriations

EUR 1,000 2010 2009

Accumulated depreciation difference at 1 Jan 975 845

Increase (+), decrease (-) -113 130

Accumulated appropriations at 31 Dec 863 975

19. Provisions

EUR 1,000 2010 2009

Other provisions 700 3 679

Provisions total 700 3 679

20. Non-current and current liabilities

EUR 1,000 2010 2009

non-current liabilities

Loans from financial institutions 14,445 16,667

non-current liabilities total 14,445 16,667

current liabilities

Loans from financial institutions 5,222 2,222

Trade payables 462 1,280

Accrued liabilities and deferred income 3,850 4,674

Other liabilities 457 172

Total 9,992 8,349

Liabilities from the Group companies:

Trade payables 19,496 13,899

Other liabilities 715 471

Total 20,211 14,370

current liabilities total 30,203 22,720

The annual general meeting of Tecnotree corporation held on 25 
March 2009 resolved, in accordance with the Board of Directors' 
proposal that no dividend be paid for the financial year ended 31 
December 2010.

The Annual General Meeting of Tecnomen corporation re-
solved on 19 March 2009 to authorize the Board of Directors to 
decide on the dividen distribution of eUR 0.07 per share for the fi-
nancial year ended on 31 December 2008. After the completion of 
the acquisition of the shares of Lifetree convergence Limited, the 

Board of Directors resolved on the dividend record date and divi-
dend payment date. The dividend was paid to shareholders who 
were registered on the record date of 26 May 2009 in the compa-
ny’s shareholder register maintained by euroclear Finland Ltd. The 
dividend payment date was 2 June 2009. The payment was made 
on altogether 72,818,936 shares, giving an aggregate total pay-
ment of eUR 5,097,325.52. The dividend payment was not made on 
the shares in the company's own possession (134,800 shares). 
   

Provisions include the following item: In the europe segment, a pro-
vision of eUR 700 (eUR 3,679) thousand was directed for the cost ris-

ing from a customer project. Of the provision, eUR 2,979 thousand 
has been used during 2010 and the rest will be used in 2011.
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EUR 1,000 2010 2009

Major items included in accrued liabilities and deferred income
Accrued personnel expenses on restructurings 210

Other accrued personnel expenses 1,094 1,260

Accrued project costs 652 1,314

Accrued agent fees 1,211 784

Valuation of currency derivatives 255 131

Valuation of interest rate swap 335 95

Other accrued liabilities and deferred income 303 879

Total 3,850 4,674

21. Contingent liabilities

EUR 1,000 2010 2009

On own behalf

Pledged deposits 77 41

Guarantees 979 602

Total 1,056 643

Leasing liabilities:
With due date in the next financial year 75 206

With later due date 195 79

Total 270 284

Total contingent liabilities 1,326 927

Values of underlying instruments of derivative contracts

currency call options and termines

Fair value (negative) -255 -131

Value of underlying instruments 10,778 10,092

currency put options and termines

Fair value (positive) 336 211

Value of underlying instruments 10,319 10,045

Interest rate swap

Fair value (negative) -335 -95

Value of underlying instruments 16,666 11,000

Signatures of the report of the Board of  
Directors and the financial statements

espoo, 24 February 2011

Kaj Hagros
president and ceo

Hannu turunen
chairman of the Board

Johan	hammarén
vice chairman of the Board

atul chopra christer Sumelius

pentti Heikkinen Harri Koponen

ilkka raiskinen David K. white

Auditor's note
our auditor's report has been issued today.

Helsinki, 28 February 2011

KpMG oY aB

Sixten nyman
authorized public accountant
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Auditor's report Shares and shareholders

To the Annual General Meeting of  
Tecnotree Corporation  
We have audited the accounting records, the financial statements, 
the report of the Board of Directors, and the administration of 
Tecnotree corporation for the year ended December 31, 2010. 
The financial statements comprise the consolidated balance sheet, 
income statement, statement of comprehensive income, state-
ment of changes in shareholders’ equity and cash flow statement, 
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, as well as the 
parent company’s balance sheet, income statement, cash flow 
statement and notes to the financial statements.

Responsibility of the Board of Directors and the 
Managing Director  
The Board of Directors and the Managing Director are responsible 
for the preparation of consolidated financial statements that give 
a true and fair view in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the eU, as well as for 
the preparation of financial statements and the report of the Board 
of Directors that give a true and fair view in accordance with the 
laws and regulations governing the preparation of the financial 
statements and the report of the Board of Directors in Finland. The 
Board of Directors is responsible for the appropriate arrangement 
of the control of the company’s accounts and finances, and the 
Managing Director shall see to it that the accounts of the company 
are in compliance with the law and that its financial affairs have 
been arranged in a reliable manner.

Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial state-
ments, on the consolidated financial statements and on the report 
of the Board of Directors based on our audit. The Auditing Act 
requires that we comply with the requirements of professional 
ethics. We conducted our audit in accordance with good audit-
ing practice in Finland. Good auditing practice requires that we 
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements and the report of the Board of 
Directors are free from material misstatement, and whether the 
members of the Board of Directors of the parent company and the 
Managing Director are guilty of an act or negligence which may 
result in liability in damages towards the company or have violated 
the Limited Liability companies Act or the articles of association of 
the company.

Shares and share capital 
Tecnotree has a single share series and all shares hold equal voting 
rights.

At the end of 2010 the shareholders’ equity of Tecnotree cor-
poration stood at eUR 72.1 (77.1) million and the share capital was 
eUR 4.7 million. The total number of shares was 73,630,977. The 
company held 134,800 of these shares, which represents 0.18 per 
cent of the company’s total number of shares and votes.

equity per share was eUR 0.98 (1.05). 99.94 per cent of the 
company's shares are entered in the book entry securities system 
maintained by euroclear Finland Ltd (former Finnish central Securi-
ties Depository Ltd.).

Quotation of shares
Tecnotree’s shares are quoted on the nASDAQ OMX Helsinki Ltd. 
Tecnotree’s trading code is TeM1V.

Authorizations of the Board of Directors

Authorization to decide issuing of shares and granting 
special rights
Tecnotree’s Annual General Meeting held on 12 March 2008 au-
thorized the Board of Directors to decide on issuing shares and on 
giving special rights entitling to shares. The authorization includes 
the right to decide on issuing and/or conveying a maximum of 
17,800,000 new shares and/or the company’s own shares held by 
the company either against payment or for free. The authoriza-
tion is valid for two years from the decision of the Annual General 
Meeting. Under this authorization, on 6 May 2009 and 28 October 
2009 the Board decided on a share issue against payment in con-
nection with the acquisition of the shares of Tecnotree conver-
gence Ltd by issuing altogether 14,353,899 new shares. At the 
end of the year, 3,446,101 shares under this authorization were still 
unused.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evi-
dence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial state-
ments and the report of the Board of Directors. The procedures 
selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assess-
ment of the risks of material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers in-
ternal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of financial state-
ments and report of the Board of Directors that give a true and fair 
view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in 
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opin-
ion on the effectiveness of the company’s internal control. An audit 
also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting poli-
cies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made 
by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of 
the financial statements and the report of the Board of Directors. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is suffi-
cient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion on the consolidated  
financial statements 
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true 
and fair view of the financial position, financial performance, and 
cash flows of the group in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the eU.

Opinion on the company’s financial  
statements and the report of the  
Board of Directors 
In our opinion, the financial statements and the report of the Board 
of Directors give a true and fair view of both the consolidated and 
the parent company’s financial performance and financial position in 
accordance with the laws and regulations governing the preparation 
of the financial statements and the report of the Board of Directors 
in Finland. The information in the report of the Board of Directors is 
consistent with the information in the financial statements.

Helsinki, 28 February 2011

KPMG OY AB

Sixten nyman
Authorized Public Accountant

Authorization to acquire the Company’s own shares
Tecnotree corporation’s Annual General Meeting held on 19 March 
2009 authorized the Board of Directors to decide on acquiring a 
maximum of 5,790,000 of the company’s own shares. Own shares 
may be acquired with unrestricted shareholders’ equity otherwise 
than in proportion to the holdings of the shareholders through 
public trading of the securities arranged by nASDAQ OMX Helsin-
ki Oy at the market price of the shares in public trading at the time 
of the acquisition. The shares can be acquired for the purpose of 
developing the capital structure of the company, carrying out cor-
porate acquisitions or other business arrangements to develop the 
business of the company, financing capital expenditure, to be used 
as part of the company’s incentive schemes, or to be otherwise 
retained in the possession of the company, disposed of or nullified 
in the extent and manner decided by the Board of Directors. The 
Board of Directors decides on other terms of the share acquisition. 
This authorization replaces the authorization given by the Annual 
General Meeting on 12 March 2008 and is valid for one year from 
the decision of the AGM. This authorization has not been exercised 
during the review period.

Shareholders 
On 31 December 2010 Tecnotree had a total of 6,418 shareholders 
recorded in the book-entry securities system. Of these 6,409 were 
in direct ownership and 9 were nominee-registered.

On 31 December 2010 the ten largest shareholders togeth-
er owned approximately 36.83 per cent of the shares and voting 
rights. On 31 December 2010, altogether 15.60 per cent of Tecno-
tree’s shares were in foreign ownership, with 15.58 per cent in di-
rect ownership and 0.019 per cent nominee-registered. The share-
holder information is maintained by euroclear Finland Oy (former 
Finnish central Securities Depository Ltd).

Ownership structure by sector, 31 December 2010

No. of shares %

 companies 8,700,319 11.81

 Finance houses and insurance companies 6,026,556 8.18

 Public sector 144,459 0.19

 non-profit making assosiations 392,252 0.53

 Households and private persons 37,731,878 51.24

 Foreign holders 20,597,913 28.97

Total 73,593,377 99.95

Joint account 37 600 0.05

Share capital 73 630 977 100.00

nominee registrations 9,115,390 12.38
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Tecnotree’s shares and share price development
A total of 16,629,837 Tecnotree shares (eUR 13,216,479) were 
traded on the Helsinki exchanges during the period 4 January – 31 
December 2010, representing 22.6 per cent of the total number of 
shares.

The highest share price quoted in the period was eUR 1.00 and 
the lowest eUR 0.58. The average quoted price was eUR 0.79 and 
the closing price on 31 December 2010 was eUR 0.60. The market 
capitalization of the share stock at the end of the period was eUR 
44,178,586.

Obligation to redeem shares
According to Article 14 of Tecnotree’s Articles of Association, a 
shareholder whose holding reaches or exceeds 33 1/3 per cent or 
50 per cent of all the company’s shares or of the voting rights held 
by the shares, is obliged, at the request of other shareholders, to 
redeem their shares and securities entitling holders to shares, on 
terms specified in more detail in Article 14 of the Articles of Asso-
ciation.

Shareholdings of the Board of Directors  
and management 
On 31 December 2009 the total number of shares owned by the 
members of Tecnotree’s Board of Directors and the President and 
ceO was 5,510,720 which includes the shares owned by these 
persons themselves, by minor children and by companies in which 
they hold a controlling interest. Altogether these represent 7.49 
per cent of the total amount of shares and voting rights.

On 31 December 2010 the total number of shares owned by 
the members of Tecnotree’s Management Board was 3,202,729 
exclu ding those owned by the President and ceO.

Stock options held by the Board of Directors and 
management 
A total of 0 Tecnotrees stock options were held by the President 
and ceO on 31 December 2010. The number of stock options 
owned by the members of the Board of Directors was 1,770,362 at 
the end of the period.

A total of 2,093,695 stock options were held by members of 
Tecnotree’s Management Board, excluding the President and ceO, 
on 31 December 2010. 

Company dividend policy
Tecnotree’s dividend policy is to base its proposed dividend pay-
ment, to be approved by the Annual General Meeting, on the 
annual result and complying with legal requirements.

Shareholder agreements and shareholding  
notifications 
Tecnotree has no knowledge of shareholder agreements relating 
to the ownership of the company or to the use of voting rights. 
During 2010 the company has not received any shareholders 
notifications.

Stock option programs
During the review period the company had in force a 2006 stock 
option programme. The state of these options on 31 December 
2010 was as follows:

Option series
Maximum number  

of options
Number of  

granted options Exercise period Exercise price

2006B 173,000 173,000 1.4.2008–30.4.2011 1.32

2006c 667,000 1.4.2009–30.4.2012 0.98

Total 840,000 173,000

Option series
Maximum number  

of options
Number of  

granted options Exercise period Exercise price

2009A 1,026,005 686,171 1.4.2009–31.3.2011 0.86

2009B 2,394,013 1,096,207 1.4.2010–31.3.2012 0.86

2009c 3,420,018 1,555,011 1.4.2011–31.3.2013 0.86

Total 6,840,036 3,337,181

2006 and 2009 total 7,680,036 3,510,559

No. of shares
% of shares and 

 voting rights

Skandinaviska enskilda Banken 5,604,268 7.61

Hammarén Lars-Olof 4,681,088 6.36

nordea Pankki Suomi Oyj 2,900,484 3.94

Mandatum Henkivakuutusyhtiö 2,589,080 3.52

APc Securities (India) Private Limited 2,260,434 3.07

Smartum Oy 2,200,000 2.99

caryle Indiasoft Limited 2,112,733 2.87

Keskinäinen Vakuutusyhtiö Kaleva 1,788,000 2.43

chopra Atul 1,678,550 2.28

Aparna Advisory Services Private Ltd 1,368,780 1.86

Ownership of Tecnotree shares, 31 December 2010
Shares Holders % Shares and votes %

1–500 2,450 38.2 583,942 0.79

501–1 000 1,102 17.17 933,716 1.26

1001–5 000 1,855 28.90 4,827,653 6.55

5001–10 000 455 7.08 3,492,884 4.74

10,001–50,000 414 6.45 9,494,507 12.89

50,001–100,000 64 0.99 4,612,632 6.26

100,001–500,000 53 0.82 11,278,274 15.31

500,000 < 25 0.39 38,369,769 52.11

Joint account 37,600 0.05

Total 6418 100.00 73,593,377 100.00

Altogether 7,680,036 stock options remained on 31 December 
2010 of all the company’s stock options in circulation. The shares 
that could be subscribed on the basis of these stock options ac-
counted for a maximum of 9.45% of the company’s shares and the 
votes carried by the shares after any increase in share capital. On 31 
December 2010 the company still held 4,169,477 of all the current 
stock options. The issued stock options had a maximum diluting ef-
fect on 31 December 2010 of 4.55%.

The company’s Board of Directors may issue stock options such 
that their maximum dilution shall not exceed 8.50%.

Shareholders 31 December 2010
The company’s ten largest shareholders:
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Releases in 2010 

Further information is available at www.tecnotree.com.

13 Jan 2010 Stock exchange Release Tecnotree’s Annual Summary 2009

4 Feb 2010 Financial Report Tecnomen Lifetree corporation financial report 1 Jan-31 Dec 2099 (unaudited)

4 Feb 2010 Stock exchange Release exchange offer for option rights 2006B and distribution of stock options 2009

17 Feb 2010 Press Release Tecnotree partners with Airwide Solutions for comprehensive VAS solutions 

18 Feb 2010 Stock exchange Release
Tecnotree has received a BSS/OSS and VAS order worth 2.7 million dollars from  
a new customer in Latin America

26 Feb 2010 Stock exchange Release notice to the Annual General Meeting

3 Mar 2010 Stock exchange Release Tecnotree’s Annual Report 2009

23 Mar 2010 Stock exchange Release
Tecnotree has received a 2.3 million euros Managed Services order from a customer  
in Middle east

25 Mar 2010 Stock exchange Release Resolutions passed by the Annual General meeting of Tecnomen Lifetree corporation

29 Mar 2010 Press Release
Tecnotree implements its cutting edge integrated sales & service framework for a  
leading Middle east telecom operator

13 Apr 2010 Stock exchange Release Tecnomen Lifetree corporation is now Tecnotree corporation

26 Apr 2010 Press Release
emtel deploys Tecnotree’s convergent charging and Billing platform (ccB) and  
Unified Messaging platform in Mauritius

30 Apr 2010 Interim Report Tecnotree corporation Interim Report 1 Jan–31 March 2010 (unaudited)

30 Jun 2010 Stock exchange Release Tecnotree has received expansion orders worth USD 4 million from Latin America

15 Jul 2010 Stock exchange Release MTL chooses Tecnotree’s future-ready OSS/BSS product suite worth USD 2.2 million

12 Aug 2010 Interim Report Tecnotree corporation Interim Report 1 Jan–30 Jun 2010 (unaudited)

17 Aug 2010 Press Release Tecnotree continues to be the preferred choice of celcom

16 Sep 2010 Stock exchange Release Tecnotree appoints Kaj Hagros as President and ceO as of nov 1, 2010

27 Oct 2010 Interim Report Tecnotree corporation Interim Report 1 Jan–30 Sept 2010 (unaudited)

24 nov 2010 Stock exchange Release Timo Laaksonen appointed Member of Management Board

24 nov 2010 Stock exchange Release Tecnotree’s Financial Announcement and Annual General Meeting

24 nov 2010 Stock exchange Release correction to Tecnotree’s Financial Announcements and Annual General Meeting

Investor information

Basic Share Information
Listed on:   nASDAQ OMX Helsinki Oy
Trading code:  TeMV1
ISIn code:  FI0009010227
no. of shares, 31 Dec 2010  73,630,977
Segment:   Small cap
Sector code:  Information technology

The purpose of Tecnotree’s Investor relations unit is to provide the 
capital markets with open and reliable information and increase 
awareness about the company, facilitate the correct pricing of 
Tecno tree’s share, as well as serve Tecnotree’s shareholders and 
other operators on the capital markets. Regulatory communica-
tions aims to provide reliable and up-to-date information on an 
equal basis. Tecnotree has published a Disclosure Policy which can 
be found on the company website, www.tecnotree.com.

Releases and statements regarding Tecnotree’s operations and 
development are issued by the President and ceO, unless other-
wise stated. concerning financial information, the chief Financial 
Officer handles investor relations.

Financial Reporting and Annual  
General Meeting 2011

•	 Financial	Statement	1	January–31	December	2010	  
2 February 2011, week 5

•	 annual General Meeting  2011   
23 March 2011, week 12

•	 Interim	Report	1	January–31	March	2011	  
29 april 2011, week 17

•	 Interim	Report	1	January–30	June	2011	  
10 august 2011, week 32

•	 Interim	Report	1	January–30	September	2011		 
26 october 2011, week 43

Tecnotree Interim Reports and the Annual Report, published in 
english and Finnish, are available on the company website  
www.tecnotree.com.
 

Briefings and closed period
Tecnotree holds briefings for analysts, investors and the media 
in conjunction with financial reporting. The company observes a 
three-week closed period before the publication date of financial 
statements or interim reports.

Shareholder change of address 
Shareholders are kindly requested to report any change of address 
to the bank or brokerage company in which they have their book-
entry account. euroclear Finland Ltd may only update customer 
information with a book-entry account in its systems. Tecnotree 
does not maintain an address register.

Analysts 
The analysts monitoring Tecnotree are listed on the company  
website www.tecnotree.com.

Insider register
Information about the company’s public insider register can be 
found at www.tecnotree.com or requested by contacting euroclear 
Finland Ltd, Urho Kekkosen katu 5 c, FI-00100 Helsinki, Finland.

Corporate Governance
Information about corporate Governance at Tecnotree is available 
on the company website www.tecnotree.com.

Investor relations contacts
Tuomas Wegelius, cFO
Tel. (09) 8047 8650
Fax (09) 8047 8212
tuomas.wegelius@tecnotree.com

Tuija Kerminen, executive coordinator
Tel. (09) 8047 8767
Fax (09) 8047 8212
tuija.kerminen@tecnotree.com

Ordering publications
Orders by email info@tecnotree.com 
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TECNOTREE  
CORPORATION

P.O. Box 93
(Finnoonniitynkuja 7)
02271 Espoo
Finland 

Tel +358 9 804 781
Fax +358 9 8047 8301
 
www.tecnotree.com

Worldwide offices

Headquarters

Tecnotree Corporation
PL 93 
Finnoonniitynkuja 7
02271 espoo 
Finland
Tel. +358 9  804 781
Fax +358 9 8047 8301

Europe

Tecnotree Benelux
Zandrak 101
nL-2924 Bc Krimpen aan den IJssel
The netherlands
Tel. +31 180 580 465
Fax +31 180 580 466

Tecnotree Saksa
Hauptstrasse 38
De-63303 Dreieich
Germany
Tel. +49 6103 8038 950
Fax +49 6103 8038 817

Tecnotree Ireland
Shannon Industrial estate
county clare
Ireland
Tel. +353 61702 200
Fax +353 61702 201

Latin America

Tecnotree Argentina
Bouchard 599 – 20th floor
c1001AFB - Buenos Aires
Argentina
Tel. +54 11 4850 1299
Fax  +54 11 4850 1201

Tecnotree Brasil
Av. eng. Luís carlos Berrini, 
1500  16th floor
ceP 04571 - 000
São Paulo – SP
Brazil
Tel. +55 11 5105 2900
Fax +55 11 5505 9778  

Tecnotree Ecuador
Av. Luis Orrantia y Av. Juan Tanca
Marengo
(edificio executive center,
Segundo piso oficina 207)
Guayaquil
ecuador
Tel. and fax +593 4 229 2396

Tecnotree Mexico
Torrel del Angel
Paseo de la Reforma 350
10th & 11th Floor
col.Juarez c.P.
06600 Mexico city
Mexico
Tel. +52 1 55 91 97 2130

Middle East, Africa

Tecnotree Middle East & Africa
P.O.Box 500815
eIB-05, Alpha building (Dimension Data/
eMc2 signs on the building)
Office 604/605
Dubai Internet city (DIc)
Dubai
United Arab emirates
Tel. +971 4 433 1580
Fax +971 4 435 5619

Tecnotree South Africa
P.O. Box 11400 Wierda Park South 0057
centurion
South Africa
Tel. 27 12 656 9066
Fax 27 82 131 779 0216

APAC

Tecnotree Malaysia
3rd Floor, 2300 century Square
Jalan Usahawan, 63000 cyberjaya
Selangor Darul ehsan
Malaysia
Tel. +60 3 8313 6200
Fax +60 3 8313 6201

Tecnotree India (Bangalore)
# 65/2, 'B' Block, 6th Floor, 
Level-07
Bagmane Tridib
Bagmane Tech Park
c.V.Raman nagar, Byrasandra 
Bangalore – 560093
India
Tel. +91 80 401 40600
Fax +91 80 401 40700

Tecnotree India (Gurgaon)
16th Floor, Building no.5 A
cyber Terraces
DLF cyber city Park, Phase III
Gurgaon 122002, Haryana 
India
Tel. +91 124 456 3200
Fax +91 124 456 3232

Tecnotree Taiwan
11/F, no 6 Ho Ping east Road,
Section 1, Taipei
Taiwan, R.O.c.
Tel. +886 2 2369 4901 
Fax +886 2 2369 4903



Follow our continuing work on www.tecnotree.com

In 2011, we will...

promote convergent services with service 

bundles for every taste,

boost value across the customer lifecycle 

through adaptive customer care, cross-sales, 

and retention based on customer insight, and

enable and monetize a marketplace with a 

wide range of digital services adapting to 

individual preferences.
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